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Directors’ Report

We hereby present the annual report of MeDirect Bank SA/NV (the “Bank” or “MeDirect”)1, that forms part of the MDB 
Group (the “Group” or “MeDirect Group”), for the year ended 31 December 2023.2

Chair and CEO introduction 
The year 2023 was a year of consolidation with MeDirect restoring structural profitability. The Bank consolidated the 
gains delivered through the successful execution of its business transformation, which enabled it to return to profitabil-
ity following the extreme disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

MeDirect recorded a profit after tax of €7.8 million in 2023, by focusing on delivering sustainable growth and taking 
advantage of a synergistic model which combines diversified retail lending, a highly attractive digital wealth platform, 
MeDirect Group’s cutting-edge proprietary technology and prudent risk management.

MeDirect further strengthened its position as a digital bank with a highly scalable platform and infrastructure designed 
to enable it to deliver profitability. 

Delivering structural profitability organically
Notwithstanding the large COVID-19-related credit impairments incurred in 2020, MeDirect was able to grow its operat-
ing income at a 45% constant annual growth rate from 2020 to 2023, while successfully reshaping its operating model, 
investing selectively in technology to create scalability and returning to structural profitability.

Thanks to the careful implementation of its strategic roadmap, MeDirect earned a profit before tax of €9.8 million  
compared to a loss of €5.4 million in 2022.

MeDirect pursued the growth of its balance sheet at a controlled pace during 2023 (an increase of 12% to €4.0  
billion), while continuing to de-risk its profile, with the International Corporate Lending (“ICL”) portfolio reduced to

1. Including all entities where MeDirect retained all the underlying risks and rewards consisting of Bastion 2020-1 NHG B.V., Bastion 2021-1 NHG B.V., and  Bastion 
2022-1 NHG B.V., controlled special purpose entities established in the Netherlands that were set up as part of MeDirect’s funding strategy.
2. This report is prepared in terms of the Belgian Code of Companies and Associations Art. 3:6, §1, 7° of 23 March 2019.

Marcia De Wachter
Chair

Alain Moreau
CEO
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€166.1 million at 31 December 2023. The ICL portfolio now represents less than 4% of the Bank’s total assets and 7% 
of its lending book.

During the same period, MeDirect’s mortgage portfolio (excluding the IFRS basis adjustment) increased by a healthy 
23% from €2.0 billion to almost €2.4 billion, leveraging on diversified origination engines: Dutch government guaran-
teed (NHG) residential mortgages, Dutch professional buy-to-let mortgages and Belgian mortgages.

For all categories of lending, MeDirect applies a robust risk selection process which has resulted in high-quality portfo-
lios with low arrears and defaults.

The MeDirect Group is regulated by the European Central Bank as part of the Single Supervisory Mechanism. Being 
part of the Single Supervisory Mechanism ensures that MeDirect is regulated at the standard of the largest banks in 
Europe. MeDirect continues to operate with adequate capital and liquidity ratios, even while growing its balance sheet 
to build sustainable net interest income and investing in its wealth platform to generate further fee income. At year-end, 
MeDirect’s Total Capital Ratio stood at 22.1%, and its Liquidity Coverage Ratio stood at 177%. Such ratios exceed all 
regulatory requirements, recommendations and management buffers.

Growing the customer franchise steadily with an attractive value proposition
MeDirect reached the 100,000 clients mark in December 2023 as MeDirect increased its retail customer base by 25% 
in 2023, acquiring 21,000 new customers. 

Retail clients continued to use MeDirect as a one-stop shop digital platform for everyday banking, savings and wealth 
solutions, ranging from brokerage to model portfolios and discretionary management. Wealth product penetration of 
the total retail customer base was 31%, increasing to close to 42% for customers who have been with MeDirect for three 
years or more. This platform – and in particular the MeDirect Wealth SuperApp – is designed to meet the needs of the 
underserved affluent market segment for wealth services. 

Customers who join MeDirect are highly loyal – 84% of customers who opened an account five years ago remain cus-
tomers of the Bank. The high quality of MeDirect service is reflected by strong levels of customer satisfaction – a call 
centre satisfaction of 88% by the end of 2023. 

Client financial assets (retail + corporate) increased by approximately 18% in 2023, reaching €3.4 billion at year end, of 
which €0.9 billion were assets under custody with MeDirect, an increase of 13% from year-end 2022.

Launching new services and transforming into a fully-fledged digital bank
MeDirect continued to broaden its retail product suite, further establishing itself as a modern digital bank offering  
clients an attractive alternative to incumbent banks, with superior user experience, high quality of service and compet-
itive pricing. 

MeManaged, MeDirect’s digital discretionary portfolio management service, was launched in February 2023. The 
launch of MeManaged marked an important step in democratising wealth management by providing discretionary 
management services previously limited to high-net-worth individuals, to a wider range of customers. 

In January 2024, MeDirect launched card services in Belgium. This new product enhanced MeDirect’s appeal in the 
retail sector, broadening significantly its pool of potential customers. MeDirect has integrated both physical and vir-
tual card services into its platform and regularly rolls out additional features to enhance the online card management  
experience.
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Leveraging on MeDirect Group’s state-of-the art proprietary technology platform to  
support scalability 
Over the last four years, MeDirect Group successfully built a 
cutting-edge proprietary technology platform which is today 
at the core its competitive advantage. This platform allows 
MeDirect to innovate continuously, scale at low marginal 
cost and deliver highly reliable services across products and 
geographies, while reducing third-party vendor dependency. 

MeDirect’s Technology team, with approximately 125 engi-
neers based mostly in Malta, developed a high quality soft-
ware code repository (with over 30 million lines of code, the 
intellectual property rights of which are owned by MeDirect 
Group) and maintains a complex ecosystem deployed flexi-
bly in multiple locations.

This platform has allowed MeDirect not only to operate with contained and stable technology costs since 2020 but 
also to fuel agile product innovation, process efficiency improvement and robust control and risk management systems. 

The Group’s cost-to-income ratio, which was negatively affected by the loss of revenues resulting from the ICL de-risk-
ing strategy, improved to 83% in 2023. This improvement in operational efficiency was achieved through top-line rev-
enue growth (45% operating income CAGR) but also with fixed OpEx held substantially flat during the period 2020-
2023. Appropriate technology investments, together with focus on cost control, have been major drivers behind such 
improvement.

ESG and Social responsibility
MeDirect has continued to integrate Environmental, 
Social and Governance (“ESG”) principles into its 
business and to raise ESG awareness throughout 
the organisation. During 2023, the MeDirect Group  
increased its offering of green funds and green 
bonds and initiated a project to reduce its carbon 
footprint by 5% between 2022 and 2026 and to be-
come carbon neutral by 2032. The MeDirect Group 
continued to improve its EcoVadis rating, retaining 
its silver medal status in 2023 and placing MeDirect 
in the top 7% of corporates evaluated by EcoVadis. 

In 2023, the MeDirect Group had employees
from over 30 nationalities, with 61% of the workforce being male and 39% female. MeDirect prides itself on developing 
its employees and promoting from within. MeDirect contributes to the local communities in which it operates by sup-
porting charitable organisations as well as talented individuals in areas such as sports and culture through sponsor-
ships, donations and the voluntary actions of its employees.
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Conclusion
In 2023, MeDirect consolidated the gains made over the previous three years as it continued to execute its business 
transformation and delivered stable profitability. Notwithstanding the scalability of the platform, careful consideration 
was given to balancing the speed of growth with selective investments, prudent risk management and organic capital 
creation goals, in an environment that remains extremely volatile. Both management and the Board remain committed 
to continue growing MeDirect profitably, with the ambition of disrupting the markets in which it operates, while deliv-
ering on its brand promise of “helping consumers grow their wealth with confidence and autonomy”. MeDirect is com-
mitted to exploring further ways to reinforce its capital base and facilitate shareholder transition, which would enable 
MeDirect to accelerate the growth of its platform. 

Confirmation of MeDirect’s going concern assessment
In accordance with art. 3:6 of the Belgian Code of Companies and Associations, MeDirect motivates the application 
of the going concern despite the losses carried forward. MeDirect remains well positioned to achieve further business 
growth whilst remaining adequately capitalised, with the Total Capital Ratio of 22.1% compared to the total SREP1 cap-
ital requirement of 11% and adequately funded with access to the required levels of liquidity with the liquidity coverage 
ratio at 177%, the NSFR Ratio at 126% and the leverage ratio equivalent to 4.8% as at 31 December 2023.

After due consideration of MeDirect’s business, profitability projections, funding and capital plans, robust risk and 
internal control processes and taking into account the broader macro-economic outlook, the Directors declare that 
MeDirect is in a position to continue operating as a going concern for the foreseeable future.2  The Board believes that 
MeDirect will have sufficient capital to meet not only its regulatory capital and liquidity requirements but also any inter-
nal risk buffers and any buffers recommended by its regulators.

Events subsequent to the reporting date
There were no events after the reporting date that would have a material effect on the financial statements of the Bank.

Pillar 3 disclosures
MeDirect is required to publish Pillar 3 quantitative and qualitative disclosure requirements.3 MeDirect publishes its 
Pillar 3 disclosures on an annual basis as a separate document that is available on MeDirect’s website. In addition, 
MDB Group Limited publishes the full Annual Report on Pillar 3 Information, available on the Group’s Investor Relations 
website.

Additional disclosures4  

Capital increases – report
There have not been share capital increases by the shareholders of MeDirect in the reporting period.

Own shares
MeDirect does not hold shares or certificates of shares of the bank itself.

Bank branches 
MeDirect Bank NV does not have a branch in other countries in the sense of Art. 86 of the Belgian Banking Law as it 
does not offer the activities listed under Art. 4 of the same law in any country other than Belgium. 

Certain operational activities are performed out of Malta and the United Kingdom. 

1.  Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process
2. Statement pursuant to Article 3:6, §1, 6° of the Belgian Code of Companies and Associations.
3. As governed by the disclosure requirements of Directive 2013/36/EU (CRD) and EU Regulation No 575/2013 (CRR) of the European Parliament and of the Coun-
cil of 26 June 2013.
4. In accordance with the Belgian Code of Companies and Associations Art. 3:6, §1, 7°
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As regards Malta, the bank has established a place of business (“Overseas Company”) in Malta bearing number 
OC945 with business address The Centre, Tigne Point, Sliema TPO 0001 Malta. The Overseas Company in Malta pre-
pares financial statements and files a tax return in Malta.

Research and development 
MeDirect is the pioneer in online wealth management in Belgium and continues to strive for innovation at the service of 
its clients. The client-centric approach of the bank results in an ongoing focus on potential improvements in the cus-
tomer experience, the online user experience and user interface, as well as products and services. 

In parallel with the numerous IT projects that cater for new regulatory requirements, the Bank will continue to focus on 
rolling out a number of new products and services to the benefits of its clients. 

These IT projects are mainly carried out by the Maltese parent company.

Conflict of interest with a director of the Bank
There were no conflicts of interest within the reporting year that fall under the definition of Article 7:96, 7:115 and 7:117 of 
the Belgian Code of Companies and Associations.

A property law related (“vermogensrechtelijke”) interest of a director of the Bank
No such direct or indirect interest of a director has been communicated to the other directors of MeDirect.

Decisions regarding affiliated companies 	
MeDirect is not a listed company. Therefore, Article 7:97 of the Belgian Code of Companies and Associations is not 
applicable to decisions regarding affiliated companies. 

Board of Directors
The directors of the Company who held office during 2023 were: 

Mrs Marcia de Wachter
Mr Alain Moreau
Mr Tim Rooney

Mr Bart Bronselaer

Mr Michael Bussey
Mr Frederic Hannequart

Mr Jean-Claude Maher
Mr John Zarb

Mr Marcel Berkhout
Mr Francois Ducuroir

- Chair - Appointed on 23 September 2020 with term expiring on 28 May 2026
- Chief Executive Officer – Appointed on 17 July 2023 with term expiring on 31 May 2029
- Chief Executive Officer until 17 July 2023 - Appointed on 20 July 2020 and resigned on  
31 December 2023
- Independent Non-Executive Director - Appointed on 12 January 2021 with term expiring on  
27 May 2027
- Independent Non-Executive Director - Appointed on 25 May 2023 with term expiring on 31 May 2029
- Independent Non-Executive Director – Appointed on 14 April 2023 with term expiring on  
31 May 2029
- Chief Operations Officer – Appointed on 17 August 2023 with term expiring on 31 May 2029
- Independent Non-Executive Director - Appointed on 9 January 2019 with term expiring on  
29 May 2025
- Chief Financial Officer - Appointed on 27 May 2021 and resigned on 22 August 2023
- Chief Risk Officer - Appointed on 13 August 2021 and deceased on 4 June 2023

Miss Marija Fenech was appointed as an Executive Director and a Chief Risk Officer on 1 January 2024 with term expiring on 30 
May 2029. Jean-Marcel Phe Funchal has been nominated as an Executive Director and a Chief Financial Officer becoming effec-
tive upon regulatory approval.
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MeDirect makes public the external functions exercised by its directors (excluding the functions exercised in group 
companies, in personal patrimony/management companies, and in non-profit associations)1 as at 31 December 2023 
in the following table:

1.  In accordance with article 6 of the NBB regulation of 6 December 2011 concerning the exercise of external functions by the directors and effective leaders of regulated 
companies.
2. One Directorship approved by the Financial Services and Markets Authority (FSMA) and another Directorship approved by the National Bank of Belgium (NBB) and 
Autorité de Contrôle Prudentiel et de Résolution (ACPR).
3. Directorship approved by the UK Prudential Regulation Authority.
4. Directorship approved by the National Bank of Belgium.

Directors of MeDirect Company Function Sector
Country of 
incorporation

Listed on  
regulated market

Shares held by 
MeDirect Bank

BRONSELAER, Bart –  
Independent Non-Executive 

Director2

UNITED PENSIONS 
OFP

Non-Executive 
Director

Pension 
Fund

Belgium No No

DEXIA SA Non-Executive 
Director

Credit  
Institution

France No No

DEXIA HOLDING SA Non-Executive 
Director

Holding 
Company

Belgium No No

BUSSEY, Mike –  
Independent Non-Executive 
Director

DB UK BANK  

LIMITED3 

Non-Executive Chair Credit  
Institution

United  
Kingdom

No No

DB INVESTMENTS 
(GB) LIMITED

Non-Executive Chair Financial 
Holding

United  
Kingdom

No No

DE WACHTER, Marcia – 
Independent Non-Executive 
Chair of the Board

NEXTENSA NV Non-Executive 
Director

Real  
Estate

Belgium Yes No

HANNEQUART, Frederic – 
Independent Non-Executive 
Director

AXA Belgium SA4 Non-Executive 
Director

Insurance Belgium No No 

MAHER, Jean-Claude –  
Executive Director (COO)

- - - - - -

MOREAU, Alain – Execu-
tive Director (CEO)

- - - - - -

ZARB, John – Independent 
Non-Executive Director

PG PLC Non-Executive Chair Retail Malta Yes No

TUMAS  
INVESTMENTS PLC

Non-Executive 
Director

Financial 
SPV

Malta Yes No

TUMAS GROUP 
COMPANY LIMITED 
(MALTA)

Non-Executive 
Director

Holding  
Company

Malta No No

FOSTER CLARK 
PRODUCTS LIMITED

Non-Executive 
Director

Food and 
Beverage

Malta No No

Marija Fenech (CRO) joined the Board of Directors on 1 January 2024, but she does not hold any external functions.
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Consolidated accounts – internal controls and risk management applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial accounts
MeDirect has prepared financial statements on a consolidated basis for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. These financial statements pro-
vide an overview of the internal controls and risk management applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
accounts and are available as a separate document on MeDirect’s website.

Expertise of the Audit Committee 
As at 31 December 2023 and the date of issue of this Annual Report, the members of the Audit Committee are three 
non-executive directors of the bank, all being independent directors (including the Chair).  All of the members have a 
broad experience in the banking industry, whether with MeDirect Bank or with other financial institutions.

Frederic  Hannequart is the Chair of the Audit Committee. He has more than 15 years’ executive and board responsibil-
ities experience with wide breadth of expertise with commercial, product, operations, financial and risk responsibilities. 

Enhancing risk governance 
MeDirect understands the importance of adopting sound risk management principles. MeDirect’s core objective in the 
management of risk is to protect its customers and counterparties and to ensure its ability to grow sustainably. 

Managing risk effectively, efficiently and sustainably is an integral part of the Bank’s business strategy.1 MeDirect’s risk 
management approach focuses on ensuring continued financial soundness and safeguarding the interests of its stake-
holders while retaining the ability to pursue value-creating business opportunities in a fast-changing environment. This 
is achieved through high standards of corporate governance and sound risk management principles.

MeDirect has a well-established risk governance structure, with an active and engaged Board of Directors supported 
by an experienced senior management team and a centralised risk management function that is independent of the 
business lines. Decision making is primarily conducted through the Board of Directors with oversight from a Board level 
Risk Committee and delegated authority within executive level committees. The responsibilities of the Bank’s Risk Man-
agement Team are to protect and enable the Bank to deliver sustainable income through facilitating and monitoring 
the implementation of effective risk management practices and assisting risk owners in defining and controlling risk 
exposures.

The Bank has established a comprehensive and robust risk management framework which sets forth the steps neces-
sary to assess, manage, monitor and report current and emerging risks, whilst continually seeking to improve and evolve 
its risk management practices to ensure that it can proactively manage its risk environment. 

MeDirect has designed its risk management framework to support and enable its transformation strategy.  This risk 
management framework ensures that new and proposed business lines, areas of growth, changes in technology and 
management decisions are well governed and sustainable. 

Risks are monitored through regular and timely risk reporting, enabling a proactive identification and management of 
risks with the aim of reducing or avoiding undue exposure to various specific risk types. Risk appetite limits established 
by the Board set forth the amount and types of risk that MeDirect is prepared to accept or tolerate when delivering 
its strategy.  These risk appetite limits are embedded in policies, management authorities and limits across the Bank.  
Frequent and close monitoring of all risk appetite limits, combined with comprehensive reporting to management 
and the Board of Directors ensures that risk is maintained within acceptable levels in accordance with the Bank’s risk  
appetite. 

1. A detailed review of MeDirect’s use of financial instruments, and its exposure to liquidity risk, credit and market risk, non-financial risk and the related risk management 
framework and policies is included in Note 2 to the financial statements.
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In addition, all critical risk appetite limits are subjected to stress testing analysis at a risk type and portfolio level to 
ensure MeDirect remains financially healthy during and after severe risk events.  Stress testing is an important part of 
the Bank’s risk management framework and addresses a range of idiosyncratic and market-wide scenarios. The results 
from stress testing allow senior management to assess any potential vulnerability to exceptional but plausible adverse 
events.  Stress testing enables MeDirect to assess its capital adequacy and liquidity risks and to identify potentially 
risky segments in its business model as well as inherent systematic risks. This enables the Bank to develop appropriate 
risk controls, contingency plans and mitigating actions to address relevant risks before adverse events occur.

MeDirect’s Board of Directors regularly discusses and monitors any threats or emerging risks which could potentially 
have an adverse effect on the operations or financial condition of the Bank, including maintaining an adequate and 
diversified funding base; interest rate hedging aimed at protecting its balance sheet; continuing reduction of credit risk 
and diversification of the balance sheet into lower-risk mortgage assets; and robust operational risk controls, particu-
larly in view of the Bank’s increasing reliance on technology to improve the efficiency of its operations. In addition, the 
Bank ensures a robust outsourcing framework is in place considering its reliance on third party providers and services 
offered by its parent.

Additional disclosures Belgian Bank Law Art. 75 §1 
The asset yield of the Bank, which is calculated by dividing the net result by balance sheet total, amounts to 0.20%.
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MeDirect at a glance in 2023

1. Client financial assets = deposits + assets under custody (assets held under nominee basis)

Positive business developments

New business initiatives that will contribute to further growth
	» Launch of Online Discretionary Portfolio Management in partnership with Blackrock
	» Launch of physical and virtual cards in January 2024

Capital and liquidity ratios well above minimum legal requirements

22.1%
Total Capital Ratio

>177%
Liquidity Coverage Ratio

126%
Net Stable Funding Ratio

Increase in operating revenues supported by business growth and impact of higher interest rates

€9.8m
Profit before tax compared to 

loss of €5.4m in prior year

+56%
Increase in net  
interest income

0.1%
Non-performing 

loans ratio

Dynamic Franchise Growth

101k
Retail clients -  

25% increase from 2022

171%
Increase in new retail  

clients compared to 2022

€3.4bn
Retail and corporate client 

financial assets1

+€106m
13% increase in assets 

held under custody

Mortgage lending portfolios expanding with an overall 30% increase in their carrying amount

€2.1bn
Dutch mortgage book - 
a 16% increase in 2023

€255m
Belgian mortgage book - 
almost doubled in 2023

+47%
Increase in interest income 

on mortgage lending

2nd
Best Investment 
Bank award by 
Spaargids.be

2nd
Best Savings Bank 
award by Guide-
Epargne.be

3rd
Best Bank in 
Belgium by Forbes 
global survey

MeDirect Belgium market recognition
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Who we are

Purpose, Mission and Core Values 

Our purpose is exciting: 

To empower people to manage their wealth with confidence and autonomy. 

To achieve this goal, we have built our Wealth SuperApp, a one-stop shop that offers in a single app a broad and 
growing portfolio of digital wealth and banking services. Our vision for our customers is embodied in our “My Money, 
My Choices” branding, which speaks to the freedom and flexibility provided by our platform to customers in managing 
their finances.  

We target the underserved affluent customer segment; people who want to retain control of their finances but who 
often want to be guided in their investment journeys. Our solution addresses the needs of a large potential universe, 
ranging from first time to active investors looking for a wide choice of investment products and a highly convenient 
platform that enables them to achieve their financial goals. 

Users of our platform may include: 
•	 customers unsatisfied with the offline journey provided by their current bank or investment advisor; 
•	 people who do not have the time nor the willingness to manage their money and want to delegate or be guided;
•	 tech-savvy investors who want to access a highly functional trading platform with real-time capabilities and 

rich information; and
•	 customers who do not qualify for private banking, which typically caters only to customers with significant  

investible wealth. 

MeDirect aims to address these problems with cutting-edge technology and customer-centric solutions with the am-
bition of disrupting the retail digital investment space. To achieve this, we offer, on a single multi-channel platform with 
open architecture, a broad range of online investment solutions combined with superior UX and attractive pricing. Our 
app addresses in one place a wide range of investor needs including trading, advisory and discretionary management 
services, coupled with daily banking facilitated by our physical and virtual card capabilities launched in January 2024. 

Technology is the backbone of our success. We developed internally most of the critical components of the value chain 
which form part of our ecosystem, allowing us to deploy seamless service aggregation capabilities. Our technology 
architecture is state-of-the-art, with scalability and modularity at its core, built by a talented team recruited from ad-
vanced technology sectors including iGaming and Telecom. 

Our strategic priorities reflect our core values:

Autonomy: We empower our customers to navigate the financial world and give them the choice of how to manage 
their money, their way. We encourage our employees to take ownership of their work and grow their skills. 
Innovation: We do not rest on our laurels. We are results driven and constantly review how we go about delivering on 
our vision and improving our value proposition. 
Transparency: The financial world isn’t simple, but the MeDirect app is. We communicate clearly with our clients and 
our colleagues and offer clear and understandable reporting of customer portfolios. 
Responsibility: We take seriously our responsibilities to all our stakeholders: customers, employees, regulators, share-
holders and our community.
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How our vision ties into our core strategy 
Our core strategy is based on four main pillars: 

1. Scaling up our innovative WealthTech platform
MeDirect focuses on the affluent customer segment (typically 
with €30,000-€300,000 in wealth) that values convenience, 
transparency and choice. MeDirect aims to provide a full range 
of investment services from brokerage to investment advice to

3. MeDirect Group’s Proprietary platform
MeDirect’s technology strategy is a testament to the power of modern software architecture in driving business 
growth and maintaining a competitive edge. MeDirect’s cloud-agnostic approach allows for the seamless integra-
tion of services from various third-party providers, enhancing its digital offerings. This strategic selection of partners  
contributes to a robust and flexible modular ecosystem, capable of supporting the platform’s scalability.

The transition from a monolithic setup to a containerized platform 
is a pivotal move in MeDirect’s tech strategy. This shift not only fa-
cilitates scaling up to accommodate higher volumes and broader  
geographies but also ensures cost-efficiency. The adoption of a 
modular microservices architecture underlines MeDirect’s commit-
ment to continuous innovation and its ability to adapt to evolving 
business and customer needs.

Furthermore, MeDirect platform’s design revolves around six 
core elements that prioritize user experience and interfaces,
client experience management, order orchestration, payment execution, and transaction management. These elements 
are underpinned by key design principles that ensure a seamless and efficient operation. MeDirect’s in-house software 
development team, recognized for its excellence, plays a crucial role in the ongoing development and refinement of this 
cutting-edge technology.

Overall, MeDirect’s tech architecture is a strategic asset that enables it to offer a comprehensive and  
multi-channel customer experience while optimizing operational efficiency and scalability. This positions MeDirect well 
to respond swiftly to market demands and to continue its trajectory of innovation and growth.

2. Growing a low risk and capital efficient mortgage lending platform 
We have built from scratch mortgage offerings in the Netherlands and Belgium and have developed a lend-
ing platform that is both scalable and competitive. In Belgium and the Netherlands, MeDirect operates a B2B2C  
approach, by working with top notch servicing and origination partners and focusing on niche market segments, while still

maintaining an appropriate risk-reward balance. Looking  
forward, we aim to use this business line to complement 
our disruptive wealth offering and to build a platform which  
maximises the full range of synergies between the two business 
lines, including cross-selling mortgages to wealth customers or 
vice-versa.

discretionary portfolio management, combined with high-quality daily banking functions, including physical and virtual 
cards. We bring to market innovative solutions combining MeDirect Group’s proprietary software with seamlessly ag-
gregated services from selected partners to create intuitive customer journeys.

Since 2018, the MeDirect Group 
invested over €33 million in its 
technology platform.

MeDirect Group’s proprietary  
platform’s design revolves 
around six core elements that 
prioritize user experience and 
interfaces, client experience 
management, order orches-
tration, payment execution, 
and transaction management.

The mortgage lending platform 
leverages on top notch partners 
and inhouse Technology and 
Product capabilities to build a 
best-in-class platform.
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4. Efficient operating model 
MeDirect operates a high-quality service centre in Malta consisting of technology, digital channels, operations and  
other support teams. These teams drive MeDirect’s vision to be simpler, better and faster for our customers and work-
force. The role of these teams include:

•	 the development of software and applications to improve customer experience; 
•	 the management of the IT infrastructure and support; 
•	 the management of customer operations and change across MeDirect; and 
•	 the provision of professional services in various areas such as finance, risk and treasury, amongst others. 

Dedicated marketing and product teams, as well as control functions, are located in each of our banks. This interna-
tional set-up enables MeDirect to scale up efficiently while remaining flexible and close to local market customer and 
regulatory requirements.
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MeDirect Belgium History

2009-2018 Acquired by AnaCap Financial Partners II L.P.
Launch of online deposits and wealth in Belgium
Belgian branch obtains banking licence, becomes subsidiary of Maltese bank in 2015
MDB Group regulated under the Single Supervisory Mechanism in 2016

2019 Launch of Dutch NHG mortgage business line

2020 NHG mortgage book exceeds €1.0 billion
Launch of business transformation programme
Launch of retail mobile app
Ranked top 5 for mobile app, investment products and savings by spaargids.be
Successful completion of first Residential Mortgage-Backed Security (“RMBS”) transaction Navigated through 
Covid crisis

2021 Milestone of 75,000 affluent retail clients with €3 billion financial assets reached
NHG mortgage book exceeds €1.6 billion
Launch of revamped online brokerage platform
Again ranked top 5 for mobile app, investment products and savings by spaargids.be
New mortgage platform launch in Belgium
Second RMBS transaction completed

2022 New MeDirect branding and logo and UX enhancements
Launch of professional buy-to-let mortgage product in the Netherlands
Third RMBS transaction completed
New eco-friendly home loans introduced
MDB Group in top 15% in Ecovadis Silver sustainability rating

Launch of Discretionary Portfolio Management offer with top asset manager in Belgium
Milestone of 100,000 retail clients in Belgium reached
MeDirect Belgium awarded “2nd Best Investment Bank” and “2nd Best Savings Bank” by Spaargids.be and  
Guide-epargne.be respectively
MeDirect Belgium rated 3rd best bank in Belgium by Forbes global survey
MDB Group retained Ecovadis Silver sustainability rating (top 7% of all rated corporates)

2023
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MeDirect Board

Michael Bussey
Independent Non-Executive Director
	» Joined the Board of Directors of MeDirect Bank on 10 July 2017 
	» 45 years of experience in banking, specialising in Private banking and Wealth management 

Former key positions held:
	» Joined HSBC in 1980 and held various senior positions in his more than 20 years with the company, including 

CEO of HSBC Private Banking EMEA 
	» CEO - Schroder & Co Ltd 
	» CEO - Private Banking and Trust at NM Rothschild & Sons Ltd 
	» CEO - Arbuthnot Latham & Co. 
	» Non-Executive Chair - Credit Suisse (U.K.) Limited

External appointments
	» Non-Executive Chair at DB UK Bank Limited, DB Investments (GB) Limited and MeDirect Bank (Malta) plc. 

John Zarb
Independent Non-Executive Director
	» Joined the Board of Directors of MeDirect Bank on 9 January 2019 

Former key positions held: 
	» 40 years of experience with PwC in Malta, retiring from his role as Partner in 2014 
	» Formerly President of Malta Institute of Accountants and served as Malta’s representative on the EU  

Accounting Regulatory Committee and on the Accountancy Board for several years. 
External appointments: 
	» Chair - PG plc 
	» Director - Foster Clark Products Ltd
	» Board member and Chair of the Audit committee of Tumas Investments plc and board member and chair of the 

Remuneration Committee of its parent company, Tumas Group Company Limited.

Marcia De Wachter
Independent Non-Executive Chair of the Board
	» Joined the Board of Directors of MeDirect Bank on 23 September 2020

Former key positions held: 
	» Vice-Governor - National Bank of Belgium 
	» Economic Advisor - Prime Minister’s Office 
	» Lecturer in different universities 

External appointments: 
	» Director - Nextensa NV

Bart Bronselaer 
Independent Non-Executive Director
	» Joined the Board of Directors of MeDirect Bank on 12 January 2021 and is the Chair of the Risk Committee

Former key positions held:
	» Head of Debt Markets - Merrill Lynch International (London)
	» Independent expert in financial services
	» Chair of the Board of Directors - Royal Park Investments 
	» Chief Executive Officer and Chair of the management committee ad interim of Dexia Holding SA and Director 

and Chief Executive Officer ad interim of Dexia SA
External appointments: 
	» Director - United Pensions OFP 
	» Director - Dexia SA
	» Director - Dexia Holding SA
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Frederic Hannequart 
Independent Non-Executive Director
	» Joined the Board of Directors of MeDirect Bank on 14 April 2023 and is the Chair of the Audit Committee 

Former key positions held: 
	» Chief Business Officer - Euroclear Group
	» Chief Financial Officer/Chief Risk officer - Euroclear Group

External appointments:
	» Non-Executive Director - AXA Belgium SA

Alain Moreau 
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
	» Joined the Board of Directors of MeDirect Bank on 17 July 2023

Former key positions held: 
	» CEO - Deutsche Bank Belgium 
	» Global Head of Investment Products & Insurances - Deutsche Bank Group Frankfurt 
	» Chief Operating Officer - Deutsche Bank Belgium 
	» Chief Investment Officer - Deutsche Bank Belgium

Marija Fenech 
Executive Director and Chief Risk Officer
	» Joined the Board of Directors of MeDirect Bank on 1 January 2024 

Former key positions held: 
	» Chief Risk Officer – MeDirect Bank (Malta) plc

Jean-Claude Maher
Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer
	» Joined the Board of Directors of MeDirect Bank on 17 August 2023

Former key positions held: 
	» Various roles in Research, Corporate Banking, Transaction Banking, Private Banking and Country Management 

with Deutsche Bank AG. He also served as Country Chief Operating Officer and Branch Manager of Deutsche 
Bank in Belgium. 



18Annual Report and Financial Statements 2023

From left

Jean-Marcel Phe Funchal - Nominated as an Executive Director and a Chief Financial Officer (to become effective 
upon regulatory approval) 

Jean-Claude Maher - Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer

Marija Fenech - Executive Director and Chief Risk Officer

Alain Moreau - Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Marcia De Wachter - Chair and Independent Non-Executive Director

Michael Bussey - Independent Non-Executive Director

John Zarb - Independent Non-Executive Director

Bart Bronselaer - Independent Non-Executive Director

Frederic Hannequart - Independent Non-Executive Director

MeDirect Board
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From left

Ivo Raschl - Head of Dutch Mortgages

Jennifer Laforgia - Senior Manager of Human Resources

Steven De Backer - Head of Marketing

Thomas De Boe - Head of Belgian Mortgages

Kim Van de Velden - Head of Legal

Bruno Ceysens - Head of Compliance

Isabelle Menezes - Head of Internal Audit

Gilles Coens - Head of Products

MeDirect Leadership Team
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Financial Statements
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Statement of financial position

2023 2022

Notes €000 €000
ASSETS
Balances with central banks 4 176,654 107,483

Derivative financial instruments 5 207,438 355,337

Loans and advances to financial institutions 6 306,542 313,151

Loans and advances to customers 7 2,342,469 1,870,908

Investments

 - Securities portfolio 8 422,916 390,298

 - Securitisation portfolio 8 445,932 415,036

Property and equipment 9 1,447 1,811

Intangible assets 10 2,350 3,768

Deferred tax assets 11 7,602 7,602

Prepayments and accrued income 12 16,781 9,881

Other assets 13 33,506 55,548

Total assets 3,963,637 3,530,823

EQUITY
Called up issued share capital 14 225,000 225,000

Other reserves 14 716 224

Accumulated losses (33,945) (41,261)

Total equity 191,771 183,963

LIABILITIES
Derivative financial instruments 5 24,648 5,306

Amounts owed to financial institutions 15 278,184 265,410

Amounts owed to customers 16 2,509,167 2,080,529

Debt securities in issue 17 910,848 969,569

Current tax liabilities 981 34

Provisions for liabilities and other charges 18 80 152

Accruals and deferred income 19 34,188 13,136

Other liabilities 20 13,770 12,724

Total liabilities 3,771,866 3,346,860

Total equity and liabilities 3,963,637 3,530,823

Memorandum items
Commitments to extend credit and other commitments 29 153,312 236,296

The notes on pages 26 to 159 are an integral part of these financial statements. The financial statements on pages 20 to 159 were approved and authorised for issue 
by the Board of Directors on 7 May 2024. The financial statements were signed on behalf of the Board of Directors by Marcia de Wachter (Chair) and Alain Moreau 
(Chief Executive Officer).
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Statement of profit or loss

* All interest income is calculated using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.

The notes on pages 26 to 159 are an integral part of these financial statements.

2023 2022

Notes €000 €000

Interest income * 125,045 45,956

Interest expense (75,272) (14,057)

Net interest income 21 49,773 31,899

Fee and commission income 4,625 4,417

Fee and commission expense (1,515) (1,569)

Net fee and commission income 22 3,110 2,848

Net trading income/(losses) 23 41 (586)

Net gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss -  820

Other operating income

– Realised gains on disposal of loans and advances -  1,628

– Other (loss)/income (30) 48

Total operating income 52,894 36,657

Personnel expenses 24 (10,821) (10,879)

Depreciation and amortisation 9-10 (2,270) (2,181)

Other administrative expenses 25 (30,597) (28,338)

Total operating expenses (43,688) (41,398)

Net operating profit/(loss) before changes in expected credit losses 9,206 (4,741)

Change in expected credit losses and other credit impairment charges 26 616 (705)

Profit/(loss) before tax 9,822 (5,446)

Tax expense 27 (2,014) (169)

Profit/(loss) for the year - Attributable to equity holders of the parent 7,808 (5,615)
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Statement of comprehensive income

2023 2022

€000 €000

Profit/(loss) for the year 7,808 (5,615)

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Fair valuation of financial investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: 

- Net change in fair value, before tax -  (26,292)

- Reversal due to reclassification to amortised cost -  27,238

Income tax relating to these items -  (274)

- 672

Other comprehensive income, net of tax -  672

Total comprehensive income, net of tax 7,808 (4,943)

The notes on pages 26 to 159 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Share 
capital

Fair value 
reserve

Other  
reserves

 Accumulated 
losses Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Balance at 1 January 2022 225,000 (672) 224 (35,646) 188,906

Total comprehensive income

Loss for the year -  -  -  (5,615) (5,615)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Fair valuation of financial investments measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income:

- Net change in fair value arising during the year, net of tax -  (19,720) -  -  (19,720)

- Reclassification adjustments - net amounts reclassified to profit or 
loss, net of tax -  20,392 -  -  20,392

Total comprehensive income, net of tax -  672 -  (5,615) (4,943)

Balance at 31 December 2022 225,000 -  224 (41,261) 183,963

Balance at 1 January 2023 225,000 -  224 (41,261) 183,963

Total comprehensive income

Profit for the year -  -  -  7,808 7,808

Total comprehensive income, net of tax -  -  -  7,808 7,808

Transfer to legal reserve -  -  492 (492) -  

Balance at 31 December 2023 225,000 -  716 (33,945) 191,771

Statement of changes in equity

The notes on pages 26 to 159 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2023 2022

€000 €000

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest and commission receipts 116,586 52,901

Interest and commission payments (47,256) (11,395)

Payments to employees and suppliers (43,325) (39,867)

Operating cash flows before changes in operating assets/liabilities 26,005 1,639

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:

- Reserve deposit with central banks (1,959) (337)

- Loans and advances to financial institutions and customers (324,478) (593,851)

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

- Amounts owed to financial institutions and customers 428,512 (55,072)

- Other payables 1,215 (7,826)

Tax paid (1,067) (57)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 128,228 (655,504)

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment 9 (4) (14)

Acquisition and development of intangible assets 10 (115) (314)

Acquisition of investments measured at amortised cost 8 (167,850) (214,219)

Redemption of investments measured at amortised cost 8 101,369 25,000

Redemption of investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 8  820  220,653 

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (65,780) 31,106

Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of debt securities 17 -  366,437

Redemption of debt securities 17 (58,688) (55,161)

Principal element of lease payments 20 (1,174) (956)

Net advances from/(to) immediate parent company 24,574 (3,049)

Net advances to other group companies (148) (9,600)

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (35,436) 297,671

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 27,012 (326,727)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (135,803) 190,924

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 28 (108,791) (135,803)

The notes on pages 26 to 159 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of cash flows
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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1. Summary of material accounting policy information

1.1 Reporting entity
MeDirect Bank SA/NV (the “Bank” or the “Company” or “MeDirect Belgium”) is a public limited liability company domi-
ciled and incorporated in Belgium, with its registered address at Keizerinlaan 66 Boulevard de l’Impératrice, 1000 Brus-
sels, Belgium, is in possession of a credit institution licence and has been established for an unlimited term.

The financial statements of the Bank as at and for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 comprise the financial 
statements of MeDirect Bank SA/NV (“MeDirect Belgium”), Bastion 2020-1 NHG B.V. (“Bastion 2020-1”), Bastion 2021-1 
NHG B.V. (“Bastion 2021-1”) and Bastion 2022-1 NHG B.V. (“Bastion 2022-1”), three controlled special purpose entities 
utilised as part of the Bank’s funding strategy in respect of the Dutch Mortgage business.

The principal customer-related activities of MeDirect Belgium include an easy-to-use wealth platform with access to 
fund houses and mutual funds, a suite of wealth products available through digital channels and attractive and innova-
tive savings products in Belgium.

MeDirect Belgium invests in Dutch residential mortgages via an established third-party mortgage originator in the 
Netherlands and Belgian residential mortgage loan products in partnership with Allianz Benelux S.A/N.V.. This offering 
is underpinned by a robust credit risk framework and will continue to diversify the asset base of MeDirect Belgium into 
the residential mortgage sector. Also, MeDirect Belgium invests in Dutch buy-to-let mortgage business.

Following the Bank’s diversification strategy, it still holds a modest portfolio of senior secured loans and revolving credit 
facilities to finance the business of European corporates.

The Bank has retained substantially all risks and rewards pertaining to the activities of Bastion 2020-1, Bastion 2021-1 
and Bastion 2022-1 and hence to assets, liabilities and related income and expenditure attributable to these entities, 
and as such, all assets, liabilities and related income and expenditure have been reflected within the Bank’s financial 
statements.

MeDirect Belgium, in line with article 6 of the Securitisation Regulation (EU) No 2017/2402 of the European Parliament 
and of the Council of 12 December 2017, undertook to retain, on an ongoing basis, a material net economic interest in 
the Bastion securitisation transactions. This implies that the Bank retains substantially all risks and rewards pertaining 
to the activities of these securitisation structures and hence to the assets, liabilities and related income and expenditure 
attributable to the structures and as such, all assets, liabilities and related income and expenditure of the securitisation 
special purpose entities are reflected in the Bank’s financial statements.	

1.2 Basis of preparation
The Bank’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Internation-
al Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and with the legal and regulatory requirements 
applicable in Belgium.

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the historical cost convention, except for:
•	•	 financial investments measured at fair value through profit or loss;financial investments measured at fair value through profit or loss;
•	•	 derivative financial instruments which are measured at fair value; andderivative financial instruments which are measured at fair value; and
•	•	 recognised financial assets designated as hedged items in qualifying fair value hedge relationships which are recognised financial assets designated as hedged items in qualifying fair value hedge relationships which are 

measured at amortised cost adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.measured at amortised cost adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.
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The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. Unless 
otherwise stated, these policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the use of certain 
accounting estimates. It also requires the Directors to exercise their judgment in the process of applying the Bank’s 
accounting policies (see Note 3.1 – Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying the Bank’s accounting 
policies).	

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2023
During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the Bank adopted the following amendments to existing standards 
but the adoption of these revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU did not result in significant 
changes to the Bank’s accounting policies impacting the Bank’s financial performance and position.

•	•	 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts;IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts;
•	•	 Definition of Accounting Estimates – Amendments to IAS 8;Definition of Accounting Estimates – Amendments to IAS 8;
•	•	 Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2;Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2;
•	•	 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction – Amendments to IAS 12; andDeferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction – Amendments to IAS 12; and
•	•	 International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules – Amendments to IAS 12.International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules – Amendments to IAS 12.

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expect-
ed to significantly affect the current or future periods. The Bank has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or 
amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective.

The Bank adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 from 
1 January 2023. The amendments require the disclosure of ‘material’ rather than ‘significant’ accounting policies. Al-
though the amendments did not result in any changes to the accounting policies themselves, they impacted the ac-
counting policy information disclosed within this note to the financial statements. 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
The ‘Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16’ issued 
in August 2020 represents the second phase of the IASB’s project on the effects of interest rate benchmark reform, 
addressing issues affecting financial statements when changes are made to contractual cash flows and hedging rela-
tionships as a result of the reform. 

Under these amendments, changes made to a financial instrument measured at other than fair value through profit or 
loss that are economically equivalent and required by interest rate benchmark reform do not result in the derecogni-
tion or a change in the carrying amount of the financial instrument, but instead require the effective interest rate to be 
updated to reflect the change in the interest rate benchmark. In addition, hedge accounting is not discontinued solely 
because of the replacement of the interest rate benchmark if the hedge meets other hedge accounting criteria.          

Interbank offered rates (‘Ibors’) are used to set interest rates on hundreds of trillions of different types of financial trans-
actions and are used extensively for valuation purposes, risk measurement and performance benchmarking.      

The 2016 EU Benchmark Regulation, which aims to ensure the accuracy, robustness and integrity of interest rate 
benchmarks, has led various national working groups to actively discuss the mechanisms for an orderly transition of 
five Libor currencies (US dollar, Euro, Pound sterling, Japanese yen and the Swiss franc) and the Euro Overnight Index 
Average (‘Eonia’) to their chosen replacement near risk-free rate (‘RFR’).           

Since 31 December 2021 representative Libor rates are no longer available in the case of all sterling, euro, Swiss franc 
and Japanese yen rates, and the 1-week and 2-month US dollar rates.  Meanwhile, the benchmark in the case of the 
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remaining US dollar settings (one, three, six and 12 month), ceased on 30 June 2023.  In addition, the Eonia benchmark 
ceased on 3 January 2022.  

As a result, the Bank embarked on an IBOR transition programme, under the governance of the Chief Financial Officer, 
to facilitate an orderly transition from Iibors to RFRs. During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the Bank 
successfully transitioned its GBP Libor and Eonia exposures to SONIA and ESTR, respectively, and by June 2023 it 
completed its transition of all remaining exposures with USD Libor dependency.            

In this respect, as at 31 December 2021, leveraged loans to customers with a gross carrying amount of €161.9 million 
were transitioned from underlying GBP Libor reference rates to SONIA rates.  The amendments to all such contracts 
were deemed to be necessary as a direct consequence of the IBOR reform.  In addition, the new basis for each contract 
was also deemed to be economically equivalent to the previous basis, which was achieved through the inclusion of 
credit spread adjustments to each contract.     

Meanwhile, during 2021, model changes were also effected to the valuation of interest rate derivative instruments with 
a notional value of €1.7 billion by replacing the Eonia with the ESTR discount curve.  This change resulted in an adjust-
ment to the carrying amount of derivatives amounting to €0.3 million which has been recognised in profit or loss during 
that year.     

As a result, as at 31 December 2021, all financial instruments with a contractual maturity date after 31 December 2021 
and for which the benchmark had ceased, were transitioned to RFRs accordingly. 

The Euribor administrator has used its prerogatives to reinforce Euribor governance and the calculation methodology 
to comply with the requirements of the benchmark reform (“BMR”). This benchmark can therefore continue to be used 
with no time limit unless it ceases to be published and is replaced by an alternative or is no longer representative. To this 
effect, the Bank’s working group will continue to review and monitor the regulatory landscape, as like any benchmark, in 
time, Euribor could transition to an alternative rate.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards issued but not yet effective
The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance 
of the Bank’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Bank intends to adopt these standards and interpretations, 
if applicable, when they become effective. These standards and interpretations are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Bank in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

•	•	 Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback, effective 1 January 2024;Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback, effective 1 January 2024;
•	•	 Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current, effective 1 January 2024;Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current, effective 1 January 2024;
•	•	 Amendments to IAS 21: Lack of exchangeability, effective 1 January 2025; andAmendments to IAS 21: Lack of exchangeability, effective 1 January 2025; and
•	•	 Supplier Finance Arrangements – Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7, effective 1 January 2024.Supplier Finance Arrangements – Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7, effective 1 January 2024.

Appropriateness of going concern assumption in the preparation of the financial statements
The Bank remains well positioned to achieve business growth through diversification, and is adequately capitalised, 
soundly funded and has access to the required levels of liquidity.

The Bank’s business, profitability projections, funding and capital plans, together with a range of other factors such as 
the economic outlook along with ongoing developments in EU economies indicate that the Bank will have sufficient have sufficient 
capital to meet not only the regulatory capital requirements but also any internal risk buffers and any buffers recom-capital to meet not only the regulatory capital requirements but also any internal risk buffers and any buffers recom-
mended by the regulators throughout the forthcoming financial period. The projections confirmed that the Bank will mended by the regulators throughout the forthcoming financial period. The projections confirmed that the Bank will 
have an adequate level of funding and liquidity that will allow the relevant minimum regulatory requirements to be com-have an adequate level of funding and liquidity that will allow the relevant minimum regulatory requirements to be com-
fortably satisfied.fortably satisfied.



30Annual Report and Financial Statements 2023

The financial statements are therefore prepared on a going concern basis, as the Directors are satisfied that the Bank The financial statements are therefore prepared on a going concern basis, as the Directors are satisfied that the Bank 
has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future, and that accordingly no material uncertainty exists has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future, and that accordingly no material uncertainty exists 
that may cast significant doubt about the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and that may require disclosure that may cast significant doubt about the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and that may require disclosure 
in terms of IAS 1. In making this assessment, the Directors have considered a wide range of information relating to pres-in terms of IAS 1. In making this assessment, the Directors have considered a wide range of information relating to pres-
ent and future conditions, including future projections of profitability, cash flows and the capital resources of the Bank.ent and future conditions, including future projections of profitability, cash flows and the capital resources of the Bank.

1.3 Consolidation
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Bank has control. The Bank controls an entity where the Bank is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power to direct the activities of the entity. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exer-
cisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Bank controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Bank. They are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases.

1.4 Foreign currency transactions and balances	 		
a) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Bank’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The functional currency of all Bank enti-
ties is the euro. The financial statements are presented in euro, which is also the Bank’s presentation currency.
b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabil-
ities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

1.5 Financial assets

Initial recognition and derecognition
The Bank recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances to customers at the date of transfer of beneficial ownership or when 
cash is advanced to borrowers. Investments and transactions in all other financial instruments consisting of regular way 
purchases and sales are recognised on settlement date.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have 
been transferred and the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership or the Bank has not 
retained control of the asset.

When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total return swap on the transferred assets, the transaction is 
accounted for as a secured financing transaction, retaining the asset on the statement of financial position because the 
Bank retains all or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of such assets.

Similarly, when assets are sold to a structure through which the Bank is deemed to have retained all, or substantially all, 
risks and rewards, the transferred assets are not derecognised.

In transactions in which the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Bank continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
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continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.

In certain transactions the Bank retains the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for a fee. The transferred 
asset is derecognised if it meets the derecognition criteria. An asset or liability is recognised for the servicing contract 
if the servicing fee is more than adequate (asset) or is less than adequate (liability) for the performance of the servicing.

Modification of terms
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one 
due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be derec-
ognised.

If the cash flows of the renegotiated asset are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the 
original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised, and the new 
financial asset is recognised at fair value.

When a loan is restructured as part of forbearance strategy and the restructuring results in derecognition of the existing 
loan, the new loan is disclosed as forborne.

The accounting treatment in respect of the modification of terms of financial assets, including considerations made 
to determine whether the terms of the renegotiated asset are substantially different, is described in more detail in the 
‘Modified financial assets’ sub-section.

Classification and measurement
The classification and measurement criteria under IFRS 9 are driven by the entity’s business model for managing the 
financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial instruments.

In line with the provisions of IFRS 9, the Bank classifies and measures all financial assets under any one of the following 
three categories:

•	•	 Amortised cost;Amortised cost;
•	•	 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); orFair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or
•	•	 Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

The Bank determines the classification and measurement basis for financial assets based on an assessment of both 
the business model within which the financial assets are held and a review of the contractual terms of each financial 
asset to determine if cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI).
					   
In this regard, subsequent to initial recognition, financial instruments are measured at:
(i) amortised cost if the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows (‘Hold to Collect’) and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to 
cash flows that are SPPI;			 
(ii) FVOCI if the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both holding financial 
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and selling financial assets (‘Hold to Collect and Sell’) and the contrac-
tual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are SPPI; or
(iii) FVTPL if the financial asset does not pass the business model assessment referred to above and SPPI criteria.

In performing the SPPI assessment, the Bank considers the following contractual terms to determine whether these 
introduce variability in contractual cash flows that is inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, amongst others:
(i) variable interest rates, which typically consider the time value of money, credit risk and other basic lending risks and 
costs;	
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(ii) leverage, which is a contractual cash flow characteristic that results in increased variability in contractual cash flows; 
(iii) modifications of the time value of money; and
(iv) contractual features that could alter the timing or amount of contractual cash flows of a financial asset, such as 
contingent events, prepayment and extension options.							     

The Bank has identified the following separate portfolios which require separate business model assessments due to 
the fact that these are managed separately and by different business units / management teams, namely (i) the Inter-
national Corporate Lending portfolio; (ii) the Dutch Mortgage portfolio (including the buy-to-let mortgages portfolio); (iii) 
the Belgian Mortgage portfolio; (iv) the Securities Investment portfolio; and (v) the Securitisation Investment portfolio.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Financial assets that are held to collect the contractual cash flows and which contain contractual terms that give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. These 
financial assets are initially measured at fair value, which is generally the cash consideration to originate or purchase the 
asset including any direct and incremental transaction costs, upon recognition. The Bank’s financial assets measured 
at amortised cost comprise primarily loans and advances to banks, loans and advances to customers, comprising the 
International Corporate Lending portfolio, the Dutch Mortgage portfolio, the Belgian Mortgage portfolio and a portfolio 
of debt securities classified under the Securities and Securitisation Investment portfolio.

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held for a business model that is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling and 
which contain contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). On 1 July 2022, as a result of 
the change in the business model  those investments classified within this category were reclassified into the amortised 
cost measurement category. 

Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss
Financial instruments, other than those held for trading, are classified in this category. As at 31 December 2023, the 
Bank also held equity instruments acquired as part of debt restructuring arrangements entered into with borrowers 
experiencing financial difficulties classified within the International Corporate Lending portfolio.

Impairment of amortised cost and FVOCI financial assets
IFRS 9 requires the measurement of credit loss allowances on financial instruments using the expected credit loss 
(“ECL”) impairment model using a forward-looking approach that emphasises shifts in the credit risk attached to a 
financial instrument, and consequently the probability of future credit losses, even if no loss events have yet occurred.

Since movements in the fair value of financial instruments measured at FVTPL are recognised directly in profit or loss, 
no credit loss allowances are deemed necessary for these financial instruments.	

In contrast, financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI are subject to impairment requirements using the 
general impairment model stipulated by IFRS 9. This is due to the fact that, since an integral aspect of both business 
models is to collect contractual cash flows, the effects of changes in credit risk are more relevant to a user’s under-
standing than the effects of other changes, such as changes in market interest rates.

IFRS 9 impairment requirements are also applicable to loan commitments that are not measured at FVTPL (if the terms 
and conditions of the arrangement give rise to an enforceable contract to extend credit), and recognised lease receiv-
ables to which IFRS 16 Leases applies. None of these are within the scope of IFRS 9 but are still subject to impairment 
requirements in accordance with IFRS 9.
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Expected credit losses may be recognised for loans and advances to banks and customers, other financial assets 
measured at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at amortised cost and at FVOCI, and certain loan commit-
ments. The Bank may commit to underwrite loans on fixed contractual terms for specified periods of time. When the 
Bank intends to hold the loan, the loan commitment is included in the impairment calculations set out below.

Three stage expected credit loss approach
IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition. The 
key driver of the measurement of ECLs therefore relates to the level of credit risk for each exposure and, as a result, an 
assessment of the change in credit risk over the expected life of an asset is a core element in determining the staging 
criteria under IFRS 9. The three stages under IFRS 9 are as follows:

•	•	 Stage 1 - Financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recog-Stage 1 - Financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recog-
nition, or that have “low credit risk” at the reporting date are classified in Stage 1. 12-month ECLs are recorded nition, or that have “low credit risk” at the reporting date are classified in Stage 1. 12-month ECLs are recorded 
to measure the expected losses that result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the to measure the expected losses that result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the 
reporting date;reporting date;

•	•	 Stage 2 - Financial instruments that have experienced a SICR since initial recognition are classified in Stage 2. Stage 2 - Financial instruments that have experienced a SICR since initial recognition are classified in Stage 2. 
Lifetime ECLs are recorded to measure the expected losses that result from all possible default events over the Lifetime ECLs are recorded to measure the expected losses that result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of the financial instrument; andexpected life of the financial instrument; and

•	•	 Stage 3 - Financial instruments that demonstrate objective evidence of impairment, and which are considered Stage 3 - Financial instruments that demonstrate objective evidence of impairment, and which are considered 
to be in default or credit-impaired, are classified in Stage 3, also requiring the measurement of lifetime ECLs.to be in default or credit-impaired, are classified in Stage 3, also requiring the measurement of lifetime ECLs.

Non credit-impaired and without significant increase in credit risk (Stage 1)
ECL resulting from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (12-month ECL) are recognised for finan-
cial instruments that remain in Stage 1.

Financial instruments are all classified within Stage 1 upon initial recognition, unless a financial instrument is purchased 
or originated credit-impaired (POCI) in which case the exposure is classified as POCI upon initial recognition and will 
remain classified as such until derecognition. Therefore, the Bank calculates a credit loss allowance based on 12-month 
ECL. Subsequent changes in credit risk will be reflected in the staging of the exposure, with a transfer of the exposure 
to Stage 2 or 3 conditional upon the identification of a SICR or impairment respectively.	

The provisions of IFRS 9 include a practical expedient to measure credit loss allowances using 12-month ECL for fi-
nancial instruments having low credit risk as at the reporting date. In practical terms, this means that, in those cases 
where a financial instrument is deemed to have low credit risk, management is not required to perform an assessment 
to determine whether a SICR has occurred. The Bank considers “low credit risk” to exist in case of selected financial 
instruments, for example listed bonds with an investment-grade credit rating by at least one major rating agency.

For all Stage 1 and 2 financial assets, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount, prior to deduction of credit loss allowances.	

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR) or Stage 2
The concept of default risk is central to IFRS 9. Therefore, a key risk parameter used by the Bank in its credit risk man-
agement activities is the probability that the obligor defaults, either within the next 12-month period (in case of Stage 1 
exposures) or over the lifetime of the exposure (in case of Stage 2 exposures).

An assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition is performed at least at each 
reporting date by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instru-
ment. The assessment explicitly or implicitly compares the risk of default occurring at the reporting date compared with 
that at initial recognition, taking into account reasonable and supportable information, including information about past 
events, current conditions and future economic conditions.
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To assess a SICR event, the Bank considers both actual and forward-looking information relating to external market 
indicators, internal factors and borrower-specific information. The assessment is unbiased and to the extent relevant, 
uses forward-looking information consistent with that used in the measurement of ECL. The analysis of credit risk is 
based on multiple factors, and their relevance is driven by product type, characteristics of the financial instrument and 
the obligor. Therefore, it is not possible to provide a single set of criteria that will determine what is considered to be a 
significant increase in credit risk, and these criteria will differ for different types of lending. The internal credit risk man-
agement framework comprises the use of both qualitative and quantitative SICR triggers.

The Bank’s credit risk rating processes are designed to highlight exposures which require closer management attention 
because of their greater probability of default and potential loss.

In this respect, the Bank adopts a five-point credit quality classification system in order to rate the credit quality of its 
key financial assets. Further detail on internal credit risk management is outlined in Section 2 (Financial Risk Manage-
ment, Credit Risk). Typically, an internal risk grade is assigned to each obligor by the business which is then reviewed by 
both the Credit Risk Team, and the Management Credit Committee responsible for the oversight of the Bank’s respec-
tive portfolios. The following are the internal risk grades:	

•	•	 Regular - No material credit concerns.Regular - No material credit concerns.
•	•	 Focus - No immediate prospect that a credit loss will ultimately be suffered, but worthy of closer credit oversight.Focus - No immediate prospect that a credit loss will ultimately be suffered, but worthy of closer credit oversight.
•	•	 Under Surveillance - Significant increase in credit risk with identified concerns and some prospect that a credit Under Surveillance - Significant increase in credit risk with identified concerns and some prospect that a credit 

loss may ultimately be suffered.loss may ultimately be suffered.
•	•	 Doubtful - Likely that the contractual terms of the debt will not be met and that a credit loss will be suffered Doubtful - Likely that the contractual terms of the debt will not be met and that a credit loss will be suffered 

(Impaired).(Impaired).
•	•	 Write-off - Full or partial write-down of exposures with little prospect of recovery. Write-off - Full or partial write-down of exposures with little prospect of recovery. 

An overview of the Bank’s qualitative SICR assessment is provided below. However, the quantitative assessment per-
formed by the Bank to identify a SICR varies across each of the Bank’s portfolios of financial instruments and is dis-
closed in the relevant sub-sections below.

It is possible for multiple instruments to the same customer to be classified under different stages. This may occur 
when the Bank holds exposures originated at differing points in time thereby potentially giving rise to differing default 
risk at initial recognition, causing a variation in the relative increase in credit risk since origination between the different 
instruments.

Other than for the ‘days past due’ trigger, the Bank does not expect to observe a single qualitative SICR trigger to signal 
a SICR event in normal circumstances, unless where the event is material. Therefore, the Bank has defined likely SICR 
triggers that are deemed most relevant in the Bank Credit Risk policy. However, triggers are not treated as exhaustive 
and are subject to robust credit risk management assessments. Qualitative SICR trigger assessments are undertaken 
at least quarterly for each instrument and any identified SICR trigger events are presented to the appropriate Manage-
ment Credit Committee.

International Corporate Lending portfolioInternational Corporate Lending portfolio
Financial instruments within the Bank’s International Corporate Lending portfolio are managed on an individual basis 
for credit purposes, whereby the Bank’s credit analysts have access to the obligors and their financial information, the 
latter comprising both historical and forecasted financial information. The SICR assessment for the International Corpo-
rate Lending portfolio comprises the following:

•	 Use of qualitative SICR triggers, including the following qualitative triggers which are taken into consideration 
by the Bank in the quarterly SICR trigger assessments: 
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Qualitative SICR themes:
Evidence of past due information
Significant change in the operating performance of the borrower
Significant change in the viability of the borrowers business model
Quality and timeliness of reporting
Project delays or overruns
Significant adverse macroeconomic or market conditions
Significant increase in refinancing risk
Pricing of debt and equity (relative to market)
Forbearance 						    
Bankruptcy, acceleration, legal enforcement and insolvency
Sponsor support
Troubled debt restructuring
Covenant waivers or forecast breach of covenant
Adherence to internal shadow financial covenants
SICR observed on related financial instruments

•	•	 Use of quantitative SICR assessment based on a ratings-based approach using lifetime ‘Point in Time’ (PiT) Use of quantitative SICR assessment based on a ratings-based approach using lifetime ‘Point in Time’ (PiT) 
Probabilities of Default (PDs) (i.e. PD in current economic conditions)Probabilities of Default (PDs) (i.e. PD in current economic conditions)

•	•	 Hard trigger (Internal credit classification) - financial asset that has a credit quality classification of “Under sur-Hard trigger (Internal credit classification) - financial asset that has a credit quality classification of “Under sur-
veillance” is Stage 2, classification of “Impaired” is Stage 3veillance” is Stage 2, classification of “Impaired” is Stage 3

For the purposes of the quantitative SICR assessment, the Bank has adopted a ratings-based approach (i.e. based on 
notch deterioration) for its SICR assessment.

Due to the lack of sufficient internal history of defaults, the Bank uses a credit risk modelling solution developed by an 
external vendor to estimate unconditional PiT PDs by: (i) benchmarking the obligor’s financial statements with those of 
the underlying model dataset; and (ii) applying a qualitative scorecard to adjust the quantitative unconditional PiT PDs 
to better reflect obligor-specific peculiarities.

A forward-looking, probability weighted PiT PD estimated by the model is mapped to an implied default rating, which 
adopts Moody’s public ratings agency scale terminology from C up to Aaa. When performing the SICR assessment, the 
Bank compares the implied rating at origination to the implied rating at the reporting date and determines the difference 
in notches between them. The Bank’s staging criteria is therefore deemed to be based on a ratings/notch deterioration 
approach.

The quantitative SICR staging decision uses both a relative and an absolute threshold approach. The relative threshold 
approach involves calculating the magnitude of the difference between the reporting date rating and the origination 
date rating based on the deterioration in the number of notches between the two ratings. The appropriate stage is 
determined based on the magnitude of this difference. The absolute threshold determines the stage based on the re-
porting date rating of the instrument. The following table presents the relative and absolute thresholds applied by the 
Bank in the quantitative assessment of SICR.
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Although the Bank has adopted a ratings-based approach (i.e. based on notch deterioration) for its SICR assessment, 
each implied rating is represented by an underlying PD.

Lifetime PDs are determined by estimating the marginal PD for each year over the life of the financial instrument. For 
example, for a five-year loan, PDs are calculated for each of the five years. The year-1 PD is calculated as the probability 
of the loan defaulting within the first year of it being issued, whereas the year-2 PD is calculated as the probability of the 
loan surviving the first year but defaulting in the second year. The same principle of survival applies to the PDs for the 
remaining years. The summation of marginal PDs results in the derivation of the cumulative lifetime PD term structure. 
Cumulative lifetime PDs increase at a diminishing rate as the residual life of the loan shortens.

“Unconditional” PDs refer to the PD term structure based on historical information and prior to the application of for-
ward-looking macroeconomic scenarios. Multiple forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios are applied to the uncon-
ditional PiT PD term structure in order to estimate a forward-looking probability-weighted “conditional” PiT PD at an 
obligor level.

Implied rating Relative threshold (SICR Deterioration Trigger) Absolute threshold (SICR Trigger Floor)

Aaa -10 notches -

Aa1 -8 notches -

Aa2 -7 notches -

Aa3 -6 notches -

A1 -5 notches -

A2 -5 notches -

A3 -5 notches -

Baa1 -5 notches -

Baa2 -5 notches -

Baa3 -4 notches -

Ba1 -4 notches -

Ba2 -4 notches -

Ba3 -4 notches -

B1 -3 notches -

B2 -3 notches -

B3 -2 notches -

Caa1 -1 notches -

Caa2 -0 notches Stage 2 SICR Trigger Floor

Caa3 -0 notches Stage 2 SICR Trigger Floor

Ca -0 notches Stage 2 SICR Trigger Floor

C -0 notches Stage 3 SICR Trigger Floor
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PDs are determined upon origination date and at each subsequent reporting date at an obligor level rather than at a 
facility level. Therefore, at any given date, multiple facilities attributable to the same obligor are assigned the same PD, 
reflecting the borrower’s financial condition as at the date of the assessment. In this regard, different facilities with the 
same obligor originated at the same time are expected to have an identical PD both at origination date as well as sub-
sequent reporting dates. However, facilities with the same obligor originated at different time intervals can have different 
PDs upon origination, reflecting the borrower’s financial condition and credit risk at each respective origination date, 
whereas identical PDs are determined at each subsequent reporting date in respect of all such facilities. 

In this regard, a simple or absolute comparison of PDs at initial recognition and at the reporting date is not appropriate 
to determine the stage of an exposure. All other things kept constant, the PD of a financial instrument is expected to 
reduce with the passage of time. Thus, in order to take this into consideration, the Bank estimates the annualised PD 
over the remaining life of the financial asset as at the origination date and the annualised PD over the remaining life of 
the financial asset as at the reporting date. The annualised PD measure is the cumulative PD for a given period, stated 
on a per-year basis. These are then mapped to implied ratings which are used to determine potential SICR events and 
consequently the credit stage of a financial instrument through a combination of relative and absolute thresholds using 
the implied credit ratings.

Hard Trigger based on Internal Risk Classifications
The quantitative assessment through the Bank’s implied credit rating staging criteria is considered alongside qualita-
tive SICR triggers and forms part of the overall SICR trigger assessment. In this regard, when qualitative SICR triggers 
are observed by credit analysts, the Bank applies a hard trigger based on the internal credit classification (Stage 2 for 
all borrowers classified as “Under surveillance”, and Stage 3 for all borrowers classified as “Doubtful”).

Dutch Mortgage portfolio
In respect of the Dutch national-guaranteed residential mortgage assets (for which losses are capped at 10% of expect-
ed losses through the ‘Nationale Hypotheek Garantie’ or NHG) classified within the Bank’s Dutch Mortgage portfolio, the 
primary determinant of SICR is a quantitative rule based on the change in PD between origination and reporting date, 
and based on absolute PD thresholds. SICR is determined at “loan part” level – i.e. each facility (even where the source 
of repayment is the same) is assessed for SICR.

The quantitative SICR trigger compares residual lifetime PD at reporting date versus residual lifetime PD at origination. 
To identify whether an account experienced a SICR since initial recognition, a lifetime PD threshold is used.

In this respect, the following SICR triggers and backstops are applied and would result in a shift of these exposures to 
Stage 2: 

•	•	 Change in Probability of Default:  lifetime PD of the exposure on the reporting date exceeds its lifetime PD at Change in Probability of Default:  lifetime PD of the exposure on the reporting date exceeds its lifetime PD at 
initial recognition by more than 200%; orinitial recognition by more than 200%; or

•	•	 Absolute level: 12-month PD of the exposure on the reporting date exceeds 20%.Absolute level: 12-month PD of the exposure on the reporting date exceeds 20%.

The following are also deemed to give rise to SICR:
1. Forbearance events where exposures are not 30 days past due (“DPD”);
2. Where payments in respect of the exposure are 30 DPD or more.

Quantitative SICR triggers are not applied to mortgages / loan parts with a PD of 0.03% or below at reporting date. 
Such exposures are deemed to qualify for the low credit risk exemption (Stage 1 without further staging assessment) 
in IFRS 9. The appropriateness of the application of this exemption is periodically tested for portfolios on which it is 
applied.														           
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Belgian Mortgage portfolio
Staging for the Belgian Retail Residential Mortgages portfolio is similar as for Dutch Mortgages where primary deter-
minants of SICR are delinquency, forbearance, and other quantitative rules relating to the relative and absolute change 
in PD.

Securities Investment portfolio
In order to monitor SICR in relation to its Securities Investment portfolio, the Bank refers to external credit ratings from 
at least one of the following rating agencies: Moody’s, Fitch or Standard & Poor’s. In this regard, an exposure is deemed 
to have low credit risk if it is assigned an investment-grade status by one of these three external credit rating agencies.

Should the credit rating of a financial instrument fall below the investment-grade threshold, i.e. BBB (or equivalent) the 
financial instrument is deemed to have suffered a SICR. As a result, the financial instrument will be re-classified as a 
Stage 2 exposure, which will impact the measurement of the ECL charges, moving from a 12-month ECL calculation to 
a lifetime ECL calculation.

Securitisation Investment portfolio
Investment in tranches within a publicly rated CLO SE originated and managed by a third party, with a public in-
vestment-grade rating assigned by reputable agency: Similar to the Securities Investment portfolio criteria, invest-
ment-grade rating is an example of a financial instrument that may be considered as having low credit risk. Therefore, 
the Bank measures 12-month ECL for publicly rated investment-grade tranches of CLOs.

Credit impaired (Stage 3)
The Bank defines a financial asset as credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

IFRS 9 introduces a rebuttable presumption that default does not occur later than when a contractual repayment relat-
ing to a financial asset is 90 days past due, unless reasonable and supportable information is available to demonstrate 
that a more lagging criterion is more appropriate. This presumption has not been rebutted by the Bank for its lending 
portfolios, meaning that default is deemed not to have occurred later than when a financial asset is 90 days past due. 
Although this presumption is applicable to all lending portfolios managed by the Bank, it is much more relevant for 
identifying defaulted exposures within the Dutch and Belgian Mortgage portfolios.

The definition of default is addressed in more detail by guidelines issued by the European Banking Authority (EBA) 
and the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS). These guidelines provide detailed definitions of what should 
be considered in the determination of defaulted exposures for regulatory purposes. As a result, the Bank aligned the 
IFRS 9 definition of default, used for accounting purposes, to the definitions provided in the EBA and BCBS guidelines, 
thereby ensuring that a single consistent view of credit risk is applied for internal risk management, regulatory capital 
and the measurement of ECLs.

In this regard, defaulted exposures are those that satisfy either or both of the following criteria:			 
(i) material exposures which are past due by more than 90 days;
(ii) the debtor is assessed as unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full without realisation of collateral, regardless of the 
existence of any past-due amount or of the number of days past due.

Therefore, since the criteria for credit-impaired under IFRS 9 can be interpreted consistently with the definition of 
default for regulatory purposes, all defaults in terms of regulation are deemed to be credit-impaired, and vice versa. 
Defaulted exposures are therefore classified under Stage 3 for IFRS 9 purposes.
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In order to define which events trigger “unlikeliness to pay”, the Bank takes into account the situations and events listed 
in the Capital Requirements Regulation (“CRR”) definition of default and in the IFRS definition of impairment require-
ments.

IFRS 9 provides a list of events that may indicate that a financial asset is credit-impaired. The criteria that the Bank uses 
to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include: 

•	•	 Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower;Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower;
•	•	 A breach of contract, such as default or past due event;	A breach of contract, such as default or past due event;	
•	•	 The lender(s) of the borrower having granted a concession(s) to the borrower for economic or contractual rea-The lender(s) of the borrower having granted a concession(s) to the borrower for economic or contractual rea-

sons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty (this would not have otherwise been considered);sons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty (this would not have otherwise been considered);
•	•	 It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;	It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;	
•	•	 The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; orThe disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
•	•	 The purchase or recognition of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.The purchase or recognition of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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Unlikely to pay events Indicative triggers

1) The Bank considers that the obligor is unlikely 
to pay its debt obligations to the Bank without 
recourse by the Bank to actions such as realising 
security.

•	 Loan is accelerated or called	
•	 Bank has called any collateral including a guarantee
•	 Lawsuit, execution or enforced execution in order to 

collect debt
•	 The borrower is a co-debtor when the main debtor is in 

default
•	 It is expected that a bullet loan cannot be refinanced at 

standard market conditions with less than a 6-month 
contractual maturity

2) Bank puts the credit obligation on non- 
accrued status

•	 Bank stops charging of interest (also partially or  
conditionally)

•	 Any direct write-off

3) Bank recognises a specific credit adjustment 
resulting from a significant perceived decline in 
credit quality subsequent to the institution taking 
on the exposure.

•	 Any specific loan loss provisions booked
•	 Any write-off against provisions

4) Bank sells the credit obligation at a material 
credit-related economic loss. 

•	 An asset is sold or partially sold with material loss (>15% 
loss on book value) due to credit-related concerns (i.e. 
not as a result of market risk)

5) Bank consents to a distressed restructuring of 
the credit obligation where this is likely to result 
in a diminished financial obligation caused by the 
material forgiveness or postponement of princi-
pal, interest, or fees.

•	 Restructuring with a material part which is forgiven giving 
rise to net present value (NPV) loss

•	 Restructuring where the institution also considers the 
obligor is unlikely to pay its debt obligations without 
recourse to actions such as realising security

6) The Bank filed for the obligor's bankruptcy or 
a similar order in respect of an obligor’s credit 
obligation to the institution.

•	 It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bank-
ruptcy or other financial reorganisation

•	 Credit institution or leader of consortium starts bankrupt-
cy/insolvency proceedings

•	 International Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA”) 
credit event declared

•	 Out-of-court negotiations for settlement or repayment 
(e.g. stand-still agreements)

7) Obligor has sought or has been placed in 
bankruptcy or similar protection, where this 
would avoid or delay repayment of a credit  
obligation to the Bank.

•	 Obligor has filed for bankruptcy or insolvency
•	 Third party has started bankruptcy or insolvency pro-

ceedings

Further, in respect of exposures within the International Corporate Lending portfolio, the Bank has determined triggers 
that should lead to the recognition of a non-performing or defaulted exposure, or a thorough assessment of whether 
an unlikely-to-pay event has occurred. Unlikely to pay events and triggers are listed below but this is not used as an 
exhaustive list:
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In certain instances, it might not be possible to identify a single discrete event which leads to the classification of an 
exposure as credit-impaired. However, the Bank takes a holistic view of the performance of the exposure, where the 
combined effect of several events may be deemed to have caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. Gener-
ally, the Bank expects that a SICR be identified before a financial asset becomes credit-impaired or an actual default 
occurs. Therefore, exposures that are treated as credit-impaired in most cases are transferred from Stage 2 to Stage 3.

In respect of the Dutch and Belgian Mortgage portfolios, the key indicator of credit-impairment arises when exposures 
are past due by more than 90 days taking into account the materiality threshold for Retail exposures as per the EBA 
regulatory definition of default, with other unlikeliness to pay indicators, such as the extension of forbearance measures, 
also being taken into consideration.

For the Securitisation Investment portfolio, the 90 DPD presumption has been rebutted by the Bank for the purposes of 
the investment in tranches in CLOs measured at amortised cost. All tranches in the Bank’s securitisation investments 
are deemed to have defaulted in the event that the CLO is unable to partially or fully repay the Senior Notes, and / or 
the interest thereon, i.e. if payment is 1 DPD. This might be driven by a significant level of defaults occurring in the un-
derlying portfolio, which might lead to an insufficient level of cash flows to honour the payment commitments linked with 
each tranche within the funding structure. Similarly, the 90 DPD presumption has also been rebutted by the Bank with 
respect to exposures within the Securities Investment portfolio. In this regard, an exposure is deemed to be defaulted 
in the event that the obligor is unable to partially or fully repay any amount due.

For all Stage 3 financial assets, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost or carrying amount of the financial instrument, i.e. gross carrying amount less credit loss allowances.

Write-offs
Financial assets and the associated credit loss allowances are normally written off, either partially or in full, when there 
is no realistic prospect of recovery. In the case of international corporate loans, the determination is made after consid-
ering facts and circumstances relating to the borrower’s financial position, typically following a distressed restructure. 
Where loans are secured, this is generally after receipt of any proceeds from the realisation of security. In circumstances 
where the net realisable value of any collateral has been determined and there is no reasonable expectation of further 
recovery, write-off may be earlier (see Note 2.2.5). In this respect, the Bank writes off financial assets when the Manage-
ment Credit Committee determines that the balance is uncollectible.

Modified financial assets
In accordance with IFRS 9, the modification of contractual cash flows of a financial instrument could result in one of 
two possible outcomes:
(i) If the modification is not considered to be significant, the modified cash flows are considered to pertain to the original 
financial asset; or
(ii) If the modification is considered to be significant, the original asset is considered to be extinguished and accordingly 
the original asset is derecognised and replaced by a new financial asset.

The assessment of whether a modification is considered to be significant is critical in determining the accounting im-
plications of modifications to an asset’s contractual cash flows. The Bank applies judgement in assessing whether a 
change in contractual terms (such as a change in interest rates, currency or the remaining term of the loan) is substan-
tial enough to represent an expiry of the original instrument.

In this regard, when considering a change in the contractual terms, the Bank evaluates how the cash flows under 
the revised terms compare with the cash flows under the original terms of the loan and also takes into consideration 
qualitative factors. Qualitative considerations include extension of terms, insertion of credit enhancements, changes 
in interest rates, etc. If the modification is deemed substantial, derecognition of the financial instrument is warranted.



42Annual Report and Financial Statements 2023

When the modification is not substantial enough to result in the derecognition of that financial asset, the Bank recal-
culates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset as the present value of the modified contractual cash flows 
discounted at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for POCI financial assets). The 
difference is recognised as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

When there is a substantial modification to the terms of a financial asset resulting in the derecognition of the existing 
financial asset and the subsequent recognition of the modified financial asset, the modified asset is considered a ‘new’ 
financial asset. Any new financial assets that arise following derecognition events as a result of substantial modification 
to the terms of the instrument are classified as Stage 1 assets, unless the new financial asset is credit-impaired on initial 
recognition, in which case it will be classified as a POCI financial asset. A loss is booked in profit or loss (normally as a 
write-off) since the new instrument is recognised at fair value.

When the modification is not substantial enough to result in the derecognition of the financial asset, renegotiated loans 
within the International Corporate Lending portfolio are considered credit-impaired and accordingly classified as Stage 
3 assets unless no unlikeliness-to-pay events are deemed to have occurred. Assets that are credit-impaired at the time 
of renegotiation remain in Stage 3 post renegotiation. When evidence suggests that the renegotiated loan is no longer 
credit-impaired, the asset is transferred out of Stage 3. This is assessed on the basis of historical and forward-looking 
information and an assessment of the credit risk over the expected life of the asset, including information about the 
circumstances that led to the renegotiation. A full assessment from the appropriate Management Credit Committee is 
required for approval that the exposure is no longer considered as credit-impaired.

With respect to loans within the Dutch Mortgage portfolio, when the modification is not substantial enough to result in 
derecognition, renegotiated loans are classified as credit impaired, and accordingly as Stage 3 assets, when the expo-
sure is 90 DPD. In all other instances, renegotiated loans within these portfolios are initially classified as Stage 2 assets.

Other than originated credit-impaired loans, all other modified loans could be transferred out of Stage 3 if they no 
longer exhibit any evidence of being credit-impaired and, in the case of renegotiated loans, there is sufficient evidence 
to demonstrate a significant reduction in the risk of non-payment of future cash flows over the minimum observation 
period, and there are no other indicators of impairment. These loans could be transferred to Stage 1 or 2 based on 
the mechanism as described below by comparing the risk of a default occurring at the reporting date (based on the 
modified contractual terms) and the risk of a default occurring at initial recognition (based on the original, unmodified, 
contractual terms). Any amount written off as a result of the modification of contractual terms would not be reversed.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired	
Originated credit-impaired financial assets are those assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition. The Bank 
does not expect to purchase any financial assets that are credit-impaired. However, there might be rare instances where 
the Bank originates new assets following a renegotiation or restructure for reasons relating to a borrower’s distressed 
financial circumstances that otherwise would not have been considered, and which may result in the new assets to be 
deemed POCI. The amount of change in lifetime ECL is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss until 
the POCI is derecognised, even if the lifetime ECL are less than the amount of ECL included in the estimated cash flows 
on initial recognition.

Movement between stages
Financial instruments are transferred out of Stage 2 if their credit risk is no longer considered to be “significantly in-
creased” since initial recognition. Stage classification under IFRS 9 is distinct from regulatory requirements for perform-
ing status classification. That is, it should not be assumed that a regulatory “probation” period and EBA pre-requisites 
must be used as the criteria needed to move from Stage 2 to Stage 1 for IFRS 9 purposes.
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For IFRS 9 purposes, the Bank has determined the below guideline approach to determine whether movement from 
Stage 2 to Stage 1 is appropriate:

•	•	 Where qualitative triggers were used to determine SICR: Stage transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 is subjective. Where qualitative triggers were used to determine SICR: Stage transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 is subjective. 
Where implied rating SICR triggers were not a determinant for reclassification in the first instance, it is expected Where implied rating SICR triggers were not a determinant for reclassification in the first instance, it is expected 
that any qualitative SICR triggers that were observed that derived the SICR event must be fully resolved and that any qualitative SICR triggers that were observed that derived the SICR event must be fully resolved and 
evidenced for a 90-day period prior to any reclassification.evidenced for a 90-day period prior to any reclassification.

•	•	 Where quantitative triggers were used to determine SICR, the financial asset must evidence an improvement Where quantitative triggers were used to determine SICR, the financial asset must evidence an improvement 
and return to the external or implied default risk rating at the point of inception (instrument should evidence an and return to the external or implied default risk rating at the point of inception (instrument should evidence an 
implied default rating in line or better than the original inception rating in order to trigger a reclassification from implied default rating in line or better than the original inception rating in order to trigger a reclassification from 
Stage 2 to Stage 1).Stage 2 to Stage 1).

•	•	 Any instrument that is no longer 30-days past due can only be reclassified to Stage 1 when: (i) all contractual Any instrument that is no longer 30-days past due can only be reclassified to Stage 1 when: (i) all contractual 
arrears have been remediated (Nil days past due); and (ii) no further non-payment has been observed for a arrears have been remediated (Nil days past due); and (ii) no further non-payment has been observed for a 
minimum of 90 days. This is subject to regulatory materiality thresholds defined in the Bank Credit Risk policy.minimum of 90 days. This is subject to regulatory materiality thresholds defined in the Bank Credit Risk policy.

In addition, for exposures within the International Corporate Lending portfolio, curing of Stage 2 exposures is governed 
by the Management Credit Committee Quarterly Portfolio Review process where supportive evidence of improved per-
formance and thereby stage transfer is reviewed and approved by the committee.

Similarly, for movement of Stage 3 corporate loans to either Stage 2 or Stage 1, a full assessment from the appropri-
ate Management Credit Committee is required for approval that unlikeliness to pay criteria are no longer present, the 
exposure is no longer considered as impaired and there is no past due amount on the exposure (through settling of 
amounts in a regular manner).

Stage transfer in respect of corporate exposures is also subject to a 12-month probation period where defaulted (Stage 
3) exposures are classified as NPEs before they can be upgraded to Stage 2. Meanwhile, stage transfer of defaulted 
retail exposures is subject to a 3-month probation period, unless the default/NPE classification is the result of forbear-
ance measures for which a 12-month probation period applies.

For loans that are assessed for impairment on a portfolio basis, the evidence to support the stage transfer assessment 
typically comprises a history of payment performance against the original or revised terms, as appropriate to the cir-
cumstances. For loans that are assessed for impairment on an individual basis, all evidence is determined on a case-
by-case basis.

Movement between stages is aligned with the Bank Credit Risk policy, and any exceptions are governed by the Man-
agement Credit Committee.

Measurement of expected credit losses
The Bank first determines whether objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, 
whether significant or not, and then measures credit loss allowances using different models for non credit-impaired and 
credit-impaired financial assets, as follows:

•	•	 If no evidence of impairment exists (Stage 1 and Stage 2 assets), the Bank uses statistical models developed If no evidence of impairment exists (Stage 1 and Stage 2 assets), the Bank uses statistical models developed 
by an external vendor to measure ECLs for exposures within the International Corporate Lending portfolio at by an external vendor to measure ECLs for exposures within the International Corporate Lending portfolio at 
facility level.facility level.

•	•	 For credit-impaired exposures (Stage 3 assets), the Bank generally models ECLs based on an internally de-For credit-impaired exposures (Stage 3 assets), the Bank generally models ECLs based on an internally de-
veloped methodology to estimate the expected cash flows by reference to borrowers’ enterprise values and veloped methodology to estimate the expected cash flows by reference to borrowers’ enterprise values and 
forecasted operating cash flows for exposures within the International Corporate Lending portfolio.forecasted operating cash flows for exposures within the International Corporate Lending portfolio.
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With respect to the Dutch Mortgages, Securitisation Investment and Securities Investment portfolios, the ECLs on all 
assets (irrespective of staging) are modelled using statistical models developed by an external vendor. For the Belgian 
Mortgage Lending portfolio, the ECL for the mortgage portfolios is determined using internally developed statistical 
models.	

ECLs are defined as the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a financial instrument. 
Credit losses are in turn defined as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls between contractual and expected 
cash flows, discounted using the original effective interest rate (EIR).

Lifetime ECLs refer to the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instru-
ment, whilst 12-month ECLs are a portion of lifetime ECLs and represent the lifetime cash shortfalls that result if a de-
fault occurs in the 12 months after the reporting date, weighted by the probability of the default occurring.

For each portfolio, the Bank calculates ECLs on its financial instruments based on three key inputs, namely: probability 
of default (“PD”), loss given default (“LGD”) and exposure at default (“EAD”). The 12-month ECL is calculated by mul-
tiplying the 12-month PD, LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated on a similar basis for the entire residual life of the 
exposure.

Non credit-impaired financial assets (Stage 1 & 2)
This section provides a detailed description of the methodology used by the Bank to measure credit loss allowances in 
respect of exposures classified as Stage 1 and Stage 2 assets using statistical models developed by an external ven-
dor (for the Dutch Mortgages, Securitisation Investment and Securities Investment portfolios) and internally developed 
models (for the Belgian Mortgages).

Probability of Default
One of the key risk parameters used by the Bank in its ECL calculation is the probability that the obligor defaults either 
within the next 12-month period (in case of Stage 1 exposures) or over the lifetime of the exposure (in case of Stage 2 
/ 3 exposures).

Since the PD is a probability measure used to capture the likelihood that a customer will default over a defined period 
of time, this is estimated at a customer level.

PDs for the Bank’s portfolios are estimated based on statistical models developed by external vendors. In particular, the 
models used for the International Corporate Lending, Securitisation Investment and Securities Investment portfolios 
use rating scale to PD matrices calibrated based on historical default data observed in the market and compiled by the 
external vendor. In respect of the International Corporate Lending portfolio, PDs and implied ratings are modelled by 
benchmarking borrower-specific characteristics, including financial performance and qualitative characteristics cap-
tured through a scorecard, with the underlying dataset. In respect of exposures within the Securities Investment and 
Securitisation Investment portfolios, PDs are generally estimated using public ratings through rating scale to PD ma-
trices. With regard to the Dutch Mortgage portfolio, PDs are generated using models based on historical default rates 
observed in the Netherlands for similar assets. With regards to the Belgian Residential Mortgages portfolio, PDs are 
also generated using models based on proxies for historical default rates using external, publicly available sources for 
similar assets.
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Loss Given Default
The second key risk parameter used by the Bank relates to the estimation of the recovery rate expected to be ob-
served in the event that a ‘default’ occurs. In this regard, the Bank uses the LGD to capture this element within the ECL  
calculation.

The LGD of an exposure measures the size of the estimated loss (as a proportion of the total EAD) that is expected 
to materialise in the event of default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and the 
cash flows that the Bank expects to receive, whether from cash flows or from any collateral. It takes into account the 
mitigating effect of collateral value at the time it is expected to be realised and the time value of money. LGD for ECL 
measurement includes the expected impact of future economic conditions and discounting back from estimated time 
of default to reporting date using the original EIR.

In contrast with PDs, LGDs are estimated at a facility level. Whilst linked to the general credit risk of the obligor, recovery 
rates are also impacted by the relative ranking of a particular facility within the obligor’s debt structure.

For assets within the Bank’s International Corporate Lending portfolio, estimated recovery rates are measured using 
statistical models developed by external vendors by benchmarking exposure-specific characteristics with the under-
lying dataset.

The Bank’s Securities Investment portfolio consists of covered bonds, bonds issued by supranational organisations, 
sovereign bonds and corporate bonds. For its supranational exposures and sovereign exposures, the Bank uses the 
LGD values obtained from the statistical model developed by an external vendor while for covered bonds the LGD is 
aligned with regulatory standards. The LGD for corporate bonds is modelled using the same methodology as for the 
International Corporate Lending portfolio.

The LGD for the Dutch Mortgage portfolio is modelled using the loan-to-value ratio of individual loan parts. Expected 
recoveries are used to determine the expected loss and are modelled by reference to assumptions in relation to valu-
ations of different property types, haircut to sale proceeds and the time value of money. The LGD is then estimated at 
10% of expected losses, since the NHG absorbs 90% of losses, adjusted for assumptions on expected NHG pay-outs 
and claim rejection rates.

With regards to the Belgian Residential Mortgages portfolios, as the Bank has no internal loss data, LGD parameters 
are based on external, publicly available sources of loss data for similar assets.

For the Securitisation Investment portfolio, as for PDs, the LGDs are obtained through statistical models developed by 
an external vendor using estimated recovery rates.

Exposure at Default
The EAD is used to estimate the Bank’s expected exposure at the time of default of an obligor, taking into account 
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, and any 
expected drawdowns on committed facilities. 

The maximum period over which ECLs are measured is the maximum contractual period over which the Bank is  
exposed to credit risk.
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International Corporate Lending portfolio
For the Bank’s International Corporate Lending portfolio, the Bank makes use of behavioural rather than contractual 
maturity, thereby reflecting expectations on the exercise of prepayment or extension options. In this regard, for Revolv-
ing Credit Facilities and Term Loans containing a prepayment option which is expected to be exercised by the obligor, 
the Bank adjusts the contractual maturity date to reflect the expected maturity date, thereby reflecting the expected 
payment profile. Expected maturities are assessed quarterly, on a case-by-case basis, in order to determine any change 
to the expected maturity.

To measure the EAD of off-balance sheet exposures, including loan commitments, the Bank aligns the expected draw-
down on committed facilities with the credit conversion factors (CCFs) as set out in the Standardised Approach to 
Credit Risk under the CRR.

Dutch Mortgage portfolio
The EAD for the Dutch Mortgage portfolio is based on amortisation per the contractual payment profiles, taking into 
account modelled prepayments. The maturity date is deemed to be equal to the contractual maturity of the mortgage. 
To measure the EAD of off-balance sheet assets, the Bank applies a 75% CCF.

Belgian Mortgage portfolio
The EAD for the Belgian Residential Mortgage portfolio is based on the outstanding exposure amount as at reporting 
date. To measure the EAD of off-balance sheet assets (commitments to lend), the Bank applies an 80% CCF.

Securities Investment portfolio
For the Bank’s Securities Investment portfolio, the maturity date is deemed to be equal to the contractual maturity of 
the exposure, and the EAD assumed to be the full committed exposure.

Securitisation Investment portfolio
For the Bank’s Securitisation Investment portfolio, the external vendor analyses underlying assets in the CLO, capturing 
the inherent risk of each tranche (based on relative seniority and contractual terms), simulating the losses that would 
be incurred by each tranche under multiple scenarios and calculates the average life of the tranche. The average life of 
the tranche is equivalent to the expected lifetime.

Credit-Impaired financial assets (Stage 3)
For Stage 3 assets in the International Corporate Lending portfolio, the Bank estimates ECL on an individual basis. 
When assessing impairment for these assets, the recoverable amount corresponds to the present value of estimated 
future cash flows.

For exposures in the International Corporate Lending portfolio, the Bank deems these assets as very rarely secured by 
assets whose value is easily observable. Therefore, recoverable amounts are usually calculated by projecting expected 
cash flows using a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) approach to determine the Enterprise Value (“EV”) under multiple 
scenarios. The recoverable amount under each scenario is estimated as the EV, plus available cash, less exit fees, dis-
counted using the estimated weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) at a borrower level. The latter is determined 
using multiple assumptions in respect of the cost of debt and cost of equity. The recoverable amount is then compared 
to the EAD in order to determine any expected shortfalls / credit losses.	

Hence for Stage 3 exposures the individual impairment allowance is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
outstanding exposure, which is measured as the sum of the carrying amount and the expected future drawdown on 
off-balance sheet commitments estimated by reference to CCFs, and the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
is the weighted average of the base case and the downside case, with recoveries under each case capped separately
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at 100%. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is 
recognised in profit or loss.

For the Securities Investment portfolio, recoverable amounts are assessed on a mark-to-market basis, using observable 
market prices for the instruments held.

For the Dutch and Belgian Mortgages and the Securitisation Investment portfolios, the ECL on Stage 3 exposures is 
equivalent to the LGD parameter multiplied by the exposure amount, with PD equivalent to 100%.

Forward looking information
The recognition and measurement of ECL requires the incorporation of forward-looking information into the ECL esti-
mates to meet the measurement objective of IFRS 9. A particularly complex aspect is the need to consider a range of 
possible forward-looking economic scenarios when calculating ECL, given the potential effect of non-linearities on ECL. 
Based on the principle of non-linearity, the modelled increase in credit losses if conditions are expected to deteriorate 
exceeds the decrease in credit losses if conditions improve. The Bank takes into consideration reasonable and sup-
portable information relating to forecasts of future macroeconomic conditions in order to determine the expected level 
of and movement in credit risk for specific obligors.

The Bank first identifies macroeconomic variables (MEVs) which have the highest correlation to systemic credit risk 
factors for its obligors using statistical methods developed by external vendors. These macroeconomic variables in-
clude country-level variables that are deemed to have the highest correlation to the Bank’s portfolios. The MEVs applied 
for ECL calculations for each portfolio may differ. The MEVs that exhibit the highest level of correlation for exposures 
classified within the International Corporate Lending and Securities Investment portfolios principally comprise coun-
try-specific Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”), unemployment levels and the performance of stock market indices. In 
addition, the House Price Index and national unemployment rates are key for exposures within the Dutch and Belgian 
Mortgage portfolios, whereas interest rates are used for calculating ECLs for exposures within the Securitisation Invest-
ment portfolio.

IFRS 9 does not require every possible scenario to be identified. However, it requires the Bank to estimate ECLs by 
taking into consideration multiple forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios, since the use of a single ‘most likely’ sce-
nario is not deemed sufficient. As a result, the measurement of ECLs in line with IFRS 9 involves the use of significant 
judgement in developing alternative macroeconomic scenarios and/or management adjustments. In this regard, the 
Bank uses an external vendor solution to determine multiple forecasts of macroeconomic conditions (reflecting future 
paths of the selected key macroeconomic variables). The Bank then estimates an unbiased, forward-looking, proba-
bility-weighted ECL by assigning probability weights to expected losses under each of the macroeconomic scenarios.

IFRS 9 does not require forecasts of future conditions to extend over the entire expected life of the financial instrument 
in question. The Bank uses macroeconomic forecasts from the external vendor for up to 20 quarters to estimate a for-
ward-looking ECL. For maturities that go beyond this 5-year period, the Bank extrapolates projections from available 
data.
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Multiple forward-looking scenarios for Stage 3 Credit-impaired exposures
With regards to Stage 3 exposures within the Bank’s International Corporate Lending portfolio, ECLs are based on a 
DCF analysis aimed at assessing the level of credit risk in detail and estimating the recoverable amount for the instru-
ment. In line with IFRS 9 requirements, such exposures still require a consideration of multiple forward-looking scenari-
os. The scenarios are designed specifically for each obligor in question by considering the different cash flows that may 
accrue to the Bank under the contractual agreement including those resulting from potential restructuring, which may 
include derivative features including pay-outs if certain targets or objectives are met at a future date. Such scenarios 
are designed by reference to estimated unlevered operating cash flows, typically over a three-year forecasted period, 
together with a terminal value estimated using assumed stable cash flows under each scenario.

In line with the requirements of IFRS 9, the Bank assigns a probability weight, based on management judgement, to 
each of the scenarios considered in the estimation of ECLs. Due to the high level of subjectivity involved, decisions 
relating to the selection of scenarios, probabilities and assumed forecasted cash flows are subject to scrutiny through 
the Bank’s governance structure around credit risk.

In respect of exposures within the Dutch and Belgian Mortgages and Investment portfolios, the ECL on Stage 3 expo-
sures is modelled based on an identical methodology as that used for Stage 1 and Stage 2 exposures.

1.6 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial posi-
tion when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.7 Intangible assets
Computer software	
Intangible assets with finite useful lives, such as purchased and internally developed computer software, are amortised, 
on a straight-line basis, over their estimated useful lives. Estimated useful life is generally the lower of legal duration, 
where applicable, and expected useful life. The estimated useful life of purchased software and developed computer 
software ranges between 3 to 5 years. Costs incurred in the ongoing maintenance of software are expensed immedi-
ately as incurred.

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software elements 
controlled by the Bank are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

•	•	 it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use;it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use;
•	•	 management intends to complete the software and use it;management intends to complete the software and use it;
•	•	 there is an ability to use the software;there is an ability to use the software;
•	•	 it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits;it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits;
•	•	 adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use the software are adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use the software are 

available; andavailable; and
•	•	 the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software include the software development employee costs 
and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use. Other development 
expenditure that does not meet these criteria is recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously 
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.
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The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting  
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

1.8 Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment used by the Bank is initially recorded at historical cost, including transaction costs 
and borrowing costs. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

All property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impair-
ment losses.

Depreciation on assets, recognised in profit or loss, is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to 
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:				

•	•	 improvements to premises	 4 - 10 yearsimprovements to premises	 4 - 10 years
•	•	 computer equipment		  3 - 5 yearscomputer equipment		  3 - 5 years
•	•	 other equipment 		  4 yearsother equipment 		  4 years
•	•	 fixtures and fittings		  10 yearsfixtures and fittings		  10 years
•	•	 motor vehicles			   5 years	motor vehicles			   5 years	

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting  
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recog-
nised in profit or loss.

1.9 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill or certain intangible assets, are not subject to amortisa-
tion and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment when-
ever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impair-
ment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash-generating 
units). The impairment test also can be performed on a single asset when the fair value less costs to sell or the value 
in use can be determined reliably. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

1.10 Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use, they are available for sale in their present condition and their sale 
is highly probable. Non-current assets classified as held for sale are generally measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses for any initial or subsequent write-down of an asset to fair 
value less costs to sell are recognised in profit or loss. Gains for any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell 
of an asset are recognised only up to the extent of the cumulative impairment loss recognised and are reflected within 
profit or loss.
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1.11 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense or credit for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to 
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In the latter case, the 
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end 
of the reporting period.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax lia-
bilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred income tax is not accounted for 
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the 
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax 
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected 
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be availa-
ble against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to 
settle the balances on a net basis.

1.12 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

1.13 Financial liabilities
The Bank recognises a financial liability on its statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractu-
al provisions of the instrument. The Bank’s financial liabilities, other than derivative financial liabilities (refer to Note 1.14), 
are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

These comprise principally amounts owed to financial institutions, amounts owed to customers, other payables and 
other liabilities.

1.14 Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments, including currency forwards and swaps, interest rate swaps and other derivative con-
tracts, are classified as held for trading derivatives unless designated as hedging instruments, and are initially recog-
nised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into, and are subsequently remeasured at their 
fair value. Fair values are obtained from valuation techniques for over-the-counter derivatives, including discounted 
cash flow models. Fair values for currency forwards and swaps are determined using forward exchange market rates at 
the end of the reporting period. Discounting techniques, reflecting the fact that the respective exchange or settlement 
will not occur until a future date, are used when the time value of money has a significant effect on the fair valuation of 
these instruments.
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Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised im-
mediately in profit or loss. If a derivative is not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, then all changes in its fair 
value are recognised immediately in profit or loss as a component of net trading income.

The Bank designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in qualifying hedging relationships. On initial designa-
tion of the hedge, the Bank formally documents the relationship between the hedging instrument/s and hedged item/s, 
including the risk management objective and strategy in undertaking the hedge, together with the method that will be 
used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The Bank makes an assessment, both at the inception of 
the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing basis, as to whether the hedging instrument/s is/are expected to be 
‘highly effective’ in offsetting the changes in the fair value of the respective hedged item/s during the period for which 
the hedge is designated, and whether the actual results of each hedge are within a range of 80-125 percent.

1.14.1 Fair value hedges
When a derivative is designated as a hedging instrument in a hedge of the change in fair value of a recognised asset 
or liability or a firm commitment that could affect profit or loss, changes in the fair value of the derivative are recog-
nised immediately in profit or loss together with changes in the fair value of the hedged item that are attributable to the 
hedged risk.

If the hedging derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or the hedge no longer meets the criteria for fair 
value hedge accounting, or the hedge designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively.

Any adjustment up to that point of discontinuation to a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used, is 
amortised to profit or loss as part of the recalculated effective interest rate of the item over its remaining life.

The Bank applies fair value hedge accounting to portfolio hedges of interest rate risk (macro hedging) under the EU 
carve-out version of IAS 39. The EU carve-out macro hedging rules enable a group of derivatives (or proportions) to be 
viewed in combination and jointly designated as the hedging instrument in the Bank’s macro fair value hedging model, 
and remove some of the limitations in fair value hedge accounting relating to hedging core deposits and under-hedging 
strategies. Under the EU carve-out, hedge accounting may be applied to core deposits and ineffectiveness only arises 
when the revised estimate of the amount of cash flows in scheduled time buckets falls below the designated amount 
of that bucket. The Bank applies fair value hedge accounting for portfolio hedges of interest rate risk (macro hedging) 
under the EU carve-out in respect of its retail operations after considering the duration gap between the mortgages 
and core deposits. The hedging activities are designated as a portfolio fair value hedge in respect of the mortgage 
book, being the hedged items. Changes in the fair value of the derivatives are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss, together with the basis adjustment in relation to the mortgages (hedged items) insofar as attributable to interest 
rate risk (the hedged risk).

The Bank establishes the hedging ratio by matching the notional of the derivatives with the principal of the portfolio 
being hedged. Possible sources of ineffectiveness are as follows:

•	•	 Differences between the expected and actual volume of prepayments, as the Bank hedges to the expected Differences between the expected and actual volume of prepayments, as the Bank hedges to the expected 
repayment date taking into account expected prepayments based on past experience;repayment date taking into account expected prepayments based on past experience;

•	•	 Difference in the discounting between the hedged item and the hedging instruments, as cash collateralised Difference in the discounting between the hedged item and the hedging instruments, as cash collateralised 
interest rate swaps are discounted using Overnight Indexed Swaps (OIS) discount curves, which are not applied interest rate swaps are discounted using Overnight Indexed Swaps (OIS) discount curves, which are not applied 
to the fixed rate mortgages;to the fixed rate mortgages;

•	•	 Hedging derivatives with a non-zero fair value at the date of initial designation as a hedging instrument; andHedging derivatives with a non-zero fair value at the date of initial designation as a hedging instrument; and
•	•	 Counterparty credit risk which impacts the fair value of uncollateralised interest rate swaps but not the hedged Counterparty credit risk which impacts the fair value of uncollateralised interest rate swaps but not the hedged 

items.items.
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Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or 
loss, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. 
The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging fixed interest loans and securities is 
recognised in profit or loss within interest income, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged fixed interest 
loans and securities attributable to interest rate risk.

The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is also recognised in profit or loss within interest income and disclosed 
separately. If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of 
a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity 
using a recalculated effective interest rate.

1.15 Provisions
Provisions for legal and other claims are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount 
has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using 
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obliga-
tion. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

1.16 Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within ‘interest income’ and 
‘interest expense’ in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the 
financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses.

Interest income and expense presented in the profit or loss include:
•	•	 interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost calculated using the effective interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost calculated using the effective 

interest method; andinterest method; and
•	•	 the effective portion of fair value changes attributable to qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value the effective portion of fair value changes attributable to qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value 

hedges of interest rate risk, together with changes in fair value of the hedged items attributable to interest rate hedges of interest rate risk, together with changes in fair value of the hedged items attributable to interest rate 
risk.risk.

Fair value changes attributable to other derivatives in hedging relationships which are discontinued are presented in 
‘net trading income’ with effect from the last date on which the hedge was demonstrated to be effective.	

Interest on credit-impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash 
flows for the purpose of measuring the credit loss allowance.

1.17 Fees and commissions
Fee and commission income and expenses that are an integral part of the effective interest rate on a financial asset 
or liability are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate and treated as part of interest income or interest 
expense.

Other fee and commission income, comprising account servicing fees, underwriting fees, investment management fees, 
foreign exchange fees, placement fees and syndication fees, are recognised in profit or loss as the related services are 
performed.
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Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and 
recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.

When a loan commitment is not expected to result in the drawdown of a loan, the related loan commitment fees are 
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the commitment period.

Fee and commission expense, relating mainly to transaction and service fees, is expensed as the services are received.

Consideration payable to customers, comprising incremental costs in the form of cash amounts that the Bank pays 
to wealth management customers, are incurred in acquiring new customer contracts. These costs are deferred within 
“Other assets” and subsequently recognised as an offset within fee and commission income, as follows:

•	•	 For customer contracts with a contractual fixed period, these costs are amortised over the contractual life.For customer contracts with a contractual fixed period, these costs are amortised over the contractual life.
•	•	 For customer contracts with no contractual fixed period, these costs are amortised over the estimated life of For customer contracts with no contractual fixed period, these costs are amortised over the estimated life of 

the contracts, which is reviewed periodically by reference to the Bank’s experience with attrition rates by wealth the contracts, which is reviewed periodically by reference to the Bank’s experience with attrition rates by wealth 
management customers.management customers.

1.18 Net trading income
Net trading income comprises all realised and unrealised foreign exchange differences and all fair value changes arising 
on derivatives held for trading, including derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments and derivatives 
that no longer meet the criteria for hedge accounting. 

1.19 Net income from other financial instruments carried at fair value through profit or loss
Net income from other financial instruments carried at fair value through profit or loss comprises all realised and unre-
alised fair value changes, interest income, dividends and foreign exchange differences attributable to financial assets 
carried at fair value through profit or loss. 

1.20 Leases
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is 
available for use by the Bank. Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. 
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the future lease payments. Lease payments to be made under reason-
ably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, 
which is generally the case for leases in the Bank, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the 
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use 
asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are generally comprising the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability and are gen-
erally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. In determining 
the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an 
extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only 
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

1.21 Share-based compensation	 							     
The Bank operates a deferred bonus plan in the form of a share-based compensation plan whereby selected officers 
or employees are awarded performance bonuses upon meeting specific performance conditions.

Together with upfront cash amounts, bonuses may comprise upfront share-linked awards and deferred share-linked 
awards. Share-linked awards consist of share-linked instruments in the form of a number of notional ordinary shares
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of MDB Group Limited computed by dividing the related portion of the bonus amount by the market value of these 
ordinary shares at award date. Share-linked award bonuses are eventually settled in cash on the settlement date (the 
expiry of the retention or delay period) on the basis of the market value of the ordinary shares of MDB Group Limited 
determined on the settlement date, multiplied by the number of notional shares computed on the date of award. De-
ferred share-linked awards attributable to retention bonuses are subject to a vesting period during which period the 
specific officer or employee must remain in employment for vesting to occur. Meanwhile, performance bonuses vest 
immediately, but are also subject to a deferral period. Therefore, both upfront and deferred share-linked awards are 
subject to a retention or delay period, for settlement purposes, post vesting.

Share-based compensation is recognised as an employee benefit expense from grant date over the relative vesting 
period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. The total amount to 
be expensed from grant date over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the awards at the 
grant date, reflecting the fair valuation of MDB Group Limited’s ordinary shares on award date. Accordingly, the Bank 
amortises on a straight-line basis the compensation cost arising on the grant of such awards over the nominal vesting 
period for employees based on the graded vesting of the plan. The resultant liability is re-measured at the end of each 
reporting period and at the date of settlement, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

1.22 Loan commitments
Loan commitments are the Bank’s commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions and are 
measured at the amount of the credit loss allowance (calculated as described in Note 1.5).

For loan commitments, the credit loss allowance is recognised as a provision. However, for contracts that include both a 
loan and an undrawn commitment and the Bank cannot separately identify the expected credit losses on the undrawn 
commitment component from those on the loan component, the expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment 
are recognised together with the credit loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the combined expected credit 
losses exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the expected credit losses are recognised as a provision.

1.23 Cash and cash equivalents	
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at face value less expected credit loss-
es. Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’ maturity from the date of acquisition,  
including cash in hand, unrestricted balances held with central banks, deposits held at call with financial institutions 
and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Amounts owed to financial institutions’ that are repayable on demand or have a contractual maturity of three months or 
less and which form an integral part of the Bank’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

1.24 Customer assets
Customer assets are held with the Bank in a fiduciary capacity and are segregated from the assets of the Bank in 
accordance with the applicable rules and regulations on protection of customer assets, except when such customer 
assets are held by the Bank to cover a required margin or when they are used to secure an obligation towards the Bank.

Customer assets are not presented within the Bank’s statement of financial position.
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2. Financial Risk Management 

2.1 Introduction and overview 
The Bank’s core business activities include: 

•	 deposit taking; 
•	 the provision of wealth management and investment services; 
•	 the granting of loans to international corporates; and 
•	 the granting of residential mortgage loans in the Dutch and Belgian markets, the granting of buy-to-let mort-

gages in the Dutch market and the relative securitisation of sub-portfolios of such Dutch residential mortgage 
loans through RMBS transactions. 

The Bank also provides basic retail services such as money transfer and spot currency exchange and as from January 
2024 its retail customers may also use the MeDirect debit card that may be used globally, wherever Mastercard is ac-
cepted. Currency swaps, foreign exchange forwards and interest rate swaps are also entered into for risk management 
purposes.

In respect of funding, the Bank continues to do securitisations of Dutch mortgages portfolios and to access the inter-
national wholesale funding markets through bilateral repo lines and the Eurex repo platform.

The major components within the Bank’s asset base are: the International Corporate Lending portfolio, comprising loans 
to international corporates; the Dutch Mortgage portfolio, comprising residential mortgage lending to Dutch customers; 
the Dutch buy-to-let mortgage portfolio; the Belgian Mortgage portfolio, comprising residential mortgage lending to 
Belgian customers; the Securities Investment portfolio principally comprising investment-grade debt securities; and 
the Securitisation Investment portfolio, comprising investments in Collateralised Loan Obligation (“CLO”) transactions 
managed by third party entities.	

The main risks assumed by the Bank are: (a) counterparty credit risk arising primarily from loans and advances to cus-
tomers, but also from other financial instruments; (b) liquidity risk arising from maturity mismatches and committed but 
undrawn revolving credit facilities; (c) market risk, including interest rate risk; and (d) operational risk, including cyber 
security related threats.

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing these risks and the Bank’s management of capital.

2.1.1 Risk management framework 
The Bank recognises the need to have an effective and efficient Risk Management Function that is an integral part 
of the Bank’s strategic planning and management processes and has therefore adopted a comprehensive enterprise 
risk management approach that provides a balance between growth and maximising profitability while managing the 
associated risks. The Risk Management Function is actively involved in all material strategic and business as usual risk 
management decisions and is adequately structured to deliver a holistic view of the whole range of risks faced by the 
Bank in its strategic decision-making.

The Risk Management Framework (“RMF”) provides a comprehensive definition of the Bank’s risk management pro-
cesses to enable informed risk-based decision-making. This framework provides a detailed structure as to how the 
Bank identifies, manages, measures and monitors material risks, including policies, procedures, risk limits and risk con-
trols. This ensures adequate, timely and continuous identification, measurement, assessment, monitoring, management, 
mitigation and reporting of the risks at the business line, institution and consolidated or sub-consolidated levels.	
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The Bank’s objective is to deploy an integrated risk management approach that ensures an awareness of, and account-
ability for, the risks taken throughout the Bank and also to develop the tools needed to address those risks.

Strong risk management and internal controls are core elements of the Bank’s strategy. The Bank has adopted a risk 
management and internal control structure, referred to as the Three Lines of Defence (Figure 1), to ensure it achieves 
its strategic objectives while meeting regulatory and legal requirements and fulfilling its responsibilities to shareholders, 
customers and staff.

In the three lines of defence model, business line management is the first line of defence (including those functions that 
are responsible for day-to-day operations and the Treasury function), the various risk control and compliance oversight 
functions established by management represent the second line of defence, and internal audit is the third.

Each of these three “lines” play a distinct role within the Bank’s wider governance framework. Although the Bank adopts 
a “three lines of defence” model, it is worth mentioning the additional interaction between the Bank and its external 
auditors and regulatory bodies adds further “lines of defence”, albeit they are not depended upon internally by the Bank 
to act in such capacities.

2.2 Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of loss to the Bank’s business or of adverse change in its financial position, resulting from fluctua-
tions in the credit standing of issuers of securities, customers, counterparties and any debtors in the form of default or 
other significant credit loss event (e.g. downgrade or spread widening).  

2.2.1 Management of credit risk 
The Bank’s Credit Policy establishes the principles, credit standards, monitoring and reporting requirements and esca-
lation and approval processes that govern the ongoing management of the Bank’s credit risk exposure. 

The Bank’s Board of Directors has defined risk appetite limits based on the Capital Requirements Regulation (“CRR”), 
Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential require-
ments for credit institutions and investment firms and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012, governing large expo-
sures as well as prudential requirements. Exposure limits are monitored on a regular basis by the Risk, Corporate Credit 
and Treasury teams.

*On occasions, the Legal team also performs duties within the first line of defence

Figure 1: Three Lines of Defence Model

Board of Directors

Board and Executive Committees

Senior Management

External Audit

Regulator

1st line of Defence
Business Line  

Management and Staff

2nd line of Defence
Risk Management;
Financial Control;

Compliance & Legal*

3rd line of Defence
Internal Audit
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Amongst other things, the Credit Policy for each asset class outlines the following specific exposure and trading limits:
•	 Concentration limits; 
•	 Country limits; 
•	 Portfolio limits; and 
•	 Minimum credit quality within each asset class.

Limits on counterparty exposures are established by the Bank’s Management Risk Committee (“MRC”) in line with 
the Credit Framework. Such limits relate to net exposure, after application of cash (and cash equivalent) collateral, as 
provided in industry-standard documentation, and are established to manage credit risk to banks and other financial 
institutions in connection with the Bank’s over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivative and repurchase agreement transactions. 
Settlement and delivery risk are mitigated with industry-standard documentation such as the Loan Management As-
sociation (“LMA”) and International Swaps and Derivative Association (“ISDA”) agreements, alongside associated Credit 
Support Annex (“CSA”) legal documents. Any bilateral secured financing transaction is executed under a signed Global 
Master Repurchase Agreement (“GMRA”) or an ISDA agreement.

The Bank’s objective is to manage its credit portfolios, maintaining a sound and prudent credit risk profile, whilst opti-
mising returns for the Bank. To facilitate achieving this target, the Bank invests in a diversified portfolio of financial as-
sets, including both high quality securities with strong ratings stability and a diversified portfolio of loans to corporates, 
whose higher returns are viewed as justifying a greater level of risk. In accordance with its business strategy, the Bank is 
de-risking its asset portfolio by reducing its exposure to the International Corporate Lending portfolio, with the portfolio 
size having been reduced by 14% over the last financial year.

Accordingly the Bank’s credit risk taking activities comprise principally lending to international corporate clients, clas-
sified under the International Corporate Lending portfolio; residential mortgage lending classified under the Dutch and 
Belgian Mortgage portfolios; investments in debt securities classified under the Securities Investment portfolio; and 
investments in CLO structures classified under the Securitisation Investment portfolio, which activities are described 
below.

The Bank is further diversifying its business through growth in a Dutch National Mortgage portfolio, which portfolio 
benefits from favourable credit risk weighting treatment as a result of the NHG provided under the Dutch national-guar-
anteed mortgage programme (the so called NHG mortgages); the growth of the Belgian retail mortgages and Dutch 
buy-to-let mortgages; and investments in AAA-rated CLO notes managed by third parties.

The Bank’s financial assets are managed on a portfolio basis, considering correlations between asset classes. The 
Bank diversifies its exposures to avoid excessive concentration in particular countries, industries or types of financial 
institutions through its risk appetite framework and statement.

All exposures classified under the International Corporate Lending and Securitisation Investment portfolios undergo a 
thorough analysis process, not only from an internal credit perspective but also from a legal, financial and credit ratings 
perspective.

The Bank’s Corporate Credit and Risk teams, which manage the credit analysis and research process, are composed 
of highly trained individuals with specialised skill sets and years of experience in Corporate Syndicated Loans markets. 
The credit analysis and research process includes scenario analysis on investments to determine whether they can 
withstand significant adverse credit, idiosyncratic and market events. Additionally, the portfolio is subject to a continual, 
thorough monitoring and oversight process to identify any financial instruments which require increased monitoring of 
performance. Further details on the credit approval and monitoring processes are provided within the Group’s Pillar 3 
Disclosures report available in the following webpage: https://www.medirect.com.mt/about-us/investor-relations.
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As referred to previously, the Bank also has a Dutch and Belgian mortgage business line. The Dutch national-guaran-
teed mortgage business line benefits from a private non-profit fund guarantee and government guarantee (indirectly), 
credit risk is deemed to be low. The residual credit risk arising therefrom is managed by the Bank’s Credit and Risk 
teams. On a regular basis a sample file review is performed by the Business and Credit Teams with the Risk and Com-
pliance Teams shadowing the process. A number of mortgages that would have been originated in the prior months are 
selected, some of which are subject to a detailed and complete file review with the remaining subject to a high-level 
review. Emphasis is placed on NHG compliance, the borrower’s labour situation and income as well as on the veracity 
of the collateral valuation. Furthermore, meetings are held on a regular basis in which the Dutch economy, Dutch mort-
gage market, NHG developments and the snapshot of the credit risk profile of the portfolio is discussed, by reference to 
risk appetite limits, internal credit classification of the current portfolio along with the development of the staging and 
expected credit losses of the portfolio.

Credit risk involved in both the Dutch buy-to-let activity as well as the Belgian mortgage activity differs from Dutch 
mortgages as they do not benefit from a third-party guarantee. Every application undergoes a thorough screening 
based on a predefined set of criteria. If one or more requirements is not met, credit files are reviewed by a Joint Credit 
Committee, comprised by MeDirect Belgium’s Business and Risk delegation. To check the exhaustive and correct ap-
plication of predefined criteria, regular sample checks are organised on both data collected as well as assessments 
performed. Moreover, regular controls are put in place to confirm the adequacy of processes, staffing, systems and 
controls by 2nd and 3rd line of defence.	

The Treasury function is responsible for managing the Securities investment portfolio, overseen by the risk function, 
under the oversight of the Management Credit Committee (“MCC”) and the Board Risk and Compliance Committee. 
The Bank focuses on acquiring debt securities meeting the criteria of high-quality liquid assets (“HQLA”). Permitted 
assets in this portfolio include covered bonds issued by governments (including regional governments), agencies and 
supranational institutions, as well as securities issued by financial institutions and other securities issued by financial 
institutions (some of which may carry a government guarantee).	

The Bank focuses on the quality and timeliness of the data used to inform management decisions. In particular, en-
hanced credit risk monitoring is applied within the International Corporate Loan portfolio.

The Bank adopts a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) approach for determining specific expected credit losses in respect of 
non-performing exposures within the ICL portfolio, whereby the Enterprise Value (“EV”) of borrowers is prudently deter-
mined by reference to expected future cash flows under different scenarios over the upcoming three-year period. The 
projected cash flows used recent management information for each borrower as the starting point. Expert judgement 
is then applied to determine the cashflows under base and downside scenarios. This methodology enables the Bank to 
take a view of the steady state cashflows of borrowers over the short to medium term, after which point a terminal value 
is estimated. The recoverable amount under each scenario is therefore estimated by reference to the EV, plus available 
cash, less exit fees, discounted using the borrowers individually estimated weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”), 
which is determined using multiple assumptions in respect of both the cost of debt and cost of equity. An element of 
prudence is also built in the WACC calculation for each borrower.

The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk from on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet finan-
cial instruments, before taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. For financial assets recog-
nised on balance sheet, the maximum exposure to credit risk equals their carrying amount. For loan commitments and 
other credit-related commitments, it is generally the full amount of the committed facilities.
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For the purposes of Note 2.2 – Credit risk, amounts related to “Investments measured at amortised cost” are inclusive 
of basis adjustments attributable to the hedged risk.

2023 2022

€000 €000

Net exposure:
Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Balances with central banks 176,654 107,483

Loans and advances to financial institutions 306,542 313,151

Loans and advances to customers 2,342,469 1,870,908

- International Corporate Lending portfolio 166,144 192,179

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio 2,104,568 1,818,002

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio 254,937 132,000

- IFRS basis adjustment: Mortgage portfolio (183,180) (271,273)

Investments measured at amortised cost 868,848 804,515

- Securities portfolio 422,916 389,479

- Securitisation portfolio 445,932 415,036

Accrued income 16,622 9,747

Loans to related parties (included in other assets) 6,870 30,765

Other receivables (included in other assets) 161 128

Other assets (included in other assets) 25,952 24,022

3,744,118 3,160,719

Instruments mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 207,438 356,156

- Held for trading derivative financial instruments 198  757

- Held for risk management derivative financial instruments 207,240 354,580

- Investments - Securities portfolio -  819

3,951,556 3,516,875

Commitments to extend credit and other commitments 153,312 236,296
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       2023       2022

Gross carrying/ 
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Gross carrying/
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

€000 €000 €000 €000

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Balances with central banks 176,655 (1) 107,484 (1)

Loans and advances to financial institutions 306,542 -  313,151 -  

Loans and advances to customers 2,345,203 (2,734) 1,874,168 (3,260)

- International Corporate Lending portfolio 168,240 (2,096) 195,125 (2,946)

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio 2,104,853 (285) 1,818,186 (184)

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio 255,290 (353) 132,130 (130)

- IFRS basis adjustment: Mortgage portfolio (183,180) -  (271,273) -  

Investments measured at amortised cost 868,925 (77) 804,615 (100)

- Securities portfolio 422,948 (32) 389,537 (58)

- Securitisation portfolio 445,977 (45) 415,078 (42)

Accrued income 16,644 (22) 9,765 (18)

Loans to related parties (included in other assets) 6,870 -  30,765 -  

Other receivables (included in other assets) 161 -  128 -  

Other assets (included in other assets) 25,952 -  24,022 -  

3,746,952 (2,834) 3,164,098 (3,379)

Commitments to extend credit and other commitments 153,392 (80) 236,448 (152)

Total 3,900,344 (2,914) 3,400,546 (3,531)

Summary of financial instruments to which the impairment requirements in IFRS 9 are applied
The following disclosures present the gross carrying/nominal amount of financial instruments measured at amortised 
cost to which the impairment requirements in IFRS 9 are applied and the associated credit loss allowances, as well as 
the fair value of financial instruments measured at FVOCI and the associated credit loss allowances. 

The following table contains an analysis of the maximum credit risk exposure from financial assets not subject  
to impairment.

2023 2022

€000 €000

Instruments mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss

- Held for trading derivative financial instruments 198 757

- Held for risk management derivative financial instruments 207,240 354,580

- Investments - Securities portfolio -  819

Total 207,438 356,156
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2.2.2 Summary of credit quality of financial assets to which impairment requirements in IFRS 9 are 
applied 
The Bank’s credit risk rating processes are designed to highlight exposures which require closer management attention 
because of their perceived greater probability of default and potential loss.

As previously explained in the accounting policy (refer to Note 1.5), the Bank adopts a five-point internal credit clas-
sification rating scale in order to assess the relative credit quality of exposures within its portfolios of financial instru-
ments. In this respect, the members of the respective Management Credit Committees review the grading proposed 
by the business and the Bank’s Credit Risk teams. Each of the five internal credit classification ratings within the scale 
is aligned to the Bank’s approach for determining the relative staging of financial assets in line with the requirements 
emanating from IFRS 9 as follows:

Stage 1 (Performing) 
1. Regular - no material credit concerns. 
2. Focus - no immediate prospect that a credit loss will ultimately be suffered, but worthy of close credit oversight. 

Stage 2 (Underperforming) 
3. Under Surveillance - significant increase in credit risk with identified concerns and some prospect that a credit loss 
may ultimately be suffered. 

Stage 3 (Non-performing) 
4. Doubtful - it is likely that the contractual terms of the debt will not be met and that a credit loss will be suffered. 
5. Write-off - full or partial write-down of exposures with little prospect of recovery. 

The financial assets recorded in each stage have the following characteristics: 
•	 Stage 1: Non credit-impaired and without significant increase in credit risk on which a 12-month ECL is recog-

nised (Regular and Focus internal classifications)
•	 Stage 2: A significant increase in credit risk has been experienced since initial recognition on which a lifetime 

ECL is recognised (Under Surveillance internal classification) 
•	 Stage 3: Objective evidence of impairment and are therefore considered to be in default or otherwise credit- 

impaired on which a lifetime specific ECL is recognised (Doubtful and Write-off internal classifications) 

Deteriorating Credits 
The Bank determines that a financial instrument is credit-impaired and in Stage 3 by considering relevant objective 
evidence, primarily whether: 

•	 contractual payments of either principal or interest are past due by more than 90 days; 
•	 there are other indications that the borrower is unlikely to pay, such as when a concession has been granted to 

the borrower for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial condition; and 
•	 the loan is otherwise considered to be in default. 

Credit impaired loans and advances are those that are classified as “Doubtful” or “Write-off”. These grades are assigned 
when the Bank considers that either the customer is unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full, without recourse to se-
curity, or when the customer is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation to the Bank. If unlikeliness 
to pay is not identified at an earlier stage, it is deemed to occur when an exposure is more than 90 days past due.

The Bank is required to identify non-performing exposures (“NPEs”) and to assess the recoverability of the recognised 
exposures. 
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The principal guidance on the definition of NPEs, as referred to the EBA publication “Guidelines on management of 
non-performing and forborne exposures“ EBA/GL/2018/06 which specify sound risk management practices for credit 
institutions for managing non-performing exposures (NPEs), forborne exposures (“FBEs”) and foreclosed assets.

According to the EBA International Technical Standards on supervisory reporting, “non-performing exposures” are 
those that satisfy either or both of the following criteria:
a) material exposures which are more than 90 days past-due; and
b) the debtor is assessed as unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full without realisation of collateral, regardless of the 
existence of any past-due amount or of the number of days past due.

Assessment is made at an obligor (rather than facility) level. This implies that in those cases where a particular debtor 
has multiple facilities with the Bank, the Bank considers whether there are indications of unlikeliness to pay at the level 
of the debtor, irrespective of the different levels of losses that can be incurred in respect of the different facilities result-
ing from different levels of seniority.

Therefore, the definitions of credit-impaired is aligned as far as possible to the regulatory definition of ‘non-perform-
ing’ so that Stage 3 represents all loans that are considered defaulted or otherwise credit impaired. For further clarity, 
exposures in respect of which a “default” is considered to have occurred, and exposures that have been found “credit 
impaired” in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, shall always be considered as “non-performing exposures”.

As described in more detail in section 1.5 of the financial statements, the Bank’s staging assessment in respect of 
exposures classified within the International Corporate Lending portfolio takes into consideration both qualitative and 
quantitative criteria.

The impact on borrowers’ financial performance of post COVID-19 pandemic headwinds and the macroeconomic im-
pacts of the Ukraine-Russia and Israel-Gaza conflicts, seeing increased cost inflation, energy inflation and interest rate 
rises on the financial performance of borrowers within the Bank’s lending portfolios, is captured within the quantitative 
assessment determined within the Bank’s IFRS 9 model, since it is taken into account within the macro-economic 
scenarios used to determine the probability weighted ECL, as well as in the lifetime PiT PDs at reporting date used to 
determine SICR by comparing the magnitude of the difference between the corresponding reporting date implied rating 
and the origination date implied rating.

The Bank exercises a degree of caution in respect of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has oc-
curred since origination. In this respect, management has introduced certain caps/notch downgrades to the implied 
ratings assigned to borrowers within the International Corporate Lending portfolio that have undergone significant 
restructuring to reflect an increased level of credit risk since origination. Notch downgrades were also applied to ex-
posures that have qualitatively been considered ‘under surveillance’, due to management’s concerns that credit losses 
may potentially be incurred in the future.

As described in more detail in section 1.5 of the financial statements, the staging criteria applied in respect of exposures 
classified within the Dutch Mortgage portfolio are based on credit deterioration indicators such as delinquency levels, 
forbearance activity and changes in PDs modelled by an external vendor on the basis of forecasted macro-economic 
scenarios which are revised to reflect the elevated level of economic uncertainty driven by the military conflict between 
Russia and Ukraine and between Israel and Hamas and the high interest rates as explained in more detail in Note 2.2.7 
- ‘Current Conditions and Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model’. In this regard, the staging criteria 
are still deemed to be appropriate, with the impact of these conflicts on the credit risk profile of the Dutch Mortgage 
portfolio being captured in the modelling of PDs. Through climate-adjusted scenarios and a statistical model sourced 
from an external vendor the Bank estimates the climate-adjusted credit loss allowances of its exposures classified 
within Dutch Mortgages portfolio.
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Exposures within the Securities Investment and Securitisation Investment portfolios are typically rated. Publicly rated 
exposures predominantly meet the definition of investment-grade rating and, in this respect, are considered to have low 
credit risk. A SICR assessment is only performed in respect of exposures to which a sub-investment-grade rating has 
been attributed.	

The following table presents information about the credit quality of financial assets held by the Bank to which the im-
pairment requirements in IFRS 9 are applied:

              Performing
Under  

performing
Non-  

performing

Regular Focus
Under  

surveillance Doubtful Total

As at 31 December 2023 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

On balance sheet at amortised cost:

Balances with central banks 176,654 -  -  -  176,654

Gross 176,655 -  -  -  176,655

Credit loss allowances (1) -  -  -  (1)

Loans and advances to financial institutions 306,542 -  -  -  306,542

Gross 306,542 -  -  -  306,542

Credit loss allowances -  -  -  -  -  

Loans and advances to customers 2,214,772 99,217 25,124 3,356 2,342,469

- International Corporate Lending portfolio 85,184 67,294 11,103 2,563 166,144

Gross 85,986 67,922 11,487 2,845 168,240

Credit loss allowances (802) (628) (384) (282) (2,096)

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio 2,091,229 3,080 9,962 297 2,104,568

Gross 2,091,365 3,080 10,107 301 2,104,853

Credit loss allowances (136) -  (145) (4) (285)

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio 221,539 28,843 4,059 496 254,937

Gross 221,761 28,870 4,105 554 255,290

Credit loss allowances (222) (27) (46) (58) (353)

- IFRS basis adjustment: Mortgage portfolio (183,180) -  -  -  (183,180)

Investments measured at amortised costInvestments measured at amortised cost 868,848 -  -  -  868,848

- Securities portfolio 422,916 -  -  -  422,916

Gross 422,948 -  -  -  422,948

Credit loss allowances (32) -  -  -  (32)

- Securitisation portfolio 445,932 -  -  -  445,932

Gross 445,977 -  -  -  445,977

Credit loss allowances (45) -  -  -  (45)

Accrued income 15,504 978 111 29 16,622

Gross 15,514 985 114 31 16,644

Credit loss allowances (10) (7) (3) (2) (22)

Loans to related parties (included in other assets) 6,870 -  -  -  6,870

Other receivables (included in other assets) 161 -  -  -  161

Other assets (included in other assets) 25,952 -  -  -  25,952

3,615,303 100,195 25,235 3,385 3,744,118

Off balance sheet at nominal amount:

Commitments to extend credit and other commitments

Nominal amount 145,132 8,007 253 -  153,392

Credit loss allowances (18) (61) (1) -  (80)

145,114 7,946 252 -  153,312
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              Performing
Under  

performing
Non-  

performing

Regular Focus
Under  

surveillance Doubtful Total

As at 31 December 2022 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

On balance sheet at amortised cost:

Balances with central banks 107,483 -  -  -  107,483

Gross 107,484 -  -  -  107,484

Credit loss allowances (1) -  -  -  (1)

Loans and advances to financial institutions 313,151 -  -  -  313,151

Gross 313,151 -  -  -  313,151

Credit loss allowances -  -  -  -  -  

Loans and advances to customers 1,763,367 80,361 26,681 499 1,870,908

- International Corporate Lending portfolio 117,531 56,514 18,134 -  192,179

Gross 118,967 57,258 18,900 -  195,125

Credit loss allowances (1,436) (744) (766) -  (2,946)

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio 1,809,918 810 6,775 499 1,818,002

Gross 1,810,024 810 6,846 506 1,818,186

Credit loss allowances (106) -  (71) (7) (184)

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio 107,191 23,037 1,772 -  132,000

Gross 107,286 23,056 1,788 -  132,130

Credit loss allowances (95) (19) (16) -  (130)

- IFRS basis adjustment: Mortgage portfolio (271,273) -  -  -  (271,273)

Investments measured at amortised costInvestments measured at amortised cost 804,515 -  -  -  804,515

- Securities portfolio 389,479 -  -  -  389,479

Gross 389,537 -  -  -  389,537

Credit loss allowances (58) -  -  -  (58)

- Securitisation portfolio 415,036 -  -  -  415,036

Gross 415,078 -  -  -  415,078

Credit loss allowances (42) -  -  -  (42)

Accrued income 8,984 632 131 -  9,747

Gross 8,989 640 136 -  9,765

Credit loss allowances (5) (8) (5) -  (18)

Loans to related parties (included in other assets) 30,765 -  -  -  30,765

Other receivables (included in other assets) 128 -  -  -  128

Other assets (included in other assets) 24,022 -  -  -  24,022

3,052,415 80,993 26,812 499 3,160,719

Off balance sheet at nominal amount:

Commitments to extend credit and other commitments

Nominal amount 225,529 9,152 1,767 -  236,448

Credit loss allowances (56) (84) (12) -  (152)

225,473 9,068 1,755 -  236,296
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For securities within both the Securities Investment and Securitisation Investment portfolios, the Bank’s credit quality 
classifications encompass a range of more granular external rating grades attributed by external agencies to debt se-
curities. The following table illustrates this information:

These portfolios are also categorised under the five credit quality classifications used by the Bank (i.e. regular, focus, 
under surveillance, doubtful and write-off) and these ratings are determined by the Management Credit Committee. 

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the investments in the Securities Investment portfolio and the Securitisation 
Investment portfolio are classified as regular.

                         Measured at amortised cost

2023 2022

€000 €000

Securities Investment portfolio

National and regional government securities, supranationals and agencies

AAA 252,364 262,090

AA+ to AA- 135,740 127,389

A- to BBB- 34,812 -  

422,916 389,479

Securitisation Investment portfolio

AAA 445,932 415,036

Total 868,848 804,515
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2.2.3 Detailed information on credit quality of financial assets 
The following table provides an overview of the Bank’s credit risk by stage and business segment, and the associated 
ECL coverage. 

Summary of credit risk (excluding financial instruments not subject to impairment requirements) by stage distribution 
and ECL coverage 

Gross carrying/nominal amount Credit loss allowance ECL coverage %

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 % % % %

As at 31 December 2023

On balance sheet at amortised 
cost:

Balances with central banks 176,655 -  -  176,655 (1) -  -  (1) - -  -  -  

Loans and advances to financial 
institutions 306,542 -  -  306,542 - -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Loans and advances to  
customers

- International Corporate Lending 
portfolio 153,908 11,487 2,845 168,240 (1,430) (384) (282) (2,096) 0.9 3.3 9.9 1.2

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio 2,094,445 10,107 301 2,104,853 (136) (145) (4) (285) - 1.4 1.3 -

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio 250,631 4,105 554 255,290 (249) (46) (58) (353) 0.1 1.1 10.5 0.1

- IFRS basis adjustment:  
Mortgage portfolio (183,180) -  -  (183,180) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Investments

- Securities portfolio 422,948 -  -  422,948 (32) -  -  (32) -  -  -  -  

- Securitisation portfolio 445,977 -  -  445,977 (45) -  -  (45) - - - -

Accrued income 16,499 114 31 16,644 (17) (3) (2) (22) 0.1 2.6 6.5 0.1

Loans to related parties (included 
in other assets) 6,870 -  -  6,870 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Other receivables (included in 
other assets) 161 -  -  161 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Other assets (included in other 
assets) 25,952 -  -  25,952 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Off balance sheet at nominal 
amount:

Commitments to extend credit 
and other commitments 153,139 253 -  153,392 (79) (1) -  (80) 0.1 0.4 - 0.1

3,870,547 26,066 3,731 3,900,344 (1,989) (579) (346) (2,914) 0.1 2.2 9.3 0.1
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Gross carrying/nominal amount Credit loss allowance ECL coverage %

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 % % % %

As at 31 December 2022

On balance sheet at amortised 
cost:

Balances with central banks 107,484 -  -  107,484 (1) -  -  (1) - -  -  -  

Loans and advances to financial 
institutions 313,151 -  -  313,151 - -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Loans and advances to  
customers

- International Corporate Lending 
portfolio 176,225 18,900 -  195,125 (2,180) (766) -  (2,946) 1.2 4.1 - 1.5

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio 1,810,834 6,846 506 1,818,186 (106) (71) (7) (184) - 1.0 1.4 -

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio 130,342 1,788 -  132,130 (114) (16) -  (130) 0.1 0.9 - 0.1

- IFRS basis adjustment:  
Mortgage portfolio (271,273) -  -  (271,273) -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Investments

- Securities portfolio 389,537 -  -  389,537 (58) -  -  (58) -  -  -  -  

- Securitisation portfolio 415,078 -  -  415,078 (42) -  -  (42) - - - -

Accrued income 9,629 136 -  9,765 (13) (5) -  (18) 0.1 3.7 - 0.2

Loans to related parties (included 
in other assets) 30,765 -  -  30,765 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Other receivables (included in 
other assets) 128 -  -  128 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Other assets (included in other 
assets) 24,022 -  -  24,022 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Off balance sheet at nominal 
amount:

Commitments to extend credit 
and other commitments 234,681 1,767 -  236,448 (140) (12) -  (152) 0.1 0.7 - 0.1

3,370,603 29,437 506 3,400,546 (2,654) (870) (7) (3,531) 0.1 3.0 1.4 0.1

An exposure is “past due” when any amount of principal, interest or fee has not been paid on the date it was due. Past 
due but not credit-impaired loans are those loans and advances for which contractual interest or principal payments 
are past due but do not meet the Bank’s criteria for “credit-impaired” as outlined in the Three stage expected credit loss 
(ECL) approach.

The Bank does not have any exposures forming part of the International Corporate Lending, Securities Investment and 
Securitisation Investment portfolios which are past due but not credit impaired. Past due but not credit-impaired facil-
ities are attributable to the Dutch Mortgage portfolio, representing residential mortgage exposures to households and 
individuals domiciled in the Netherlands, as well as the Belgian Mortgage portfolio, representing residential mortgage 
exposures to households and individuals domiciled in Belgium.

Unless identified at an earlier stage, all financial assets are deemed to have experienced a significant increase in credit 
risk when they are more than 30 days past due. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, no exposures within the Securities 
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Gross exposure Credit loss allowance

Stage 2
Of which up  

to 30 DPD
Of which more 

than 30 DPD Stage 2
Of which up  

to 30 DPD
Of which more  

than 30 DPD

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2023

Dutch Mortgage portfolio

- Loans and advances to customers 10,107 7,387 2,720 (145) (48) (97)

Belgian Mortgage portfolio

- Loans and advances to customers 4,105 896 3,209 (46) (11) (35)

14,212 8,283 5,929 (191) (59) (132)

Gross exposure Credit loss allowance

Stage 2
Of which up  

to 30 DPD
Of which more 

than 30 DPD Stage 2
Of which up  

to 30 DPD
Of which more  

than 30 DPD

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2022

Dutch Mortgage portfolio

- Loans and advances to customers 6,846 5,667 1,179 (71) (1) (70)

Belgian Mortgage portfolio

- Loans and advances to customers 1,788 352 1,436 (16) (8) (8)

8,634 6,019 2,615 (87) (9) (78)

Investment and Securitisation Investment portfolios were classified as Stage 2. None of the Stage 2 exposures within 
the International Corporate Lending portfolio were past due as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.	

In this regard, the following disclosure only presents the ageing of Stage 2 financial assets in the Dutch and Belgian 
Mortgage portfolios. It distinguishes between those assets that are classified as Stage 2 when they are either not past 
due or up to 30 days past due from those that are classified as Stage 2 due to ageing and are more than 30 days past 
due (>30 DPD). Past due financial instruments are those loans where customers have failed to make payments in ac-
cordance with the contractual terms of their facilities. As at 31 December 2023, Stage 1 exposures with a gross carrying 
amount of €3.1 million (2022: €0.7 million) and €28.9 million (2022: €23.1 million) classified within the Dutch Mortgage 
and Belgian Mortgage portfolios respectively, were classified as past due but not credit-impaired.
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Gross carrying amount/nominal amount

Regular Focus
Under  

surveillance Doubtful Total
Credit loss  
allowance Net

As at 31 December 2023 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

On balance sheet at amortised cost:

Balances with central banks 176,655 -  -  -  176,655 (1) 176,654

Loans and advances to financial institutions 306,542 -  -  -  306,542 -  306,542

Loans and advances to customers

- International Corporate Lending portfolio

Stage 1 85,986 67,922 -  -  153,908 (1,430) 152,478

Stage 2 -  -  11,487 -  11,487 (384) 11,103

Stage 3 -  -  -  2,845 2,845 (282) 2,563

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio

Stage 1 2,091,365 3,080 -  -  2,094,445 (136) 2,094,309

Stage 2 -  -  10,107 -  10,107 (145) 9,962

Stage 3 -  -  -  301 301 (4) 297

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio

Stage 1 221,761 28,870 -  -  250,631 (249) 250,382

Stage 2 -  -  4,105 -  4,105 (46) 4,059

Stage 3 -  -  -  554 554 (58) 496

- IFRS basis adjustment: Mortgage portfolio (183,180) -  -  -  (183,180) -  (183,180)

Investments measured at amortised cost

- Securities portfolio

Stage 1 422,948 -  -  -  422,948 (32) 422,916

- Securitisation portfolio

Stage 1 445,977 -  -  -  445,977 (45) 445,932

Accrued income

Stage 1 15,514 985 -  -  16,499 (17) 16,482

Stage 2 -  -  114 -  114 (3) 111

Stage 3 -  -  -  31 31 (2) 29

Loans to related parties (included in other assets)

Stage 1 6,870 -  -  -  6,870 -  6,870

Other receivables (included in other assets)

Stage 1 161 -  -  -  161 -  161

Other assets (included in other assets)

Stage 1 25,952 -  -  -  25,952 -  25,952

Off balance sheet at nominal amount:

Commitments to extend credit and other commitments

Stage 1 145,132 8,007 -  -  153,139 (79) 153,060

Stage 2 -  -  253 -  253 (1) 252

3,761,683 108,864 26,066 3,731 3,900,344 (2,914) 3,897,460

Distribution of financial instruments to which the impairment requirements in IFRS 9 are applied, by credit quality and 
stage distribution 
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Gross carrying amount/nominal amount

Regular Focus
Under  

surveillance Doubtful Total
Credit loss  
allowance Net

As at 31 December 2022 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

On balance sheet at amortised cost:

Balances with central banks 107,484 -  -  -  107,484 (1) 107,483

Loans and advances to financial institutions 313,151 -  -  -  313,151 -  313,151

Loans and advances to customers

- International Corporate Lending portfolio

Stage 1 118,967 57,258 -  -  176,225 (2,180) 174,045

Stage 2 -  -  18,900 -  18,900 (766) 18,134

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio

Stage 1 1,810,024 810 -  -  1,810,834 (106) 1,810,728

Stage 2 -  -  6,846 -  6,846 (71) 6,775

Stage 3 -  -  -  506 506 (7) 499

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio

Stage 1 107,286 23,056 -  -  130,342 (114) 130,228

Stage 2 -  -  1,788 -  1,788 (16) 1,772

- IFRS basis adjustment: Mortgage portfolio (271,273) -  -  -  (271,273) -  (271,273)

Investments measured at amortised cost

- Securities portfolio

Stage 1 389,537 -  -  -  389,537 (58) 389,479

- Securitisation portfolio

Stage 1 415,078 -  -  -  415,078 (42) 415,036

Accrued income

Stage 1 8,989 640 -  -  9,629 (13) 9,616

Stage 2 -  -  136 -  136 (5) 131

Loans to related parties (included in other assets)

Stage 1 30,765 -  -  -  30,765 -  30,765

Other receivables (included in other assets)

Stage 1 128 -  -  -  128 -  128

Other assets (included in other assets)

Stage 1 24,022 -  -  -  24,022 -  24,022

Off balance sheet at nominal amount:

Commitments to extend credit and other commitments

Stage 1 225,529 9,152 -  -  234,681 (140) 234,541

Stage 2 -  -  1,767 -  1,767 (12) 1,755

3,279,687 90,916 29,437 506 3,400,546 (3,531) 3,397,015
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Reconciliation of changes in gross carrying/nominal amount and credit loss allowances for loans and ad-
vances to customers, including accrued income, and other credit-related commitments. 

The following disclosure provides a reconciliation by stage of the Bank’s gross carrying/nominal amounts and credit 
loss allowances for loans and advances to customers for the International Corporate Lending portfolio, including cred-
it-related commitments. On-balance sheet exposures are shown at their gross carrying amounts whereas off-balance 
sheet exposures are shown at their nominal amounts.

Within the following tables the line items “New business” and “Repayments and disposals” represent movements within 
the Bank’s International Corporate Lending portfolio in respect of gross carrying/nominal amounts and associated 
credit loss allowances. “New business” represents new lending sanctioned during the financial year. Meanwhile, “Re-
payments and disposals” reflect loan repayments and disposals that occurred during the financial year, which however 
relate to loans that would only have existed on the Bank’s balance sheet as at the end of the preceding financial report-
ing period. Accordingly, repayments and disposals relating to loans sanctioned during the financial reporting period are 
netted off against new lending included within “New business”.

The line item “Transfers of financial instruments” represents the impact of stage transfers on gross carrying/nominal 
amounts and associated credit loss allowances determined as at the end of the financial reporting period. The line 
item “Net re-measurement of ECL arising from stage transfers and changes in risk parameters, including climate risk” 
represents the increase or decrease in credit loss allowances due to modified measurement basis from 12-month to 
lifetime in relation to stage transfers. It also includes the effects of changes in other expected credit loss measurement 
factors and model parameters such as, but not limited to, changes in time to maturity of assets; changes in underlying 
credit ratings; changes in measurement of loss given default and changes in respect of multiple economic scenarios. 
Finally, this line item also comprises the increase in ECL in respect of assets written off during the period measured as 
the movement between 1 January and the date of write-off.

The decrease in credit loss allowances in the financial year ended 31 December 2023 was principally driven by the gen-
eral improvement in financial condition experienced by borrowers within the portfolio, leading to significant repayments 
and in turn a decrease in ECLs of €0.9 million.

The increase in credit loss allowances in the financial year ended 31 December 2022 was principally due to the in-
creased uncertainty of the wider economy which negatively impacted the off-set between acquisitions and repayments, 
and in turn an increase in ECLs of €0.5 million.

As per the table below, net exposures amounting to €2.9 million were transferred out of Stage 1 into Stages 2 or 3 
during the year (2022: nil), with net transfers to Stage 3 amounting to €2.9 million (2022: nil). The net remeasurement 
of ECLs reflects the increase in PDs and LGDs driven by point-in-time economic adjustments and more pessimistic 
forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios being forecasted in the modelling of ECLs. As explained in more detail in 
Note 2.2.7 – ‘Current Conditions and Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model’, the Bank deemed 
that forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios now appropriately reflected the uncertainty within the widereconomy 
and reflects this increase in PDs and LGDs.
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The table below provides a reconciliation of movements in gross carrying/nominal amounts and credit loss allowances, 
by stage, for the International Corporate Lending portfolio.   

Non-credit impaired Credit impaired Total

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Gross carrying/ 
nominal amount

Credit  
loss  

allowance
Gross carrying/ 
nominal amount

Credit 
loss  

allowance
Gross carrying/
nominal amount

Credit  
loss  

allowance
Gross carrying/
nominal amount

Credit  
loss  

allowance

Year ended  
31 December 2023 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

International Corporate
Lending portfolio

At beginning of year 190,569 (2,295) 20,741 (783) -  -  211,310 (3,078)

Repayments and disposals (23,973) 143 (9,000) 67 (26) 1 (32,999) 211

Transfers of financial instru-
ments

- Transfers to Stage 3 (2,895) 38 -  -  2,895 (38) -  -  

Net remeasurement of ECL
arising from stage transfers
and changes in risk param-
eters, including climate risk

- 607 - 326 -  (247) -  686

At end of year 163,701 (1,507) 11,741 (390) 2,869 (284) 178,311 (2,181)

ECL released for the year 897

Change in expected credit 
losses and other credit 
impairment charges for the 
year

897

                As at 31 December 2023
Year ended  

31 December 2023

Gross carrying/ 
nominal amount Credit loss allowance ECL release/(charge)

€000 €000 €000

As per preceding table 178,311 (2,181) 897

Balances at central banks 176,655 (1) -  

Loans and advances to financial institutions 306,542 -  -  

Loans and advances to customers

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio: drawn exposures 2,104,853 (285) (101)

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio: undrawn commitments 94,503 (3) 1

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio: drawn exposures 255,290 (353) (223)

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio: undrawn commitments 28,722 (15) 19

Investments measured at amortised cost

- Securities portfolio 422,948 (32) 26

- Securitisation portfolio 445,977 (45) (3)

Other accrued income (excl. International Corporate Lending 
portfolio) 14,740 -  -  

Summary of financial instruments to which the impairment 
requirements in IFRS 9 are applied through profit or loss 4,028,541 (2,915) 616

Total credit loss allowance/total income statement ECL 
charge for the year (2,915) 616
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The table below provides a reconciliation of movements in gross carrying/nominal amounts and credit loss allowances 
by stage for the International Corporate Lending portfolio for the financial year ended 31 December 2022: 

Non-credit impaired Credit impaired Total

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Gross carrying/ 
nominal  
amount

Credit  
loss  

allowance

Gross carrying/ 
nominal  
amount

Credit 
loss  

allowance
Gross carrying/
nominal amount

Credit  
loss  

allowance

Gross carrying/
nominal  
amount

Credit  
loss  

allowance

Year ended 31 December 2022 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

International Corporate
Lending portfolio

At beginning of year 194,637 (945) 41,906 (1,447) 1,811 (235) 238,354 (2,627)

New business 78,164 (1,095) -  -  -  -  78,164 (1,095)

Repayments and disposals (92,458) 537 (12,750) 272 -  -  (105,208) 809

Transfers of financial  
instruments

- Transfers from Stage 2 to 
Stage 1 10,226 (355) (10,226) 355 -  -  -  -  

- Transfers to Stage 3 -  -  1,811 (235) (1,811) 235 -  -  

Net remeasurement of ECL
arising from stage transfers
and changes in risk parameters, 
including climate risk

- (437) - - - - -  (165)

At end of year 190,569 (2,295) 20,741 (783) - - 211,310 (3,078)

ECL charged for the year (451)

Other (2)

Change in expected credit losses 
and other credit impairment 
charges for the year

(453)

                As at 31 December 2022
Year ended  

31 December 2022

Gross carrying/ 
nominal amount Credit loss allowance ECL (charge)/release

€000 €000 €000

As per preceding table 211,310 (3,078) (453)

Balances at central banks 107,484 (1) -  

Loans and advances to financial institutions 313,151 -  -  

Loans and advances to customers

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio: drawn exposures 1,546,913 (184) (35)

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio: undrawn commitments 92,420 (4) (2)

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio: drawn exposures 132,130 (130) (130)

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio: undrawn commitments 63,808 (34) (34)

Investments measured at amortised cost

- Securities portfolio 389,537 (58) (44)

- Securitisation portfolio 415,078 (42) (7)

Other accrued income (excl. International Corporate Lending 
portfolio) 9,765 (1) -  

Summary of financial instruments to which the impairment 
requirements in IFRS 9 are applied through profit or loss 3,281,596 (3,532) (705)

Total credit loss allowance/total income statement ECL 
charge for the year (3,532) (705)
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Credit loss allowances attributable to loans and advances to customers 

The following table shows the credit loss allowances on loans and advances to customers recognised on the Bank’s 
balance sheets as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, excluding credit loss allowances on accrued interest and other 
credit-related commitments, analysed by stage distribution.

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

€000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2023

International Corporate Lending portfolio 1,430 384 282 2,096

Dutch Mortgage portfolio 136 145 4 285

Belgian Mortgage portfolio 249 46 58 353

1,815 575 344 2,734

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

€000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2022

International Corporate Lending portfolio 2,180 766 -  2,946

Dutch Mortgage portfolio 106 71 7 184

Belgian Mortgage portfolio 114 16 -  130

2,400 853 7 3,260

The movement in credit loss allowances and the ECL charge/release for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 
and 2022 are analysed in detail in the tables presented in the previous section.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, interest income amounting to €0.2 million (2022: €0.1 million) of the 
Bank was recognised in profit or loss on credit-impaired loans.
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2.2.4 Loans and advances to customers with renegotiated terms and the Bank’s forbearance policy 
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market conditions, cus-
tomer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer. An existing 
loan whose terms have been modified would be derecognised in certain circumstances and the renegotiated loan rec-
ognised as a new loan at fair value.

Forbearance measures always aim to return the exposure to a situation of sustainable repayment capacity. Forbear-
ance measures consist of concessions towards a debtor facing or about to face difficulties in meeting its financial 
commitments (“financial difficulties”).

The Bank renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as “forbearance activities”) to maximise 
collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default. Under the Bank’s forbearance policy, loan forbearance is grant-
ed on a selective basis if the debtor is currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is evidence 
that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected to 
be able to meet the revised terms.

A concession is defined in the European Banking Authority (“EBA”) final draft Implementing Technical Standards (2014) 
and further set out in the EBA final guidance on Management of Non-performing and Forborne Exposures (2018), 
which refer to either of the following actions: 

•	 a modification of the previous terms and conditions of a contract which the debtor was considered unable to 
comply with due to its financial difficulties (“troubled debt”) to allow for sufficient debt service ability, that would 
not have been granted had the debtor not been in financial difficulties; or

•	 a total or partial refinancing of a troubled debt contract, that would not have been granted had the debtor not 
been in financial difficulties. 

The revised terms usually applied by the Bank include extending the maturity, amending the terms of loan covenants 
and partial write-offs where there is reasonable financial evidence to demonstrate the borrower’s inability to repay the 
loan in full. The Management Credit Committee regularly reviews reports on forbearance activities.

For the purposes of these financial statements, “loans with renegotiated terms” are defined as loans that have been 
restructured due to a deterioration in the borrower’s financial position, for which the Bank has made concessions by 
agreeing to terms and conditions that are more favourable for the borrower than the Bank had provided initially and that 
it would not otherwise consider. A loan continues to be presented as part of loans with renegotiated terms until maturity, 
early repayment or write-off, unless certain prescriptive conditions are met.

Typically, the Bank either categorises a forborne exposure as performing or classifies the exposure as forborne non-per-
forming if unlikely-to-pay indicators are evidenced, as outlined in the Non-Performing and Default Exposure section of 
the Bank’s Credit Policy.

Renegotiated loans can be classified as non-credit-impaired where the renegotiation has resulted from significant 
concern about a borrower’s ability to meet their contractual payment terms, but the renegotiated terms are based on 
current market rates and contractual cash flows are expected to be collected in full following the renegotiation.

Non-credit-impaired renegotiated loans also include previously impaired renegotiated loans that have demonstrated 
satisfactory performance over a period of time or have been assessed based on all available evidence as having no 
remaining indicators of impairment.

On renegotiation, where the existing agreement is cancelled and a new agreement is made on substantially different
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terms, or if the terms of an existing agreement are modified, such that the renegotiated loan is substantially a different 
financial instrument, the loan would be derecognised and a new loan is recognised, for accounting purposes. However, 
newly recognised loans retain the “nonperforming forborne” classification for regulatory reporting purposes.

When determining whether a loan that is restructured should be derecognised and a new loan recognised, the Bank 
considers the extent to which the changes to the original contractual terms result in the renegotiated loan, considered 
as a whole, being a substantially different financial instrument.

As outlined previously, renegotiated loans that are classified as credit-impaired/Stage 3 exposures at the renegotiation 
date which have not had a substantial modification in terms, are not derecognised and remain disclosed as credit-im-
paired / Stage 3 exposures until there is sufficient evidence of cure to demonstrate a significant reduction in the risk 
of non-payment of future cash flows observed over a one-year period and there are no other indicators of impairment. 
In contrast, when substantial modification has been made to the terms of the renegotiated loan, the old financial asset 
is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised, the latter being classified as a Stage 1 asset unless originated 
credit-impaired, in which case it is classified as a POCI financial asset.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, none of the exposures within the Dutch Buy to Let mortgage portfolio, Securities In-
vestment and Securitisation Investment portfolios were forborne reflecting the fact that both the Securitisation Invest-
ment portfolio and the Securities Investment portfolio principally comprise of investment-grade exposures and that the 
Dutch Buy to Let mortgage portfolios is a relatively new portfolio. In this regard, any amounts disclosed in this section 
relate to forbearance activity within the International Corporate Lending, and Dutch and Belgian Mortgage portfolios.

The following table shows the carrying amount of the Bank’s loans and advances to customers classified within the 
International Corporate Lending portfolio reflecting forbearance activity, by stage and by past due status. For the avoid-
ance of doubt, exposures benefiting from a general payment moratorium meeting the conditions established within 
Directive No. 18 and the EBA Guidelines are classified as non-forborne exposures in the table below.

International Corporate Lending Portfolio

Non-forborne exposures Forborne exposures Total
€000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2023

Stage 1

Neither past due nor credit-impaired 153,908 -  153,908

Stage 2

Neither past due nor credit-impaired 1,596 9,891 11,487

Stage 3

Credit-impaired, net of credit loss allowances 2,563 -  2,563

Loans and advances to customers, net of Stage 
3 credit loss allowances 158,067 9,891 167,958

Stage 1 credit loss allowances 1,430 -  1,430

Stage 2 credit loss allowances 10 374 384

Stage 3 credit loss allowances 282 -  282
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International Corporate Lending Portfolio

Non-forborne exposures Forborne exposures Total
€000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2022

Stage 1

Neither past due nor credit-impaired 176,225 -  176,225

Stage 2

Neither past due nor credit-impaired -  18,900 18,900

Loans and advances to customers, net of Stage 
3 credit loss allowances 176,225 18,900 195,125

Stage 1 credit loss allowances 2,180 -  2,180

Stage 2 credit loss allowances -  766 766

The following table shows the carrying amount of the Bank’s loans and advances to customers classified within the 
Dutch and Belgian Mortgage portfolios reflecting forbearance activity, by stage and by past due status. 

Dutch Mortgage Portfolio Belgian Mortgage Portfolio

Non-forborne 
exposures

Forborne  
exposures

Non-forborne 
exposures

Forborne 
exposures Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2023

Stage 1

Neither past due nor credit-impaired 2,091,365 -  221,761 -  2,313,126

Past due but not credit-impaired:

- by up to 30 days 3,080 -  28,870 -  31,950

Stage 2

Neither past due nor credit-impaired 231 4,619 -  896 5,746

Past due but not credit-impaired:

 - by more than 30 days and up to 90 days 4,030 1,227 3,209 -  8,466

Stage 3

Credit-impaired, net of credit loss allowances 297 -  330 166 793

Loans and advances to customers, net of Stage 
3 credit loss allowances 2,099,003 5,846 254,170 1,062 2,360,081

Stage 1 credit loss allowances 136 -  249 -  385

Stage 2 credit loss allowances 106 39 35 11 191

Stage 3 credit loss allowances 4 -  39 19 62
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Dutch Mortgage Portfolio Belgian Mortgage Portfolio

Non-forborne 
exposures

Forborne  
exposures

Non-forborne 
exposures

Forborne 
exposures Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2022

Stage 1

Neither past due nor credit-impaired 1,142,563 -  107,286 -  1,249,849

Past due but not credit-impaired:

- by up to 30 days 668,271 -  23,056 -  691,327

Stage 2

Neither past due nor credit-impaired 1,790 3,877 -  352 6,019

Past due but not credit-impaired:

 - by more than 30 days and up to 90 days 1,179 -  1,436 -  2,615

Stage 3

Credit-impaired, net of credit loss allowances -  499 -  -  499

Loans and advances to customers, net of Stage 
3 credit loss allowances 1,813,803 4,376 131,778 352 1,950,309

Stage 1 credit loss allowances 106 -  114 -  220

Stage 2 credit loss allowances 63 8 8 8 87

Stage 3 credit loss allowances -  7 -  -  7

As at 31 December 2023, total gross forborne loans and advances to customers as a percentage of total gross loans 
and advances to customers of the Bank were equivalent to 0.7% (2022: 1.3%).

Interest income recognised by the Bank during the financial year ended 31 December 2023 in respect of forborne ex-
posures amounted to €1.2 million (2022: €1.3 million).

The movement in the gross carrying amount of forborne loans and advances to customers, before credit loss  
allowances is analysed below:

2023 2022

€000 €000

Year ended 31 December

At beginning of year 23,635 34,997

Loans to which forbearance measures have been extended during the year/period without derecognition 1,873 352

Capitalised interest -  3,117

Capitalised fees -  (18)

Repayments or disposals (9,817) (13,857)

Loans exiting forborne status during the year without derecognition (164) -  

Newly recognised loans as a result of forbearance measures 898 -  

Amortisation of premium or discount 33 16

Exchange differences 360 (972)

At end of year 16,818 23,635
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Capitalised fees included in the table above reflect amounts disbursed by customers in relation to the origination of the 
exposure. Such amounts are recognised as part of the gross carrying amount of the exposure in the form of deferred 
income and amortised over the life of the instrument.

As at 31 December 2023, credit loss allowances in respect of the Bank’s forborne loans were equivalent to €0.4 million 
(2022: €0.8 million). Additions to credit loss allowances on forborne loans during the year ended 31 December 2023 
amounted to €0.4 million (2022: nil). Reversals of credit loss allowances on forborne loans during the year ended 31 
December 2023 amounted to €0.8 million (2022: €0.8 million).

The following tables show the gross carrying amounts of the Bank’s holdings of renegotiated loans and advances to 
customers analysed by industry sector and stage:

The Bank’s forborne loans, net of credit loss allowances, classified within the International Corporate Lending portfolio 
as at 31 December 2023 consist of corporate exposures based in Europe, amounting to €9.3 million (2022: €18.2 mil-
lion). Forbearance measures in respect of exposures classified within the Dutch and Belgian Mortgage portfolios are 
limited to payment arrangements, allowing customers to repay the amounts in arrears in addition to the regular monthly 
instalment. Past due amounts are thereby regularised within an agreed number of months. The forborne loans classified 
within the Dutch and Belgian Mortgage portfolios are categorised as exposures to households and individuals in the 
tables above.

2.2.5 Write-offs
No financial assets have been written off by the Bank during the financial year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

2.2.6 Collateral
The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers classified under the Dutch and Belgian Mortgage 
portfolios in the form of hypothecary rights over immovable assets. The assets held as collateral are assigned a fair 
value at the time of credit approval. The assigned value is regularly monitored to identify assets that need revaluation.

In mortgage lending facilities, a charge over collateral is obtained and considered in determining the credit risk appetite 
and risk-return profile of all lending decisions. In the event of a default, the Bank may utilise the collateral as a source of 
repayment. Depending on its form, collateral can have a significant financial effect in mitigating exposure to credit risk. 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

€000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2023

Accommodation and food service activities -  9,891 -  9,891

Households and individuals -  6,742 185 6,927

-  16,633 185 16,818

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

€000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2022

Accommodation and food service activities -  9,693 -  9,693

Financial and insurance activities -  9,207 -  9,207

Households and individuals -  4,229 506 4,735

-  23,129 506 23,635
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The immovable property collateral received in respect of exposures within the Dutch Mortgage portfolio and the Bel-
gian Mortgage portfolio are mainly located in the Netherlands and Belgium respectively.

The following table shows the gross carrying amount (before credit loss allowances) of the loans and advances to 
customers classified under the Dutch Mortgage portfolio by level of collateral expressed through the LTV ratio. The 
collateral measured for the purposes of the table below consists of fixed first charges on real estate.

Non-forborne Forborne Total

Gross carrying/
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Gross carrying/
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Gross carrying/ 
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2023

Stage 1

a) Fully collateralised

- Up to 50% LTV 88,235 (2) -  -  88,235 (2)

- 51% to 75% LTV 396,035 (19) -  -  396,035 (19)

- 76% to 90% LTV 468,787 (31) -  -  468,787 (31)

- 91% to 100% LTV 1,141,388 (84) -  -  1,141,388 (84)

2,094,445 (136) -  -  2,094,445 (136)

Stage 2

a) Fully collateralised

- Up to 50% LTV -  -  43 -  43 -  

- 51% to 75% LTV 159 -  653 (21) 812 (21)

- 76% to 90% LTV 589 (18) 506 (3) 1,095 (21)

b) Partially collateralised

- greater than 100% 3,513 (88) 4,644 (15) 8,157 (103)

4,261 (106) 5,846 (39) 10,107 (145)

Stage 3

a) Fully collateralised

- 76% to 90% LTV 133 -  -  -  133 -  

- 91% to 100% LTV 168 (4) -  -  168 (4)

301 (4) - - 301 (4)

2,099,007 (246) 5,846 (39) 2,104,853 (285)
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Non-forborne Forborne Total

Gross carrying/
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Gross carrying/
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Gross carrying/ 
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2022

Stage 1

a) Fully collateralised

- Up to 50% LTV 52,209 (5) -  -  52,209 (5)

- 51% to 75% LTV 318,488 (18) -  -  318,488 (18)

- 76% to 90% LTV 435,147 (24) -  -  435,147 (24)

- 91% to 100% LTV 890,228 (52) -  -  890,228 (52)

b) Partially collateralised

- greater than 100% 114,762 (7) -  -  114,762 (7)

1,810,834 (106) -  -  1,810,834 (106)

Stage 2

a) Fully collateralised

- 51% to 75% LTV 384 (6) 465 -  849 (6)

- 76% to 90% LTV 159 -  129 -  288 -  

- 91% to 100% LTV 1,902 (48) 2,763 (7) 4,665 (55)

b) Partially collateralised

- greater than 100% 524 (9) 520 (1) 1,044 (10)

2,969 (63) 3,877 (8) 6,846 (71)

Stage 3

a) Fully collateralised

- 76% to 90% LTV -  -  506 (7) 506 (7)

-  -  506 (7) 506 (7)

1,813,803 (169) 4,383 (15) 1,818,186 (184)
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The following table shows the gross carrying amount (before credit loss allowances) of the loans and advances to 
customers classified under the Belgian Mortgage portfolio by level of collateral expressed through the LTV ratio. The 
collateral measured for the purposes of the table below consists of fixed first charges on real estate.

Non-forborne Forborne Total

Gross carrying/
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Gross carrying/
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Gross carrying/ 
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2023

Stage 1

a) Fully collateralised

- Up to 50% LTV 27,468 (20) -  -  27,468 (20)

- 51% to 75% LTV 73,272 (67) -  -  73,272 (67)

- 76% to 90% LTV 120,419 (130) -  -  120,419 (130)

- 91% to 100% LTV 29,472 (32) -  -  29,472 (32)

250,631 (249) -  -  250,631 (249)

Stage 2

a) Fully collateralised

- Up to 50% LTV 473 (4) -  -  473 (4)

- 51% to 75% LTV 369 (3) 305 (3) 674 (6)

- 76% to 90% LTV 1,623 (19) 591 (8) 2,214 (27)

- 91% to 100% LTV 744 (9) -  -  744 (9)

3,209 (35) 896 (11) 4,105 (46)

Stage 3

a) Fully collateralised

- 76% to 90% LTV 369 (39) 185 (19) 554 (58)

369 (39) 185 (19) 554 (58)

254,209 (323) 1,081 (30) 255,290 (353)
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Non-forborne Forborne Total

Gross carrying/
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Gross carrying/
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

Gross carrying/ 
nominal amount

Credit loss 
allowance

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2022

Stage 1

a) Fully collateralised

- Up to 50% LTV 10,855 (7) -  -  10,855 (7)

- 51% to 75% LTV 32,473 (26) -  -  32,473 (26)

- 76% to 90% LTV 72,850 (67) -  -  72,850 (67)

- 91% to 100% LTV 13,307 (13) -  -  13,307 (13)

b) Partially collateralised

- greater than 100% 857 (1) -  -  857 (1)

130,342 (114) -  -  130,342 (114)

Stage 2

a) Fully collateralised

- Up to 50% LTV 152 (1) -  -  152 (1)

- 76% to 90% LTV 978 -  164 (3) 1,142 (3)

- 91% to 100% LTV -  (8) 188 (4) 188 (12)

b) Partially collateralised

- greater than 100% 306 -  -  -  306 -  

1,436 (9) 352 (7) 1,788 (16)

131,778 (123) 352 (7) 132,130 (130)

As at 31 December 2023, the Bank held senior secured loans to international borrowers classified under the Internation-
al Corporate Lending portfolio which amounted to €0.2 billion (2022: €0.2 billion). In respect of such financial assets, 
the Bank normally has a right over the borrower’s unencumbered assets.

All the Bank’s exposures classified under the Securities Investment portfolio as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are 
unsecured with the exception of a sub-portfolio of covered bonds amounting to €320.6 million (2022: €285.0 million), 
which are backed by a separate group of assets in the form of loans. Similarly, all exposures classified under the Secu-
ritisation Investment portfolio as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are also backed by a separate group of assets in the 
form of loans.
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2.2.7 Current Conditions and Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model

Point-in-time, forward-looking PD and LGD modelling methodology
The modelling methodology used by the Bank in the measurement of credit loss allowances in respect of Stage 1 and 
Stage 2 exposures leverages current and multiple scenarios of future projections of macroeconomic data beyond the 
reporting date in order to determine point-in-time PDs and incorporate forward-looking information. Statistical models 
used are developed by an external vendor.

As explained in more detail in Note 1.5 of the financial statements, for the International Corporate Lending and Securities 
portfolios the models use rating scale to TTC PD matrices calibrated on the basis of an underlying dataset of market 
observations to firstly determine a TTC PD and accordingly an implied rating for each borrower. The TTC PD/implied 
rating is determined by calibrating borrowers’ financial and non financial profile with those of observable rated peers. 
An exposure’s implied rating is then converted to an unconditional PiT PD using a methodology which utilises market 
capitalisation/equity volatility and leverage of comparable firms, with shocks to a firm’s stock price translated into corre-
sponding shocks to the credit risk metric attributable to the underlying exposure. Therefore, equity market performance 
is a key variable for incorporating current conditions into the Bank’s ECL modelling methodology, particularly in the 
conversion from TTC to PiT PDs.

The methodology then utilises macroeconomic correlation models in order to determine the historical correlation of a 
borrower’s financial performance with overall country or region-level macroeconomic conditions, with the correlation 
factors estimated principally by reference to borrower size as well as the industry in which the borrower operates. 
Multiple macroeconomic forecasts developed by an external vendor are then applied to PiT PDs to produce proba-
bility-weighted forward-looking conditioned PiT PDs in line with the requirements of IFRS 9. The conditioning of PDs 
by reference to multiple macroeconomic scenarios reflects forecasted quarter-on-quarter changes in macroeconomic 
variables (such as GDP, unemployment and HPI) over the PD term structure of the exposure. The Bank’s modelling 
methodology therefore estimates a point-in-time and forward-looking measure of default risk. The same methodology 
is also used to estimate PiT LGDs.

For Dutch residential mortgages, PiT PDs and LGDs are determined using loan and borrower characteristics such as 
loan-to-value (‘LTV’) and loan-to-income (‘LTI’) inputs, calibrated based on historical data of proxy NHG loans from 
RMBS transactions which are adjusted to incorporate current and forward-looking macroeconomic variables and data 
such as unemployment rates, real GDP growth and house price indices.

For the Belgian mortgages, the PiT PDs are mainly based on the Belgium Mortgage industry level NPL data published 
by the National Bank of Belgium adjusted to incorporate forward-looking macroeconomic variables including unem-
ployment rates, real GDP growth, house price index, claims on private sector and household disposable income.

In respect of defaulted / Stage 3 exposures classified within the International Corporate Lending portfolio, the Bank 
utilises an internally developed discounted cash flow methodology in order to estimate the net present value of fore-
casted operating cash flows under multiple forward-looking scenarios discounted using the borrower-specific weight-
ed average cost of capital (“WACC”). In this regard, forward-looking expectations based on the impact of changing 
macroeconomic conditions on the borrower are reflected in multiple scenarios of operating cash flows developed by 
management, which are discounted and probability-weighted in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9.

The model used to measure credit loss allowances in respect of all exposures classified within the Dutch and Belgian 
Mortgage portfolios estimates PDs and LGDs by reference to historical information observed in that jurisdiction for 
similar assets as well as multiple forward-looking macroeconomic forecasts for the respective economy developed by 
the external vendor.	
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As at 31 December 2023, a degree of uncertainty remains as the economy is expected to continue to stagnate due to 
high interest rates, negative sentiment, weak manufacturing orders and a rise in geopolitical tensions.  In this respect, 
the macroeconomic modelling aspect within the estimation of ECL, and the forecasting of economic conditions is still 
subject to an inherent level of risk and highly subjective.	

This has required an elevated level of review and expert judgement to ensure that the macroeconomic methodology 
used by the Bank, provided by a reputable third party, results in plausible scenarios which adequately captures the un-
certainties previously mentioned. This methodology was also compared to regulator issued scenarios, with those used 
by the Bank being more conservative.

Judgement is still required in the determination of macroeconomic forecasts reflecting potential future economic con-
ditions under different scenarios and their impact on PDs and LGDs.

Forecasts of future economic conditions
The Bank applies macroeconomic scenarios sourced from an external vendor to the PD and LGD term structures for 
the estimation of credit loss allowances in respect of Stage 1 and Stage 2 exposures classified within the Internation-
al Corporate Lending portfolios, as well as in respect of all exposures classified within the Dutch Mortgage, Belgian 
Mortgage, Securities Investment and Securitisation Investment portfolios. The macroeconomic scenarios represent 
the Bank’s view of the range of potential outcomes, and application of these scenarios captures the non-linearity of 
expected credit losses under different scenarios for all portfolios.

The Bank has chosen three macroeconomic scenarios that include a central, or baseline, scenario and two “alternative” 
scenarios to reflect upside and downside scenarios. The scenarios are constructed by the external vendor based on a 
target severity for each of the scenarios. While the baseline scenario is by design in the middle of possible future eco-
nomic outcomes, the alternative scenarios capture alternative economic conditions that are equally distanced from the 
baseline in terms of their severity as per the assumptions of the external vendor. After their construction, the scenarios 
are each assigned probability weights based on the external vendor’s severity distribution and on how well they approx-
imate (simulated) possible future economic developments. The scenarios are generated/refreshed on a quarterly basis.

The macroeconomic scenarios used in the Bank’s modelling of credit loss allowances reflect possible macroeconomic 
paths taking into consideration a range of potential economic impacts driven by geopolitical tensions in respect of the 
conflicts between Russia and Ukraine and between Israel and Hamas, assumptions on the energy markets, monetary 
policy assumptions as the ECB is expected to start cutting rates, as well as epidemiological assumptions in respect of 
future waves of the pandemic. Moreover, the outlook is that the economy will continue to stagnate mainly due to high 
interest rates and negative sentiment, therefore, economic forecasts remain subject to a high degree of uncertainty in 
the current environment.

With the current geopolitical tensions, rigorous monitoring of macroeconomic forecasts developed by the external ven-
dor was performed by the Bank in order to challenge the adequacy and reasonableness of the developed scenarios. 
In this respect, the macroeconomic scenarios were reviewed on a quarterly basis in full consideration of the guidance 
issued by the ECB to Significant Institutions on 1 April 2020 (“IFRS9 in the context of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pan-
demic”).	

The scenarios have been benchmarked and assessed against the macroeconomic forecasts for the Euro area pub-
lished by the ECB, in line with ECB guidance, with the latest publication available being the one published in December 
2023. In this respect, the Bank’s forward looking macroeconomic scenarios are deemed to be aligned with the ECB’s 
macroeconomic forecasts for the Euro area.		
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As at 31 December 2023, management selected to use three scenarios developed and recommended by the external 
vendor which are deemed to be mostly aligned with the December 2023 ECB Staff projections. As per the preceding 
year, management selected the Baseline, the Upside, and the Downside 2 scenarios. 

The scenarios used for the purposes of determining the ECL as at 31 December 2023 are described below.

Baseline
•	 Conflict between Russia and Ukraine continues but does not expand beyond Ukraine
•	 Conflict between Israel and Hamas does not escalate into a broader regional conflict
•	 Global oil prices remain around current levels for several quarters
•	 Natural gas prices remain close to current levels and are only slightly higher than their pre-pandemic
•	 Supply chain bottlenecks continue to ease
•	 Infections due to new variants of COVID-19 lead to only minimal restrictions on mobility or voluntary social dis-

tancing, and correspondingly have little economic impact
•	 ECB holds rates unchanged at 4% for several quarters. It starts cutting rates in the summer of 2024, and it 

proceeds relatively rapidly given the softness in inflation. Neutral rate is reached in 2025

Upside
•	 Conflict between Russia and Ukraine ends, which reduces geopolitical tensions. Supplies of commodities such 

as oil, gas and food from the region increase
•	 Vaccinations successfully combat new variants of the virus and render any restrictions to mobility unnecessary
•	 The supply side of the economy expands strongly, driven by productivity gains, while slack in the economy 

proves more substantial than initially thought. The global economy picks up robustly, boosting manufacturing 
output. Productivity gains and the expansion of the supply

•	 Global energy prices are slightly higher than in the baseline, reflecting stronger demand that is met by robust 
supply

•	 ECB feels more confident and proceeds with normalization more slowly than in the baseline. It starts cutting 
rates later than in the baseline and reaches neutral values significantly later than the baseline

Downside 2
•	 Conflict between Russia and Ukraine increases steadily, and fears grow that NATO will be dragged into the 

conflict, which leads to an even sharper decline in confidence
•	 Worries that conflict between Israel and Hamas will spiral into a broader regional conflict weigh on financial 

markets and confidence more broadly
•	 Tensions between the U.S. and China persist and intensify, with barriers to shipping along the Taiwan Strait
•	 There is a moderate wave of the pandemic, social distancing increases as does the economic effect, but the 

impact is mild compared with the disruption experienced in 2020-2022
•	 Business investment declines as does the demand for labour
•	 After some hesitation, the ECB starts to cut rates, taking the deposit rate below neutral but above zero
•	 To limit stress in sovereign and interbank markets, the ECB restarts its purchase of government bonds, pro-

vides forward guidance about its future policy moves, and further loosens the eligibility criteria for the collateral 
it accepts from banks

The year-on-year forecasts for 2023 to 2026 for key macro-economic variables (MEVs) under each of the scenarios 
described above together with the MEVs for the Severe Upside and Severe Downside scenarios are disclosed below.
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The Bank’s weighting allocation approach is that weights represent the share of outcomes that are best approximated 
by a scenario (not the likelihood of a specific scenario occurring). The Bank has assigned the probability weightings to 
each scenario using the mid-point approach through which the probability weight assigned to each scenario would be 
dependent on the mid-points between the percentiles (representing the severity of the scenario) which each scenario 
represents along the distribution curve. Management selected this mid-point approach since it is an approach recom-
mended by the external vendor and, the scenarios and probability weight chosen are deemed to be mostly aligned with 
the December 2023 ECB Staff projections.

The scenarios selected, together with the relative probability weightings relative to the severity distribution provided by 
the external vendor for each scenario, are disclosed in the table below:

The following tables present the year-on-year growth rates for the key macroeconomic variables provided by the ex-
ternal vendor under the baseline and the five alternative scenarios referred to above for the measurement of ECL for all 
portfolios as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. 

For the International Corporate Lending and Securities portfolios, MEVs are determined for each country, with the 
forecasted MEV data in respect of the countries to which the Bank is mostly exposed being presented in the tables 
below. Eurozone MEVs are used in some cases, rather than country-level MEVs, as the former are deemed to have a 
higher correlation to the country specific portfolio assets. The key MEVs used for the estimation of ECL for exposures 
classified within the Corporate and Securities portfolios comprise real GDP growth, the performance of stock market 
indices and unemployment rates.

With respect to the Dutch Mortgage portfolio, the Bank utilises regional-level as well as national-level MEVs as appro-
priate in order to capture regional level peculiarities. The key MEVs used for the estimation of ECL in respect of expo-
sures classified within the Dutch Mortgage portfolio comprise the House Price Index, unemployment rates and 10-year 
treasury rates, with the national level forecasts used in the ECL calculation being disclosed in the table hereunder.

For the Belgian Residential Mortgage portfolio, the key MEVs used for the estimation of ECL are national levels of 
House Price Index, Unemployment Rate, real GDP growth and Household Disposable Income.

The ECL model for the measurement of credit loss allowances in respect of exposures classified within the Securitisa-
tion Investment portfolio uses Euribor and GBP Libor 3-month and 1-month rates as well as the same MEVs used for 
the purposes of the International Corporate Lending portfolio, since the pool of underlying assets securing the Bank’s 
investment in CLO structured tranches is similar to the exposures classified within the International Corporate Lending 
portfolio.

External vendor  
Scenarios Severe Upside Upside Baseline Downside 1 Downside 2 Severe Downside

External Vendor Severity 96% 90% 50% 25% 10% 4%

Probability Weight 30% 40% 30%
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Economic Scenarios: Year-on-Year Forecasts (2023-2026) for key MEVs

International Lending and Securities Dutch Mortgages Belgian Mortgages

UK US Eurozone Netherlands Belgium

ECL Scenario
2023 2024 2025 2026 2023 2024 2025 2026 2023 2024 2025 2026 2023 2024 2025 2026 2023 2024 2025 2026

Re
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Severe Upside 0.6% 5.4% 2.0% 1.1% 2.6% 6.1% 2.6% 2.8% 0.3% 4.4% 1.9% 1.6% -0.6% 4.9% 2.6% 1.3% 1.5% 4.2% 4.3% 1.9%

Upside 0.6% 3.9% 1.2% 1.3% 2.6% 3.5% 2.3% 2.5% 0.3% 3.5% 1.5% 1.6% -0.6% 3.6% 2.0% 1.3% 1.5% 3.2% 3.3% 1.9%

Baseline 0.6% 0.4% 1.0% 1.3% 2.6% 1.3% 1.9% 2.4% 0.3% 1.2% 1.7% 1.8% -0.6% 0.9% 2.0% 1.6% 1.5% 1.7% 1.9% 1.9%

Downside 1 0.6% -3.3% 2.5% 1.5% 2.6% -0.7% 2.9% 2.7% 0.3% -1.0% 2.6% 1.9% -0.6% -0.8% 2.2% 2.0% 1.5% 0.3% 2.5% 2.0%

Downside 2 0.6% -5.6% 1.3% 2.6% 2.6% -2.3% 1.6% 3.3% 0.3% -5.0% 2.2% 3.1% -0.6% -5.4% 2.3% 3.8% 1.5% -4.7% 2.6% 3.2%

Severe Downside 0.6% -7.1% -0.2% 4.2% 2.6% -4.1% 0.3% 3.4% 0.3% -7.1% 0.2% 4.5% -0.6% -7.3% 0.3% 4.7% 1.5% -7.1% 0.3% 4.7%
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Severe Upside 4.2% 3.8% 3.5% 3.5% 3.6% 2.8% 2.9% 3.1% 6.5% 6.3% 6.0% 6.1% 3.6% 3.6% 3.0% 3.4% 5.6% 6.8% 7.1% 7.0%

Upside 4.2% 4.1% 3.9% 3.9% 3.6% 3.1% 3.3% 3.4% 6.5% 6.5% 6.3% 6.4% 3.6% 3.6% 3.4% 3.7% 5.6% 6.8% 7.1% 7.0%

Baseline 4.2% 4.5% 4.7% 4.7% 3.6% 4.0% 4.1% 4.0% 6.5% 6.7% 6.7% 6.7% 3.6% 3.9% 4.0% 4.1% 5.6% 6.9% 7.1% 7.0%

Downside 1 4.2% 4.9% 5.0% 4.9% 3.6% 5.7% 5.3% 4.0% 6.5% 7.0% 7.3% 7.1% 3.6% 4.0% 4.6% 4.4% 5.6% 7.0% 7.2% 7.1%

Downside 2 4.2% 5.6% 7.3% 7.5% 3.6% 6.7% 7.4% 6.1% 6.5% 7.7% 8.8% 8.3% 3.6% 4.4% 5.9% 5.5% 5.6% 7.2% 8.0% 8.0%

Severe Downside 4.2% 6.3% 8.5% 8.4% 3.6% 7.2% 8.7% 8.3% 6.5% 8.0% 9.8% 9.6% 3.6% 4.5% 6.6% 6.6% 5.6% 7.3% 8.5% 8.7%
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Severe Upside 3.0% 23.3% -0.3% 2.4% 13.3% 18.1% 2.6% 4.9% 14.0% 20.7% 3.8% 4.5% - - - - - - - -

Upside 3.0% 18.7% 1.2% 2.0% 13.3% 12.9% 2.3% 4.1% 14.0% 16.5% 4.3% 4.6% - - - - - - - -

Baseline 3.0% 7.8% 3.9% 4.8% 13.3% 6.5% 2.8% 5.3% 14.0% 6.1% 4.6% 6.2% - - - - - - - -

Downside 1 3.0% 4.5% 2.5% 5.7% 13.3% -19.1% 14.3% 14.3% 14.0% -3.8% 6.9% 8.5% - - - - - - - -

Downside 2 3.0% -13.2% 12.9% 11.1% 13.3% -33.8% 11.3% 22.4% 14.0% -28.2% 26.6% 17.5% - - - - - - - -

Severe Downside 3.0% -27.5% 8.8% 17.4% 13.3% -42.9% 4.8% 16.3% 14.0% -41.5% 20.6% 33.1% - - - - - - - -
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Severe Upside - - - - - - - - - - - - 2.8% 2.7% 2.8% 3.1% - - - -

Upside - - - - - - - - - - - - 2.8% 2.6% 2.7% 2.8% - - - -

Baseline - - - - - - - - - - - - 2.8% 2.6% 2.6% 2.6% - - - -

Downside 1 - - - - - - - - - - - - 2.8% 2.1% 2.2% 2.6% - - - -

Downside 2 - - - - - - - - - - - - 2.8% 1.7% 1.5% 1.7% - - - -

Severe Downside - - - - - - - - - - - - 2.8% 1.2% 0.9% 1.0% - - - -

H
ou
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e 
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x 
% Severe Upside - - - - - - - - - - - - -5.3% 2.4% 3.9% 3.6% -1.6% -0.5% 0.9% 2.2%

Upside - - - - - - - - - - - - -5.3% 1.3% 2.7% 3.6% -1.6% -0.9% 0.7% 2.3%

Baseline - - - - - - - - - - - - -5.3% -1.5% 2.8% 4.3% -1.6% -2.1% 1.0% 2.5%

Downside 1 - - - - - - - - - - - - -5.3% -3.9% 2.3% 5.0% -1.6% -3.1% 1.0% 2.3%

Downside 2 - - - - - - - - - - - - -5.3% -10.1% -2.0% 8.6% -1.6% -6.3% 0.3% 3.6%

Severe Downside - - - - - - - - - - - - -5.3% -11.6% -7.9% 7.7% -1.6% -6.3% -2.5% 3.2%
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Severe Upside - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 5.8% 2.5% 3.5% 2.3%

Upside - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 5.8% 2.0% 2.8% 2.1%

Baseline - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 5.8% 1.4% 1.7% 1.8%

Downside 1 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 5.8% 1.2% 1.6% 1.5%

Downside 2 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 5.8% 0.6% 0.9% 1.0%

Severe Downside - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 5.8% 1.1% 0.3% 0.5%
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Economic Scenarios: Year-on-Year Forecasts (2022-2025) for key MEVs

International Lending and Securities Dutch Mortgages Belgian Mortgages

UK US Eurozone Netherlands Belgium

ECL Scenario
2022 2023 2024 2025 2022 2023 2024 2025 2022 2023 2024 2025 2022 2023 2024 2025 2022 2023 2024 2025
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Severe Upside 0.3% 3.1% 1.8% 1.0% 0.4% 6.2% 3.2% 2.9% 1.2% 4.5% 2.7% 2.0% 2.1% 5.4% 2.7% 1.1% 0.9% 6.2% 1.5% 1.1%

Upside 0.3% 1.9% 1.2% 1.1% 0.4% 3.5% 2.5% 2.3% 1.2% 3.5% 2.3% 2.0% 2.1% 4.1% 2.1% 1.2% 0.9% 4.8% 1.0% 1.2%

Baseline 0.3% -0.8% 1.2% 1.4% 0.4% 1.0% 2.6% 2.8% 1.2% 1.2% 2.6% 2.2% 2.1% 1.4% 2.1% 1.4% 0.9% 2.1% 1.3% 1.3%

Downside 1 0.3% -4.4% 2.7% 1.6% 0.4% -1.3% 3.1% 3.4% 1.2% -1.0% 3.4% 2.3% 2.1% -0.3% 2.3% 1.8% 0.9% 0.7% 1.9% 1.4%

Downside 2 0.3% -6.9% 1.3% 2.5% 0.4% -2.3% 1.7% 3.8% 1.2% -5.0% 3.2% 3.5% 2.1% -5.0% 2.4% 3.6% 0.9% -4.3% 2.0% 2.6%

Severe Downside 0.3% -8.3% -0.3% 3.5% 0.4% -4.1% 0.9% 3.9% 1.2% -7.1% 1.0% 4.9% 2.1% -6.9% 0.4% 4.6% 0.9% -6.7% -0.3% 4.1%
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Severe Upside 3.7% 3.5% 3.2% 3.3% 3.7% 3.1% 3.1% 3.0% 6.7% 6.7% 6.3% 6.4% 3.5% 3.2% 2.6% 3.0% 5.5% 4.7% 4.5% 5.3%

Upside 3.7% 3.8% 3.7% 3.7% 3.7% 3.5% 3.4% 3.4% 6.7% 6.8% 6.6% 6.6% 3.5% 3.3% 2.9% 3.3% 5.5% 4.7% 4.7% 5.5%

Baseline 3.7% 4.2% 4.4% 4.5% 3.7% 4.0% 4.1% 3.8% 6.7% 7.1% 7.1% 7.0% 3.5% 3.5% 3.6% 3.7% 5.5% 5.0% 5.0% 5.5%

Downside 1 3.7% 4.6% 4.8% 4.7% 3.7% 5.7% 5.4% 3.9% 6.7% 7.4% 7.8% 7.6% 3.5% 3.7% 4.1% 4.0% 5.5% 5.2% 5.5% 5.8%

Downside 2 3.7% 5.3% 7.0% 7.3% 3.7% 6.8% 7.4% 5.9% 6.7% 8.3% 9.5% 8.9% 3.5% 4.0% 5.5% 5.1% 5.5% 5.8% 7.7% 8.5%

Severe Downside 3.7% 6.0% 8.3% 8.2% 3.7% 7.4% 8.9% 8.4% 6.7% 8.6% 10.6% 10.5% 3.5% 4.1% 6.2% 6.2% 5.5% 6.1% 9.1% 11.0%
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Severe Upside -1.3% 20.3% -1.3% 4.1% -17.6% 19.6% 0.1% 6.0% -12.5% 20.0% 0.9% 3.7% - - - - - - - -

Upside -1.3% 15.8% 0.2% 3.8% -17.6% 14.3% -0.2% 5.2% -12.5% 15.9% 1.3% 3.7% - - - - - - - -

Baseline -1.3% 5.1% 2.9% 6.6% -17.6% 7.9% 0.3% 6.5% -12.5% 5.7% 1.5% 5.5% - - - - - - - -

Downside 1 -1.3% 2.0% 1.5% 7.5% -17.6% -20.8% 12.0% 16.4% -12.5% -4.5% 3.7% 8.0% - - - - - - - -

Downside 2 -1.3% -15.3% 11.8% 13.0% -17.6% -34.7% 7.3% 24.2% -12.5% -29.0% 22.8% 16.6% - - - - - - - -

Severe Downside -1.3% -29.3% 7.8% 19.4% -17.6% -41.6% 0.5% 17.6% -12.5% -42.1% 16.1% 32.1% - - - - - - - -
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Severe Upside - - - - - - - - - - - - 1.4% 2.5% 2.7% 2.8% - - - -

Upside - - - - - - - - - - - - 1.4% 2.5% 2.6% 2.6% - - - -

Baseline - - - - - - - - - - - - 1.4% 2.4% 2.5% 2.3% - - - -

Downside 1 - - - - - - - - - - - - 1.4% 1.9% 2.1% 2.2% - - - -

Downside 2 - - - - - - - - - - - - 1.4% 1.6% 1.4% 1.3% - - - -

Severe Downside - - - - - - - - - - - - 1.4% 1.3% 1.0% 0.8% - - - -

H
ou

se
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% Severe Upside - - - - - - - - - - - - -1.7% -1.3% 4.6% 2.8% 1.5% 2.1% 6.1% 4.1%

Upside - - - - - - - - - - - - -1.7% -4.0% 1.9% 2.1% 1.5% 0.6% 5.0% 3.7%

Baseline - - - - - - - - - - - - -1.7% -5.7% -0.7% 1.8% 1.5% -1.0% 3.5% 3.6%

Downside 1 - - - - - - - - - - - - -1.7% -6.1% -1.5% 1.6% 1.5% -0.5% 3.1% 2.8%

Downside 2 - - - - - - - - - - - - -1.7% -9.4% -6.7% 1.0% 1.5% -4.7% 1.5% 2.2%

Severe Downside - - - - - - - - - - - - -1.7% -7.3% -13.7% -3.6% 1.5% -3.6% 1.6% 0.7%
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Severe Upside - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 2.5% 6.3% 5.6% 1.5%

Upside - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 2.5% 4.8% 5.0% 1.7%

Baseline - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 2.5% 3.0% 3.7% 2.2%

Downside 1 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 2.5% 3.5% 3.7% 1.5%

Downside 2 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 2.5% 2.5% 1.6% 0.9%

Severe Downside - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 2.5% 3.9% -0.2% -0.7%
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Model adjustments and management overlays
ECB guidance states that subjective model inputs and post-core model adjustments (overlays) may be used given 
the current level of uncertainties. These need to be directionally consistent with objective and verifiable evidence such 
as observable macroeconomic variables and forward-looking forecasts. Overlays should be supported by adequately 
documented processes and subject to strict governance oversight.

To ensure that the Bank is adequately capturing the level of credit risk in its International Corporate Lending portfolio, 
an assessment was performed and the Bank introduced caps to implied internal ratings to borrowers that have under-
gone distressed restructuring and where necessary have applied notch downgrades to exposures that are classified 
as ‘Under Surveillance’ through qualitative factors not captured by the models to reflect the increase in credit risk since 
origination.

Given the sensitivity of the models used by the Bank to equity values of comparable firms in determining PiT PDs, the 
movement in equity prices during 2023 can be attributed to being the main variable to the change in PiT PDs within the 
Bank’s ECL model for Corporates.

Management is confident that the modelled macroeconomic scenarios from the external vendor include reasonable 
epidemiological, economic, and geopolitical risk assumptions and the model outputs are appropriately reflecting the 
current market conditions. 

ECL sensitivity analysis in respect of macroeconomic scenarios	
Notwithstanding the significant number of assumptions and different aspects forming part of the Bank’s methodology 
for modelling credit loss allowances in respect of exposures classified within the Bank’s portfolios of financial instru-
ments, the ECL measurement is deemed to be most sensitive to the inherent level of estimation uncertainty in respect 
of the modelling of macroeconomic forecasts.

The Bank is hereby presenting the sensitivity analysis in respect of credit loss allowances attributable to Stage 1 and 
Stage 2 exposures classified within the International Corporate Lending portfolio as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, 
estimated by determining the range of credit loss allowances which would have been measured as at each date by 
assigning a 100% weighting to each of the macroeconomic scenarios developed by the external vendor, as presented 
in the table below.

It is to be noted that the weighted average ECL cannot be reconciled by applying the relative probability weights to the 
ECL outcomes under each scenario since staging might change across the scenarios when using a 100% weighting 
(e.g. an exposure might be classified as Stage 2 in one out of five individual scenarios, and as Stage 1 in the weighted 
average scenarios).

The estimated weighted average ECL under each scenario as at 31 December 2023, presented in the table above, is 
not directly comparable with the estimated weighted average ECL under each scenario as at 31 December 2022, since 
the size of the International Corporate Lending portfolio decreased significantly compared to the prior financial year.

Scenario sensitivity Severe Upside Upside Baseline Downside 1 Downside 2 Severe Downside

2023

Probability Weight 2023 - 30% 40% - 30% -

ECL as at 31 December 2023 - 639,329 1,282,553 - 3,975,952 -

2022

Probability Weight 2022 - 30% 40% - 30% -

ECL as at 31 December 2022 - 1,257,165 2,162,056 - 6,121,588 -
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Although duly taken into consideration, the impact of macroeconomic scenarios on the measurement of credit loss 
allowances in respect of credit-impaired / Stage 3 exposures classified within the International Corporate Lending 
portfolio is less pronounced compared to other borrower-specific factors used to forecast operating cash flows under 
different scenarios. Accordingly, the sensitivity impact was not considered to be significant.

The sensitivity impact of macroeconomic scenarios on the ECL outcome measured in respect of exposures classi-
fied within the Dutch and Belgian Mortgage, Securities Investment and Securitisation Investment portfolios are not  
considered to be significant taking cognisance of the level of credit loss allowances estimated at 31 December 2023 
and 2022.

The Bank has integrated ESG, by catering for climate and environmental risk factors into its existing credit risk  
processes.

The Bank applies climate-adjusted scenarios sourced from an external vendor and utilises a statistical model devel-
oped by the external vendor for the estimation of the climate-adjusted credit loss allowances of its exposures classified 
within the International Corporate Lending, Dutch Mortgages, and Buy-to-Let portfolios.

The Bank applies stresses on the collateral pledged as security for the estimation of the climate-adjusted credit loss 
allowances of its exposures classified within the Belgian mortgage portfolio.

As at 31 December 2023, the increase in expected credit losses recognised in relation to climate risk was not deemed 
material to warrant further disclosures. 

2.2.8 Concentration of credit risk exposures

2.2.8.1 Concentration of investment securities

Securities Investment portfolio
As at 31 December 2023, the Bank had no exposure to sovereign Eurozone government bonds whilst as at 31 December 
2022 represented 7.7% of the total investment securities within the Securities Investment portfolio.

Credit loss allowances amounting to €2.4 thousand were recognised in respect of these exposures as at 31 December 
2022.

The Bank monitors concentrations of investment securities for credit risk by type of exposure. An analysis of concen-
trations of credit risk at the reporting date for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is shown below.
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Measured at amortised cost

2023 2022

€000 €000

Concentration by type

As at 31 December

Carrying amount:

Covered bonds 320,103 285,286

National and regional government 102,813 74,064

Supranational and agencies -  30,129

Total 422,916 389,479

Securitisation Investment portfolio
The Bank’s Securitisation Investment portfolio comprises the investment in CLO transactions managed by third-party 
entities, amounting to €445.9 million (2022: €415.0 million). The Bank’s investment in CLO transactions managed by 
third-party entities comprises positions in the most senior tranche of 20 different CLOs (2022: 18), all of which are also 
collateralised by a pool of leveraged loans.

As at 31 December 2023, credit loss allowances in respect of exposures classified under this portfolio and measured at 
amortised cost amounted to €44.6 thousand (2022: €41.5 thousand).

2.2.8.2	 Concentration of loans and advances to customers
An analysis of concentration of loans and advances to customers by industry sector and geography is shown in the 
following tables.	

As at 31 December 2023, exposures to UK counterparties classified under the International Corporate Lending portfolio 
and categorised as ‘Other European countries’ in the tables below amounted to €41.0 million (2022: €53.9 million).

Exposures classified under Dutch and Belgian Mortgage portfolios are categorised as EU exposures in the following 
tables whereas the Dutch and Belgian retail mortgage portfolios are classified under the “household and individuals” 
sector.
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Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowance

EU
Other European 

countries
North 

America Total EU
Other European 

countries
North 

America Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Stage 1

As at 31 December 2023

Administrative and support service 
activities 7,476 -  -  7,476 (169) -  -  (169)

Construction 7,924 -  -  7,924 (62) -  -  (62)

Financial and insurance activities 43,838 23,351 14,785 81,974 (379) (194) (91) (664)

Households and individuals 2,345,076 -  -  2,345,076 (385) -  -  (385)

Information and communication 10,001 -  -  10,001 (101) -  -  (101)

Manufacturing 9,967 -  -  9,967 (71) -  -  (71)

Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 9,989 2,878 -  12,867 (91) (14) -  (105)

Wholesale and retail trade, repairs of 
motor  vehicles and motorcycles 11,838 3,880 7,981 23,699 (104) (30) (124) (258)

2,446,109 30,109 22,766 2,498,984 (1,362) (238) (215) (1,815)

Nominal amount Credit loss allowance

EU
Other European 

countries
North 

America Total EU
Other European 

countries
North 

America Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Commitments to extend credit and 
other commitments

As at 31 December 2023

Accommodation and food service 
activities -  160 -  160 -  (1) -  (1)

Financial and insurance activities 22,000  -  8,007 30,007 -  -  (62) (62)

Households and individuals 123,225 -  -  123,225 (17) -  -  (17)

145,225 160 8,007 153,392 (17) (1) (62) (80)

Stage 2

As at 31 December 2023

Accommodation and food service 
activities -  11,487 -  11,487 -  (384) -  (384)

Households and individuals 14,212 -  -  14,212 (191) -  -  (191)

14,212 11,487 -  25,699 (191) (384) -  (575)

Stage 3

As at 31 December 2023

Financial and insurance activities -  -  2,845 2,845 -  -  (282) (282)

Households and individuals 855 -  -  855 (62) -  -  (62)

855 -  2,845 3,700 (62) -  (282) (344)
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Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowance

EU
Other European 

countries
North 

America Total EU
Other European 

countries
North 

America Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Stage 1

As at 31 December 2022

Administrative and support service 
activities 7,451 -  -  7,451 (121) -  -  (121)

Construction 7,894 -  -  7,894 (152) -  -  (152)

Financial and insurance activities 57,122 23,684 16,994 97,800 (647) (313) (175) (1,135)

Households and individuals 1,941,176 -  -  1,941,176 (220) -  -  (220)

Information and communication 10,001 -  -  10,001 (232) -  -  (232)

Manufacturing 9,958 -  -  9,958 (94) -  -  (94)

Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 9,988 13,269 -  23,257 (91) (68) -  (159)

Wholesale and retail trade, repairs of 
motor  vehicles and motorcycles 11,888 -  7,976 19,864 (220) -  (67) (287)

2,055,478 36,953 24,970 2,117,401 (1,777) (381) (242) (2,400)

Nominal amount Credit loss allowance

EU
Other European 

countries
North 

America Total EU
Other European 

countries
North 

America Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Commitments to extend credit and 
other commitments

As at 31 December 2022

Accommodation and food service 
activities -  1,721 -  1,721 -  (12) -  (12)

Financial and insurance activities 63,347 -  9,152 72,499 (18) -  (84) (102)

Households and individuals 162,228 -  -  162,228 (38) -  -  (38)

225,575 1,721 9,152 236,448 (56) (12) (84) (152)

Stage 2

As at 31 December 2022

Accommodation and food service 
activities -  9,693 -  9,693 -  (700) -  (700)

Financial and insurance activities 1,905 7,302 -  9,207 (19) (47) -  (66)

Households and individuals 8,634 -  -  8,634 (87) -  -  (87)

10,539 16,995 -  27,534 (106) (747) -  (853)

Stage 3

As at 31 December 2022

Households and individuals 506 -  -  506 (7) -  -  (7)

506 -  -  506 (7) -  -  (7)
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2.2.9 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
The Bank is eligible to present certain financial assets and financial liabilities on a net basis in the statement of financial 
position in accordance with the Bank’s policy described in Note 1.6 ‘Offsetting Financial Instruments’. 

The following tables set out: 
•	 the impact of offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial  

position;
•	 the financial impact of netting for instruments subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar 

agreement; and
•	 the available financial collateral received or pledged in relation to the total amounts of assets and liabilities that 

were not offset.

The Bank enters into derivative transactions under International Swap and Derivatives Association (ISDA) master net-
ting agreements. In general, under such agreements the amounts owed by each counterparty on a single day in respect 
of all transactions outstanding in the same currency are aggregated into a single net amount that is payable by one 
party to the other. In certain circumstances such as when an event of default occurs, all outstanding transactions under 
the agreement are terminated and settled in a single net amount per currency.

The ISDA agreements do not meet the criteria for offsetting the positive and negative values in the statement of fi-
nancial position. This is attributable to the fact that the Bank and its counterparties do not have any currently legally 
enforceable right to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously because the right 
to offset is enforceable only on the occurrence of future credit events.

The Bank also pledges and receives collateral in the form of cash and marketable securities primarily for sale and re-
purchase agreements and for margining purposes on OTC derivative transactions. Pledges are generally conducted 
under terms that are usual and customary for standard contracts and transactions of this nature. The rights of set off 
relating to such collateral are conditional upon the default of the counterparty. The financial instruments subject to such 
collateral arrangements are included in the table below within ‘Financial collateral pledged/(received)’.

The net amount of financial instruments that do not meet the on-balance sheet offsetting criteria, including collateral 
pledged and received, presented within the following tables is equal to the amount presented in the statement of finan-
cial position for that instrument.	
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Related amounts not offset in the 
statement of financial position

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial  
instruments

Gross amounts of recog-
nised financial instruments 

offset in the statement of 
financial position

Net amounts of financial 
instruments presented 

in the statement of 
financial position

Amounts  
subject to

master netting
arrangements

Financial  
collateral 

pledged/(re-
ceived (incl. cash)

Net 
amount

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2023

Financial assets

Derivative financial instruments 207,438 -  207,438 648 -  208,086

Loans and advances to finan-
cial institutions 306,542 -  306,542 -  (25,296) 281,246

Investments - Securities 
Portfolio 422,916 -  422,916 -  (87,367) 335,549

Investments - Securitisation 
Portfolio 445,932 -  445,932 -  (114,995) 330,937

1,382,828 -  1,382,828 648 (227,658) 1,155,818

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments (24,648) -  (24,648) (648) 25,296 -  

Amounts owed to financial 
institutions (278,184) -  (278,184) -  202,362 (75,822)

(302,832) -  (302,832) (648) 227,658 (75,822)

Related amounts not offset in the 
statement of financial position

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial  
instruments

Gross amounts of recog-
nised financial instruments 

offset in the statement of 
financial position

Net amounts of financial 
instruments presented 

in the statement of 
financial position

Amounts  
subject to

master netting
arrangements

Financial collat-
eral pledged/

(received (incl. 
cash)

Net 
amount

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2022

Financial assets

Derivative financial instruments 355,337 -  355,337 (753) -  354,584

Loans and advances to finan-
cial institutions 393,212 (80,061) 313,151 -  (4,553) 308,598

Investments - Securities 
Portfolio 389,479 -  390,298 -  (66,594) 323,704

Investments - Securitisation 
Portfolio 415,036 -  415,036 -  (33,442) 381,594

1,553,064 (80,061) 1,473,822 (753) (104,589) 1,368,480

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments (85,367) 80,061 (5,306) 753 4,553 -  

Amounts owed to financial 
institutions (265,410) -  (265,410) -  100,036 (165,374)

(350,777) 80,061 (270,716) 753 104,589 (165,374)

Derivative financial liabilities and loans and advances to financial institutions are offset as a netting agreement is in 
place with the counterparty in order to set-off the liabilities against the assets received. There is a legal right to settle, or 
otherwise eliminate, the amount due by applying the amount receivable from the same counterparty against it.

As at 31 December 2023, the Bank’s derivative financial liabilities subject to master-netting agreements have a fair value 
of €0.6 million (2022: €0.8 million). Within the table above, these have been capped at the fair value of the derivative 
assets of the Bank amounting to €0.6 million (2022: €0.8 million).

Below is a table showing financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and 
similar agreements.
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2.3 Liquidity Risk

2.3.1 Management of liquidity risk
In line with the Bank’s Liquidity Risk Management Policy, management of the Bank’s liquidity position is the responsi-
bility of its Treasury and ALM function under the oversight of the Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”) and the Board 
Risk and Compliance Committee (“BRCC”). The Treasury and ALM function have primary responsibility for managing 
and reporting the Bank’s projected liquidity position (the “base case”).

The Bank’s Risk team ensures that all liquidity risks are identified, measured, overseen and appropriately reported. In 
particular, the Risk team has primary responsibility for monitoring liquidity risk, including defining potential adverse 
liquidity scenarios (“stress cases”) that are considered for assessing the Bank’s exposure to these scenarios and for 
assessing the effectiveness of contingency plan funding measures.

The Bank’s liquidity risks principally relate to its banking activities and the Bank’s Board of Directors sets, approves and 
oversees the implementation of the targets for liquidity management of the Bank. Analysis of liquidity risk is the joint 
responsibility of the Bank’s Treasury and ALM and Risk functions under the oversight of the ALCO and of the BRCC.

Management Asset and Liability Committee
The Bank has established an Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”) to ensure the Bank has in place, and operates ef-
fectively, appropriate and robust strategies and policies to manage and optimise the Bank’s asset liability mix and over-
see the Bank’s capital, liquidity, funding, interest rate risk and foreign exchange (“FX”) risk position. Group ALCO cas-
cades Group strategies down across each business line and legal entities and across risk types and products. Group 
ALCO oversees and, where necessary, approves Group policies and objectives for assets and liability management, 
capital and funding management and allocation, market risk position and hedging activity, liquidity monitoring, capital 
usage and efficiency, product-pricing, fund transfer pricing, dealing and trading activities according to the risk appetite 
statement set by the Group Board. Group ALCO’s authority covers MeDirect Bank (Malta) plc and MDB Group Limited. 
Belgium ALCO’s authority covers MeDirect Bank SA. Group ALCO provides oversight and ensures that decisions taken 
at Belgium ALCO are aligned to the interests of the Group. Group ALCO is a sub-committee of the Group EXCO.

Board Risk and Compliance Committee	
The Board delegates to the Board Risk and Compliance Committee (“BRCC”) its oversight responsibilities of the risk 
function. Therefore, the BRCC represents the principal forum for overseeing the Bank’s liquidity and funding risk. In 
addition, it is responsible for recommending to the Board an appropriate liquidity and funding risk appetite and for ap-
proving liquidity risk-related policies and recommendations. The BRCC is also responsible for ensuring that all liquidity 
risk controls are in accordance with regulatory requirements and best practice and for advising the Board on the coor-
dination and prioritisation of liquidity risk management issues throughout the Bank.

The BRCC reviews regular reports on the liquidity position of the Bank, including the review of stress testing scenar-
ios to assess the resilience of its liquidity buffers in relation to the minimum regulatory requirements comprising the 
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”) and the Net Stable Funding Ratio (“NSFR”). It is informed immediately of new and 
emerging liquidity concerns and ensures that Executive management takes appropriate remedial actions to address 
the concerns, including the viability of contingency funding options.

Roles and responsibilities
The Treasury team, under the leadership of the Chief Financial Officer has primary responsibility for managing and reporting 
the Bank’s projected liquidity position (the “base case”). For liquidity purposes, the Bank’s balance sheet, encompassing 
both assets and liabilities, is managed on an intraday and day-to-day basis, and includes monitoring compliance with 
metrics of current liquidity. The department is also responsible for forecasting the Bank’s future cash flow profile, as well 
as for analysis and management of the Bank’s deposit book. This is executed under the leadership of the Head - ALM.
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The Bank’s Risk team, under the leadership of the Chief Risk Officer (“CRO”), has primary responsibility for monitoring 
current liquidity performance as well as defining potential adverse liquidity scenarios that should be considered, and 
for reporting exposure to these scenarios (the “downside case”). Under the leadership of the CRO, it is responsible for 
ensuring that all significant risks relating to liquidity are properly identified and clearly incorporated into the Bank’s risk 
management and reporting framework. It is also responsible for producing reports that show and analyse the Bank’s 
sensitivity to external events related to liquidity, including the definition of severe but plausible events that could con-
stitute stress scenarios.

Funding strategy
Banks traditionally perform a role of liquidity transformation, whereby they fund through liabilities that are liquid in the 
short to medium term, in order to invest in longer term and less liquid assets. This mismatch of liquid liabilities and less 
liquid assets is a near universal feature of bank balance sheets and clearly leads to a risk if liabilities cannot be rolled 
over when they mature (which may be every day in the case of money held in current or savings accounts).

The Bank’s strategy to mitigate this risk has four main components:
•	 Diversifying deposit product offerings as its primary instrument of funding by focusing on the retail market to 

maximise granularity;
•	 Limiting its exposure to wholesale funding withdrawal by locking in term, rather than short-dated, funding 

against illiquid assets (where this is used at all: illiquid assets are primarily deposit funded) and by either diver-
sifying its sources of funding in general or ensuring that it does not rely on funding that is at the discretion of 
market counterparties;

•	 Maintaining a contingency source of funding by ensuring that substantially all of its HQLA Securities Invest-
ment portfolio is eligible for funding at the ECB or at Eurex, as well as ensuring that other AAA-rated debt in-
struments are eligible for use as collateral against multiple repo lines, if alternative sources are unavailable; and

•	 Holding a much higher than typical proportion of assets that could over time be liquidated or against which 
funding can be obtained in the secondary market.

The Bank’s objective is to maintain a prudent funding structure drawn from diverse funding sources in the short-, me-
dium- and long-term.
Potential funding sources may include, but are not limited to:

•	 Deposits from retail and corporate customers;
•	 Bond issuance, either secured (for example through CLO structures or the issuance of RMBSs, the latter repre-

senting one of the main sources of funding for the Dutch Mortgage portfolio), senior unsecured or subordinated;
•	 Issuance of capital instruments; and
•	 Central Bank funding (although it is the Bank’s strategy not to rely on the Central Bank for funding in the normal 

course of events, but instead only used as a secondary source of financing).

To ensure that the Bank has adequate liquidity to meet its near-term obligations, the Treasury team maintains good 
liquidity buffers and projects the Bank’s expected liquidity position for each day over the subsequent week, as well as 
the “residual” cash balance that considers known inflows and outflows (for example settlements of asset purchases or 
sales) beyond this period.

The Bank complies with the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”) in relation to short-term liquidity and monitor the Net 
Stable Funding Ratio (“NSFR”) in order to assess long-term liquidity:

•	 The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”): The ratio aims to ensure that institutions are able to withstand a 30-day 
period of stress by virtue of having sufficient unencumbered High Quality Liquid Assets (“HQLA”). HQLA consist 
of cash or assets that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value in the markets. The LCR metric is 
designed to promote the short-term resilience of the Bank’s liquidity profile.
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The table below displays the Bank’s LCR as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the LCR was within both the regulatory minimum and the risk 
appetite set by the Bank. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Bank’s LCR was significantly above 100% at all times.

•	 The Net Stable Funding Ratio (“NSFR”): This ratio looks at the relationship between long-term assets and long-
term funding. The NSFR requires institutions to maintain sufficient stable funding relative to required stable 
funding and reflects a bank’s long-term funding profile (funding with a term of more than a year). It is designed 
to complement the LCR and the NSFR requirement is of 100%.

The table below displays the Bank’s NSFR as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

The Bank’s NSFR remained above the minimum legal requirement of 100% at all times during the financial year ended 
31 December 2023 and 2022.

2.3.2 Liquidity risk reporting
Reliable management reporting provides the Executive and the Board with timely and forward-looking information on 
the Bank’s liquidity position. Reporting of risk measures is done on a frequent basis and compares current liquidity 
exposures to established limits to identify any emerging pressures and limit breaches.

The Bank’s Risk team performs regular stress testing of its liquidity profile, as well as the availability of contingency 
funding options through both its ILAAP and monthly Maximum Cumulative Outflow (“MCO”) report. The MCO analy-
ses the likely risks to the Bank’s liquidity position and quantifies its ability to withstand the associated shocks through 
deployment of management contingency funding plan options. Summarised results from all the various analyses are 
used as inputs to the MCO, with the liquidity impacts of different levels of severity of both idiosyncratic and market-wide 
scenarios modelled across a twelve-month time horizon. In addition, the Bank’s Liquidity Contingency Plan (“LCP”) 
analyses the availability and practicability of its contingency funding measures with regards to idiosyncratic and mar-
ket-wide stress scenarios.

The Bank’s liquidity risk reporting reinforces the Bank’s oversight of liquidity risk, by not only focusing its risk reporting 
on the ‘current’ state, but also providing regular and timely reporting of the potential ‘stress’ liquidity profile of the Bank. 

The Risk team also monitors the product maturity ladder.

The Treasury and ALM team maintains good liquidity buffers and projects the Bank’s expected liquidity position for 
each day over the subsequent week, as well as the “residual” cash balance that takes into account known inflows and 
outflows (for example settlements of asset purchases or sales) beyond this period.

2023 2022
% %

Actual LCR 177 163

2023 2022
% %

Actual NSFR 126 126
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2.3.3 Contractual maturity ladder	 		
The following is an analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities as at the reporting 
date, with the exception of the analysis of loans and advances to customers classified under the International Corpo-
rate Lending and Dutch and Belgian Mortgage portfolios, debt securities in issue and subordinated liabilities, that are 
based on the expected maturities based on the date when the instruments are expected to be fully repaid, since this 
is how the liquidity of the Bank is monitored on a regular basis. Refer also to Note 2.3.5 that provides an analysis of 
encumbered investments.

Not more 
than 1 

month

Between 
1 and 3 
months

Between 3 
months and 

1 year
Between 1 and 

5 years
More than 5 

years

No  
maturity 

date Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2023

Assets

Balances with central banks 154,767 -  -  -  -  21,887 176,654

Derivative financial instruments 198 -  1,102 27,958 178,180 -  207,438

Loans and advances to financial institutions 306,542 -  -  -  -  -  306,542

Loans and advances to customers 15,437 30,561 175,935 863,404 1,440,312 (183,180) 2,342,469

- International Corporate Lending portfolio -  -  35,327 130,817 -  -  166,144

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio 13,009 26,179 120,605 650,679 1,294,096 -  2,104,568

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio 2,428 4,382 20,003 81,908 146,216 -  254,937

- IFRS basis adjustment: Mortgage portfolio -  -  -  -  -  (183,180) (183,180)

Investments -  10,011 57,430 241,888 559,519 -  868,848

- Securities portfolio -  10,011 57,430 241,888 113,587 -  422,916

- Securitisation portfolio -  -  -  -  445,932 -  445,932

Accrued income 494 14,733 1,395 -  -  -  16,622

Loans to related parties (incl. in other assets) -  -  -  -  -  6,870 6,870

Other receivables (incl. in other assets) -  -  -  -  -  161 161

Other assets (incl. in other assets) -  -  -  -  -  25,952 25,952

Total financial assets 477,438 55,305 235,862 1,133,250 2,178,011 (128,310) 3,951,556

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 28 -  -  4,519 20,101 -  24,648

Amounts owed to financial institutions 278,184 -  -  -  -  -  278,184

Amounts owed to customers 2,165,968 8,062 191,463 143,664 10 -  2,509,167

Debt securities in issue 7,552 15,103 66,456 821,737 -  -  910,848

Accrued interest expense (incl. in accruals and 
deferred income) 7,957 324 12,515 10,561 -  -  31,357

Lease liabilities (incl. in other liabilities) 36 75 378 913 23 -  1,425

Amounts due to related parties (incl. in other 
liabilities) -  -  -  -  -  1,050 1,050

Total financial liabilities 2,459,725 23,564 270,812 981,394 20,134 1,050 3,756,679

Liquidity gap (1,982,287) 31,741 (34,950) 151,856 2,157,877

Cumulative liquidity gap (1,982,287) (1,950,546) (1,985,496) (1,833,640) 324,237
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Not more 
than 1 

month

Between 
1 and 3 
months

Between 3 
months and 

1 year
Between 1 and 

5 years
More than 5 

years

No  
maturity 

date Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2022

Assets

Balances with central banks 87,555 -  -  -  -  19,928 107,483

Derivative financial instruments 433 320 -  73,031 281,553 -  355,337

Loans and advances to financial institutions 313,151 -  -  -  -  -  313,151

Loans and advances to customers 12,190 24,771 160,637 719,946 1,224,637 (271,273) 1,870,908

- International Corporate Lending portfolio -  -  42,131 150,048 -  -  192,179

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio 10,914 22,251 106,749 523,659 1,154,429 -  1,818,002

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio 1,276 2,520 11,757 46,239 70,208 -  132,000

- IFRS basis adjustment: Mortgage portfolio -  -  -  -  -  (271,273) (271,273)

Investments -  14,723 87,571 272,464 429,757 819 805,334

- Securities portfolio -  14,723 87,571 272,464 14,721 819 390,298

- Securitisation portfolio -  -  -  -  415,036 -  415,036

Accrued income 732 8,542 473 -  -  -  9,747

Loans to related parties (incl. in other assets) -  8,062 -  -  -  22,703 30,765

Other receivables (incl. in other assets) -  -  -  -  -  128 128

Other assets (incl. in other assets) -  -  -  -  -  24,022 24,022

Total financial assets 414,061 56,418 248,681 1,065,441 1,935,947 (203,673) 3,516,875

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments -  5,306 -  -  -  -  5,306

Amounts owed to financial institutions 265,410 -  -  -  -  -  265,410

Amounts owed to customers 1,591,802 21,196 293,973 173,558 -  -  2,080,529

Debt securities in issue 7,802 15,812 72,771 873,184 -  -  969,569

Accrued interest expense (incl. in accruals and 
deferred income) 5,157 225 3,824 -  -  -  9,206

Lease liabilities (incl. in other liabilities) 79 161 539 1,457 136 -  2,372

Amounts due to related parties (incl. in other 
liabilities) -  -  -  -  -  522 522

Total financial liabilities 1,870,250 42,700 371,107 1,048,199 136 522 3,332,914

Liquidity gap (1,456,189) 13,718 (122,426) 17,242 1,935,811

Cumulative liquidity gap (1,456,189) (1,442,471) (1,564,897) (1,547,655) 388,156
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Current accounts and savings deposits payable on demand or at short notice of the Bank amounted to €2 billion (2022: 
€1.6 billion) as at 31 December 2023.  This amount is disclosed within the ‘Not more than 1 month’ maturity grouping. 
As at 31 December 2023 savings deposits with a withdrawal notice period of one month amounting to €181 thousand 
(2022: €5.4 million), are disclosed within the ‘Between 1 and 3 months’ maturity grouping.  In addition, as at 31 December 
2023 savings deposits with a withdrawal notice period of three to six months amounting to €133 million (2022: €437 
million), are disclosed within the ‘Between 3 months and 1 year’ maturity grouping. Furthermore, as at 31 December 
2023, savings deposits with a withdrawal notice period of one year for the Bank amounting to €69 million (2022: €108 
million) are disclosed within the ‘Between 1 year and 5 years’ maturity grouping. However, in practice these deposits are 
maintained with the Bank for longer periods; hence the effective date of repayment is later than the contractual date.

As of 31 December 2023, unencumbered financial assets classified as Securities Investments measured at amortised 
cost with a carrying amount of €335.5 million (2022: €322.1 million), form part of the high quality liquid asset portfolio 
for LCR purposes. Accordingly, they may be liquidated within one month.

The Bank’s cash from margin balances amounting to €45.7 million (2022: €51.3 million), can be available upon maturity 
of the contract, favourable change in the market value/change in the exchange rates or reduction in the initial margins.

2.3.4 Residual contractual maturities of financial liabilities
The following is an analysis of undiscounted cash flows payable under the principal non-derivative financial liabilities by 
remaining contractual maturities as at the reporting date, except for debt securities in issue and subordinated liabilities 
for which undiscounted cash flows payable are presented by expected maturities in line with the Contractual Maturity 
Ladder presented in Note 2.3.3.

Carrying 
amount

Total  
outflows

Less than 1 
month

Between 
1 and 3 
months

Between 
3 months 

and 1 year

Between 
1 and 5 

years
More than 

5 years

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2023

Non-derivative liabilities

Amounts owed to financial institutions

- Due to clearing houses 180,731 180,732 180,732 -  -  -  -  

- Due to other banks 97,453 97,683 97,683 -  -  -  -  

Amounts owed to customers 2,509,167 2,513,673 2,165,973 8,083 192,402 147,205 10

Debt securities in issue 910,848 985,350 8,169 16,339 71,892 888,950 -  

Lease liabilities (included in other liabilities) 1,425 1,769 110 88 470 997 104

3,699,624 3,779,207 2,452,667 24,510 264,764 1,037,152 114
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Carrying 
amount

Total  
outflows

Less than 1 
month

Between 
1 and 3 
months

Between 
3 months 

and 1 year

Between 
1 and 5 

years
More than 

5 years

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2022

Non-derivative liabilities

Amounts owed to financial institutions

- Due to other banks 265,410 265,410 265,410 -  -  -  -  

Amounts owed to customers 2,080,529 2,084,899 1,591,802 21,197 294,446 177,454 -  

Debt securities in issue 969,569 995,254 6,916 16,698 72,771 411,799 487,070

Lease liabilities (included in other liabilities) 2,372 3,071 163 217 761 1,667 263

3,317,880 3,348,634 1,864,291 38,112 367,978 590,920 487,333

The following is an analysis of undiscounted cash flows relating to the Bank’s principal derivative financial instruments 
by remaining contractual maturities as at the reporting date:

Carrying 
amount

Inflows/
(Outflows)

Less than 1 
month

Between 
1 and 3 
months

Between 3 
months and 

1 year

Between 
1 and 5 

years
More than 

5 years

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2023

Derivative assets

Derivative financial instruments

- Interest rate swaps 207,240 242,439 3,493 6,528 26,213 85,793 120,412

- Foreign exchange swaps 198 (210) (210) -  -  -  -  

    Inflows 18,412 18,412 -  -  -  -  

    Outflows (18,622) (18,622) -  -  -  -  

207,438 242,229 3,283 6,528 26,213 85,793 120,412

Derivative liabilities

Derivative financial instruments

- Interest rate swaps 24,620 (28,830) 38 1,611 2,041 (21,313) (11,207)

- Foreign exchange swaps 28 28 28 -  -  -  -  

    Inflows 5,810 5,810 -  -  -  -  

    Outflows (5,782) (5,782) -  -  -  -  

24,648 (28,802) 66 1,611 2,041 (21,313) (11,207)
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Carrying 
amount

Inflows/
(Outflows)

Less than 1 
month

Between 
1 and 3 
months

Between 3 
months and 

1 year

Between 
1 and 5 

years
More than 

5 years

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2022

Derivative assets

Derivative financial instruments

- Interest rate swaps 354,580 322,986 242 3,645 25,780 129,613 163,706

- Foreign exchange swaps 757 (778) (445) (333) -  -  -  

    Inflows 37,175 21,952 15,223 -  -  -  

    Outflows (37,953) (22,397) (15,556) -  -  -  

355,337 322,208 (203) 3,312 25,780 129,613 163,706

Derivative liabilities

Derivative financial instruments

- Interest rate swaps 5,306 6,112 976 -  5,136 -  -  

- Foreign exchange swaps -  (1) (1) -  -  -  -  

    Inflows 47 47 -  -  -  -

    Outflows (48) (48) -  -  -  -  

5,306 6,111 975 -  5,136 -  -  
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Encumbered Unencumbered

Pledged as  
collateral Other*

Available as  
collateral Other** Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

31 December 2023

Balances with central banks (Note 4) -  21,887 154,767 -  176,654

Derivative financial instruments -  -  -  207,438 207,438

Loans and advances to financial  
institutions (Note 6) 291,898 -  -  14,644 306,542

Loans and advances to customers -  -  -  2,342,469 2,342,469

- International Corporate Lending  
portfolio -  -  -  166,144 166,144

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio -  -  -  1,921,388 1,921,388

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio -  -  -  254,937 254,937

Investments (Note 8) 202,363 -  666,485 -  868,848

- Securities portfolio 87,368 -  335,548 -  422,916

- Securitisation portfolio 114,995 -  330,937 -  445,932

Accrued income -  -  -  16,622 16,622

Loans and advances to related parties 
(included in other assets) -  -  -  6,870 6,870

Other receivables (included in other 
assets) -  -  -  161 161

Other assets (included in other assets) -  -  -  25,952 25,952

494,261 21,887 821,252 2,614,156 3,951,556

* Represents assets that are not pledged for funding purposes but that the Bank believes it is restricted from using to secure funding, for legal or 
other reasons.
** Represents assets that are not restricted for use as collateral, but that the Bank would not consider as readily available to secure funding in the 
normal course of business.

2.3.5 Encumbered assets
The following tables set out the availability of the Bank’s financial assets to support future funding. Mortgage portfolios 
exclude any IFRS basis adjustment.
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Encumbered Unencumbered

Pledged as  
collateral Other*

Available as  
collateral Other** Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

31 December 2022

Balances with central banks (Note 4) -  19,928 87,555 -  107,483

Derivative financial instruments -  -  -  355,337 355,337

Loans and advances to financial  
institutions (Note 6) 270,991 -  -  42,160 313,151

Loans and advances to customers -  -  -  1,870,908 1,870,908

- International Corporate Lending  
portfolio -  -  -  192,179 192,179

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio -  -  -  1,546,729 1,546,729

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio -  -  -  132,000 132,000

Investments (Note 8) 104,949 -  699,566 819 805,334

- Securities portfolio 68,203 -  321,276 819 390,298

- Securitisation portfolio 36,746 -  378,290 -  415,036

Accrued income -  -  -  9,747 9,747

Loans and advances to related parties 
(included in other assets) -  -  -  30,765 30,765

Other receivables (included in other 
assets) -  -  -  128 128

Other assets (included in other assets) -  -  -  24,022 24,022

375,940 19,928 787,121 2,333,886 3,516,875

* Represents assets that are not pledged for funding purposes but that the Bank believes it is restricted from using to secure funding, for legal or 
other reasons.
** Represents assets that are not restricted for use as collateral, but that the Bank would not consider as readily available to secure funding in the 
normal course of business.
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2.4 Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads 
(not relating to changes in the obligor’s/issuer’s credit standing) will affect the Bank’s income or the value of its hold-
ings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

2.4.1 Management of market risks 
Management of market risk is the responsibility of the Bank’s Treasury team and is overseen by the Bank’s Risk team, 
under the oversight of the Bank’s ALCO and the Board Risk and Compliance Committee, and as set out in the foreign 
exchange (“FX”) risk policy and the Interest Rate Risk and Credit Spread Risk in the Banking Book (“IRRBB & CSRBB”) 
policy.

2.4.2 Foreign exchange risk 
FX risk is the risk that the value of the Bank’s positions may fluctuate due to movements in underlying foreign curren-
cy exchange rates. The Bank seeks to minimise FX risk and thus hedges all major exposures in accordance with its 
risk appetite. The Bank is mainly exposed to currency risk on FX movements relating to the US Dollar and GB Pound, 
originating from the Bank’s corporate banking business. In the majority of cases, the Bank hedges this risk by ensuring 
that its foreign currency denominated liabilities are matched with corresponding assets in the same currency. Any mis-
matches that arise are monitored closely. The Bank’s Treasury team is permitted to use spots, forwards and swaps in 
order to hedge the Bank’s FX risk.

The following table provides an analysis of the principal financial assets and financial liabilities of the Bank into relevant 
currency groupings.
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EUR currency GBP currency USD currency Other Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2023

Financial assets

Balances with central banks 176,654 -  -  -  176,654

Derivative financial instruments 207,244 194 -  -  207,438

Loans and advances to financial  
institutions 304,223 664 631 1,024 306,542

Loans and advances to customers 2,317,740 24,729 -  -  2,342,469

- International Corporate Lending  
portfolio 141,415 24,729 -  -  166,144

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio 1,921,388 -  -  -  1,921,388

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio 254,937 -  -  -  254,937

Investments 868,848 -  -  -  868,848

- Securities portfolio 422,916 -  -  -  422,916

- Securitisation portfolio 445,932 -  -  -  445,932

Accrued income 16,396 191 35 -  16,622

Loans to related parties (included in 
other assets) 5,104 599 551 616 6,870

Other receivables (included in other 
assets) 161 -  -  -  161

Other assets (included in other assets) 25,952 -  -  -  25,952

3,922,322 26,377 1,217 1,640 3,951,556

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 24,620 -  28 -  24,648

Amounts owed to financial institutions 278,184 -  -  -  278,184

Amounts owed to customers 2,499,177 1,855 6,600 1,535 2,509,167

Debt securities in issue 910,848 -  -  -  910,848

Accrued interest expense (incl. in  
accruals and deferred income) 31,350 4 3 -  31,357

Lease liabilities (included in other  
liabilities) 1,425 -  -  -  1,425

Amounts owed to related parties (incl. in 
other liabilities) 562 66 422 -  1,050

3,746,166 1,925 7,053 1,535 3,756,679

Net on-balance sheet financial position 24,452 (5,836) 105

Notional of derivative financial  
instruments (24,263) 5,851 -  

Residual exposure 189 15 105
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EUR currency GBP currency USD currency Other Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 December 2022

Financial assets

Balances with central banks 107,483 -  -  -  107,483

Derivative financial instruments 354,470 724 31 112 355,337

Loans and advances to financial  
institutions 313,810 (1,696) 542 495 313,151

Loans and advances to customers 1,834,018 36,890 -  -  1,870,908

- International Corporate Lending  
portfolio 155,289 36,890 -  -  192,179

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio 1,546,729 -  -  -  1,546,729

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio 132,000 -  -  -  132,000

Investments 804,515 819 -  -  805,334

- Securities portfolio 389,479 819 -  -  390,298

- Securitisation portfolio 415,036 -  -  -  415,036

Accrued income 9,494 253 -  -  9,747

Loans to related parties (included in 
other assets) 25,787 3,731 362 885 30,765

Other receivables (included in other 
assets) 95 33 -  -  128

Other assets (included in other assets) 24,022 -  -  -  24,022

3,449,672 40,754 935 1,492 3,492,853

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 5,305 -  1 -  5,306

Amounts owed to financial institutions 265,410 -  -  -  265,410

Amounts owed to customers 2,069,028 2,199 8,009 1,293 2,080,529

Debt securities in issue 969,569 -  -  -  969,569

Accrued interest expense (incl. in  
accruals and deferred income) 9,195 5 6 -  9,206

Lease liabilities (included in other  
liabilities) 2,372 -  -  -  2,372

Amounts owed to related parties (incl. in 
other liabilities) 16 65 437 4 522

3,320,895 2,269 8,453 1,297 3,332,914

Net on-balance sheet financial position 38,485 (7,518) 195

Notional of derivative financial  
instruments (37,172) 7,558 (7,000)

Residual exposure 1,313 40 (6,805)

The Bank uses derivative financial instruments to hedge movements in foreign exchange rates by entering derivative 
contracts with notional amounts which substantially reflect the net exposure in each currency. As a result, the Bank is 
not materially exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates as evidenced in the tables above, reflecting the policy 
to eliminate foreign exchange risk as much as is practicable.
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In view of the Bank’s policy for managing currency risk, the Board does not deem necessary the presentation of a sen-
sitivity analysis disclosing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected by changes in foreign exchange rates 
that were reasonably possible at the end of the reporting year.

2.4.3 Interest rate risk
The Bank’s Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB) position is managed through the three lines of defence: the 
First Line of Defence comprising the asset and liability management process managed by the Bank’s Treasury team, 
the Second Line of Defence being the Risk team and the Third Line of Defence being Internal Audit. It is managed 
according to the Bank’s IRRBB policy with limits established by the Risk team and monitored by both the First and 
Second Lines of Defence.

The monitoring/reporting activity is reviewed and managed independently by the Bank’s ALCO for the First Line of De-
fence, by the Risk Committee for the Second Line of Defence, and by the Audit Committee for the Third Line of Defence.

Interest rate risk is managed by comparing the interest rate risk profile of assets with the profile of liabilities, and by 
hedging unmatched interest rate risk arising in the balance sheet by purchasing interest rate derivatives, primarily in-
terest rate swaps. 

Interest rate risk reporting and analysis
As part of its monitoring duties, the Bank’s Risk team prepares and reports on the Bank’s interest rate risk position on 
a monthly basis. The report outputs show the effects of a number of internal and regulatory interest rate shocks on the:

•	 Bank’s projection and sensitivity of net interest income – ∆NII;
•	 Bank’s projection and sensitivity of economic value of equity – ∆EVE; and
•	 Time bucket sensitivity of the interest rate gap – PV01.

The Bank measures its exposure adopting both contractual and behavioural views (where items without deterministic 
maturity are assigned certain level of stickiness). The impact of the automatic options embedded in the banking book 
structure is assessed under ∆NII, ∆EVE and PV01.

The table below discloses the mismatch of the dates on which interest rates on financial assets and liabilities either will 
be reset to market rates levels, or the date on which instruments mature. Actual cash flows on reset dates may differ 
from contractual dates owing to the possible exercise of behavioural options such as prepayments. In addition, contrac-
tual terms may not be representative of the behaviour in respect of financial assets and liabilities.
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Repricing in

Carrying 
amount

Not more 
than 3 

months

Between 3 
months and 1 

year

Between 1 
year and 3 

years

Between 
3 and 5 

years

More 
than 5 
years

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
As at 31 December 2023

Balances with central banks 176,654 176,654 -  -  -  -  

Loans and advances to financial institutions 306,542 306,542 -  -  -  -  

Loans and advances to customers 2,342,469 182,537 170,213 375,285 357,302 1,257,132

  - International Corporate Lending portfolio 166,144 136,539 29,605 -  -  -  

  - Dutch Mortgage portfolio 2,104,568 39,188 120,605 330,681 319,998 1,294,096

  - Belgian Mortgage portfolio 254,937 6,810 20,003 44,604 37,304 146,216

  - IFRS basis adjustment: Mortgage portfolio (183,180) -  -  -  -  (183,180)

Investments 868,848 626,225 242,623 -  -  -  

  - Securities portfolio 422,916 180,293 242,623 -  -  -  

  - Securitisation portfolio 445,932 445,932 -  -  -  -  

3,694,513 1,291,958 412,836 375,285 357,302 1,257,132

Amounts owed to financial institutions: 278,184 278,184 -  -  -  -  

  - Due to clearing houses 180,731 180,731 -  -  -  -  

  - Due to other banks 97,453 97,453 -  -  -  -  

Amounts owed to customers 2,509,167 2,174,031 191,463 127,957 15,706 10

Debt securities in issue 910,848 22,655 66,456 235,035 586,702 -  

3,698,199 2,474,870 257,919 362,992 602,408 10

Interest rate repricing gap (1,182,912) 154,917 12,293 (245,106) 1,257,122

Impact of hedging interest rate derivatives –  
notional amounts 182,620 1,125,450 (715,000) 214,367 (58,990) (565,827)

Net interest rate repricing gap (57,462) (560,083) 226,660 (304,096) 691,295
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Repricing in

Carrying 
amount

Not more 
than 3 

months

Between 3 
months and 1 

year

Between 1 
year and 3 

years

Between 
3 and 5 

years

More 
than 5 
years

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
As at 31 December 2022

Balances with central banks 107,483 107,483 -  -  -  -  

Loans and advances to financial institutions 313,151 313,151 -  -  -  -  

Loans and advances to customers 1,870,908 212,276 135,370 341,938 227,960 953,364

  - International Corporate Lending portfolio 192,179 175,315 16,864 -  -  -  

  - Dutch Mortgage portfolio 1,818,002 33,165 106,749 314,195 209,464 1,154,429

  - Belgian Mortgage portfolio 132,000 3,796 11,757 27,743 18,496 70,208

  - IFRS basis adjustment: Mortgage portfolio (271,273) -  -  -  -  (271,273)

Investments 804,515 575,949 228,566 -  -  -  

  - Securities portfolio 389,479 160,913 228,566 -  -  -  

  - Securitisation portfolio 415,036 415,036 -  -  -  -  

3,096,057 1,208,859 363,936 341,938 227,960 953,364

Amounts owed to financial institutions: 265,410 265,410 -  -  -  -  

  - Due to other banks 265,410 265,410 -  -  -  -  

Amounts owed to customers 2,080,529 1,612,998 293,973 156,102 17,456 -  

Debt securities in issue 969,569 23,615 79,224 649,832 216,898 -  

3,315,508 1,902,023 373,197 805,934 234,354 -  

Interest rate repricing gap (693,164) (9,261) (463,996) (6,394) 953,364

Impact of hedging interest rate derivatives –  
notional amounts 354,580 1,379,250 -  (49,500) (254,733) (1,075,017)

Net interest rate repricing gap 686,086 (9,261) (513,496) (261,127) (121,653)

The net interest rate repricing gap is attributable to differences between the behavioural and the contractual view of 
repricing profile. The interest rate risk measurement, limits and hedging decisions are based on the behavioural view 
of repricing profile. The interest rate gaps under the behavioural view are kept at low levels resulting in conservative 
interest rate risk taken by the Bank.

The Bank’s exposure to interest rate risk arises predominantly from its asset/liability structure, specifically mismatch-
es between the repricing term of its International Corporate Lending and Mortgage lending portfolios and the term 
structure of customer deposits, as well as from possible impacts on the Mark-to-Market (“MtM”) value of its fixed rate 
instruments if market interest rates increase.

The Bank’s assets mainly comprise the Bank’s International Corporate Lending portfolio, that reprices periodically (gen-
erally every three months) and has a relatively short duration, and the Dutch and Belgian Mortgage portfolios, that have 
a longer-term duration.

The presence of interest rate floors embedded in most of the International Corporate Lending portfolio enables the 
Bank to mitigate its repricing risk from the Bank’s asset/liability structure, whilst the Bank generally hedges the repricing 
risk from its financial assets, namely the treasury securities, and wholesale repo funding.



113Annual Report and Financial Statements 2023

The Bank’s long-term risk exposure to interest rate risk is managed through a hedging strategy which uses a series of 
plain vanilla interest rate swaps that form a run-off profile matching a mortgage portfolio run-off profile with behavioural 
pre-payment assumptions.

A positive interest rate sensitivity gap exists where more assets than liabilities reprice during a given period. Although 
a positive gap position tends to benefit net interest income in a rising interest rate environment, the actual effect will 
depend on several factors, including the extent to which repayments are made earlier or later than the contracted date 
and variations in interest rates within repricing periods and among currencies. Similarly, a negative interest rate sensitiv-
ity gap exists where more liabilities than assets re-price during a given period. A negative gap position tends to benefit 
net interest income in a declining interest rate environment, but the actual effect will depend on the same factors as for 
positive interest rate gaps.

The management of interest rate risk attributable to interest rate repricing gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the 
sensitivity of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities to various interest rate scenarios under the stress testing frame-
work whilst the extent of the difference between risk factors on the asset side and liability side is monitored through 
the re-fixing gap analysis.

The estimated impact on the Bank’s Net Interest Margin (“NIM”) and on Economic Value of Equity based on scenarios 
and assumptions prescribed by the EBA guidelines on the management of interest rate risk arising from non trading 
book activities (EBA/GL/2018/02) would be as follows:

31 December 2023
•	 NIM would decrease by €5.3 million in a parallel up scenario and increase by €2.7 million in the parallel down 

scenario.
•	 Economic value of equity would increase by €2.9 million in a parallel up scenario and decrease by €5.2 million 

in the parallel down scenario.

31 December 2022
•	 NIM would increase by €4.0 million in a parallel up scenario and decrease by €9.4 million in the parallel down 

scenario.
•	 Economic value of equity would decrease by €3.3 million in a parallel up scenario and increase by €4.2 million 

in the parallel down scenario.

The main assumptions used in the model utilised to measure the benchmarks referred to above are:
•	 Interest bearing assets are assumed to mature on their expected maturity or behavioural prepayment profile 

and are not replaced for the ∆EVE purposes (run off balance sheet);
•	 Interest bearing assets are assumed to mature on their expected maturity and are replaced on like for like basis 

for the ∆NII purposes (constant balance sheet);
•	 The Dutch NHG and Belgian Retail mortgages are assumed to follow a CPR curve over and above the contrac-

tual principal payment schedule;
•	 In addition to the legal floor on regulated savings accounts of the Bank, there is an implicit zero floor option on 

retail customer deposits as the Bank will not charge negative rates to the retail segment of its customer base;
•	 The ∆NII and ∆EVE metrics include the effect of changes in value of the contractual automatic options embed-

ded in the banking book assets;
•	 Customer deposits follow their behavioural schedule; and
•	 Sensitivities to behavioural assumptions are measured on a quarterly basis as part of the ICAAP whereas the 

IRRBB measurement has been validated and adapted to cater for novel characteristics of new product lines.
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Interest rate movements affect reported equity in the following ways:
•	 retained earnings arising from increases or decreases in net interest income after taking into consideration the 

net impact of interest rate hedging instruments; and 
•	 fair value reserves arising from increases or decreases in fair values of investments measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income reported directly in equity.

2.4.4 Credit Spread Risk
The Bank has a portfolio of Treasury securities (held mainly as High-Quality Liquid Assets - HQLAs) and other low credit 
risk bearing assets which give rise to the Credit Spread Risk in the Banking Book (“CSRBB”). Exposure to movements in 
securities prices can be decomposed into the exposure to interest rates and to spreads which for a same level of credit-
worthiness fluctuate on a daily basis as a result of the changes in the market demand and liquidity for certain securities.

The Bank quantified the credit spread through the difference between the security’s market yield at the valuation date 
and the risk-free rate and is strengthening its market value risk assessment including metrics related to the Marked-
to-Market value sensitivity to spreads. For assets being hold to their maturities, the Bank is not directly exposed to 
their market value variations. Nevertheless, the credit spread is an important market risk category for the Bank given 
the existence of the Treasury and highly rated securities, mainly held for liquidity purposes, which could potentially be 
used as contingency assets in case of severe liquidity stress. This risk is however mitigated by the high credit quality 
requirement set in the Treasury’s policy, the short spread duration of those securities and the hold to maturity strategy 
of the Bank.

2.5 Operational risk	
In line with the Basel framework, operational risk is defined as the potential for loss arising from failed or inadequate 
internal processes, people, systems or from external events. Operational risks can arise from all business lines and 
from all activities which are carried out by the Bank. Failure to manage operational risk may result in a direct or indirect 
financial loss, reputational damage, regulatory breaches or may even have a negative impact on the management of 
other risks such as credit, liquidity or market risk. There are various operational risk subtypes, including but not limited 
to fraud (internal/external), business disruption due to reduced or non-availability of systems, inadequate outsourcing 
arrangements, the Bank’s inability to attract, retain, train and develop the right people, failed or inadequate business 
processes, data risk and project execution risk.

Operational Risk Management ensures that the Bank’s risk appetite for operational risk is translated in a form that can 
be implemented and managed in practice. As covered in the Risk Appetite Statement, the Bank has low tolerance for 
operational risk events that could jeopardise its financial performance, customer outcomes or reputation. The Bank’s 
objective is to manage operational risk to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Bank’s reputa-
tion with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity while maintain-
ing risk taking within a tolerable limit.

The governance of Operational Risk follows the Bank’s Three Lines of Defence model. The First Line of Defence is 
accountable to manage its own risks, whilst the Operational Risk Management, which forms part of the Second Line 
of Defence oversees and challenges risk taking activities and ensures that operational risks are consistently identified 
and assessed, managed adequately, monitored and reported accordingly. The Third Line of Defence (Internal Audit) 
provides an independent assurance on the design and operating effectiveness of the control structure.

The Bank also has an Operational Risk framework in place to make sure that it has a consistent and embedded ap-
proach for fully identifying and managing operational risks in an effective manner. The framework covers the following 
sections: Operational Risk Policy, Operational Risk Awareness, Operational Risk & Control Self-Assessment (RCSAs), 
Operational Risk Control Testing, Operational Risk Reporting and Incident Management & Business Continuity.
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The Risk & Control Self-Assessment process, which at minimum, is carried out on an annual basis, is used to identify, 
document and assess the key risks and controls within the Bank. The RCSA process provides a bottom-up approach 
to risk identification at granular level. The RCSA results are leveraged for creating key risk indicators and developing 
narratives for scenario analysis. The risk identification process is also supported through the use of audit findings and 
internal loss data. The Operational Risk Management uses a dedicated Operational Risk Management tool to manage 
the RCSA process and maintain a repository of loss data which captures and records operational loss events and “near 
misses” events.

Operational Risk is monitored through the development and ongoing evolution of the Key Risk Indicator (KRI) reporting 
process. Operational Risk Management aims to develop KRIs that allow for the monitoring of internal controls factors 
associated with significant risks. Operational Risk is also monitored through: Risk & Control Owners alerting Operational 
Risk Management of control deficiencies, Operational Risk Management identifying changes to the operational risk 
profiles and by Internal Audit through their assessment of Operational Risk Management and indirectly through their 
reviews of business areas. Control testing is also carried out, using a risk-based approach to identify weaknesses in 
the control environment.

Operational Risk reporting provides management with a timely view of the Bank’s Operational Risk profile and any 
breaches to the Risk Appetite Statement. Material risks and breaches are escalated to the Bank’s governing bodies, 
such as Executive Committee and Board Committee, which serve as medium to ensure that corrective action plans 
are in place to mitigate significant risks and avoid reoccurrence of events impacting the Bank’s operations. Operational 
risks are reported through the Monthly Risk Management Report, Incident Reporting, Internal Control Report and the 
annual lCAAP.

Operational Risk Management is also responsible to ensure that the Bank has contingencies in the event of business 
disruption. The Bank has in place a Business Continuity Plan (BCP) and an IT Disaster Recovery Plan (DRP), both of 
which are defined in separate documents respectively. Since the DRP focuses on the availability of IT/technology ser-
vices, the document is maintained and tested by the IT department. The BCP is intended to provide the Bank with a 
plan of actions necessary to restore critical business operations and ensuring the availability of resources whenever 
and wherever necessary and relies on the assumption that technology is available to support the business continuity 
efforts. The BCP is regularly tested to ensure the appropriateness of the responses in case of a business disruption.

A financial measurement of this risk is calculated by the Bank for the purpose of allocating risk capital using the Basic 
Indicator Approach under Regulation  (EU) No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 
2013, also known as the CRR.  The risk weighted assets for operational risk under this method as at 31 December 2023 
were calculated at €68.2 million (2022: €45.9 million).

ICT Security
ICT Risk is the risk of loss due to breach of confidentiality, failure of integrity of systems and data, inappropriateness 
or unavailability of systems and data or inability to change information technology within a reasonable time and with 
reasonable costs when the environment or business requirements change. This includes security risks resulting from 
inadequate or failed internal processes or external events including cyber-attacks or inadequate physical security.

The ICT Security function, led by the CISO manages the Bank’s ICT and Security Risk management framework. The 
Framework documents the Bank’s approach to managing ICT risks and is reviewed and approved by the Board annu-
ally. The Framework has been documented taking into consideration supervisory requirements, namely the EBA Guide-
lines on ICT and security risk management (EBA/GL/2019/04).

Responsibility to manage and mitigate ICT risks lies with all Bank employees, employees follow the Bank’s Information 
Security policies and procedures. 
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Residual ICT Security risks are managed in the context of the Bank’s Risk Appetite Statement. ICT Security critical and 
non-critical risk appetite limits have been defined by the Bank. Breaches at different levels will trigger a course of action 
– risk appetite breaches and notification thresholds are reported to the Board on a monthly basis.

The Bank’s three-year ICT Security strategy is embedded within the overall ICT Strategy and is aligned with the Bank’s 
overall business strategy.

ICT Risk Identification and ICT Risk Mitigation:

•	 ICT Risk Identification: the group adopts several techniques to identify ICT risks. Risk sources include ICT se-
curity risk assessments, external security assessments, IT Security policy spot-checks, ICT security audits, ICT 
security policy exemptions, RCSAs, risks assessed as part of third-party due diligence, risks identified through 
ongoing monitoring of ICT infrastructure and risks identified through monitoring the cyber security threat land-
scape.

•	 ICT Risk Mitigation: risks are documented in the ICT risk register and are followed up by the IT Security 
function. A risk treatment plan is documented for each risk. A control owner is defined and an implementation 
timeline for each control is documented. Implementation of controls is followed up by the IT Security function 
with the relevant control owner(s).

ICT Security controls implemented by the Bank through the IT Security strategy are grouped into the following  
categories:

a) Physical Security;
b) Logical Security;
c) ICT Operations Security;
d) Security monitoring; and
e) Information Security reviews, assessment and training.

 
ICT risks are reported to the Group ExCo every six months. Additionally, every month the CISO provides a status update 
of the IT Security programme to the Board. This includes coverage of selected IT risks, IT risk appetite limits and Key 
Risk Indicators (“KRIs”). 
 
Cyber security matters of interest are also reported to the Board. This includes updates on the Cyber security land-
scape, new and existing threats and how the Group is responding to such threats and results of external security tests. 
 
Risk reports, security control test results and results from phishing awareness campaigns are presented to the Group 
Management Risk Committee (“MRC”) and the Group Operations Committee.

ICT Change Management
Identification and management of information security requirements and associated processes are integrated in early 
stages of ICT projects. An IT Security risk assessment is conducted for major projects to identify any security risks as 
well as challenge the design of the project.

A Technical Product Owner shall liaise with IT Security to ensure that any security requirements are included in the 
Product Specifications Document (PSD). Security requirements shall be vetted by the CISO or a delegate. IT Security 
and Operational Risk verify that the solution includes the necessary controls. Where the product being reviewed pro-
cesses PII (Personally Identifiable Information), the Data Protection Officer conducts a Data Privacy Impact Assessment 
(DPIA).
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2.6 Environmental, Social and Governance-related (“ESG”) risk
During 2023, the Group continued to integrate sustainability into its internal organisational structure as part of the  
implementation of its ESG agenda. 

The Board of Directors are ultimately responsible for approving and overseeing the implementation of the Group’s stra-
tegic objectives, principal policies and procedures, including its ESG Strategy and Climate-related and Environmental 
Risks  (“CER”)/ESG risk procedures and commitments that are incorporated into the Group’s wider risk management 
framework. Moreover, the Board reviews and approves the Group’s Non-Financial report together with the Group Annual 
Report & Financial Statements ensuring that all material ESG-related topics are covered and disclosed.	

The Board structure enables the Group to coordinate its CER/ESG policies and procedures to ensure consistency on 
matters affecting all entities within the Group across all jurisdictions including Malta, Belgium, UK and the Netherlands. 
By setting the ESG agenda at the parent level, the Board ensures a common ESG strategic framework which can be 
deployed and implemented across the Group, including at the subsidiary level. This helps to ensure that ESG is given 
appropriate priority on the Group’s agenda and that ESG factors are embedded in the decision-making processes at 
all levels of the Group structure.	

The Board maintains oversight of CER/ESG risks via periodic updates (at least once a quarter) that are given during 
the routine Board meetings by the Group Head of Sustainability.

The ESG Committee has the overall responsibility to oversee CER/ESG risks and initiatives including oversight of the 
MeDirect ESG strategy and agenda implementation, whilst providing advice and support to the Board of Directors on 
CER/ESG-related matters. The Committee consists of top management of main functions, including Finance (Group 
Chief Financial Officer, Belgium Chief Financial Officer and Procurement manager), Risk (Group Chief Risk Officer and 
Belgium Chief Risk Officer), Compliance and other Business functions. The Group Chief Financial Officer is the Chair of 
the Committee and the Belgium Chief Risk Officer is the co-Chair.

Moreover, the Group incorporated CER across the three lines of defence (“LoD”) by updating business procedures and 
policies, the risk management framework, risk appetite, stress testing, compliance monitoring plans and internal audit 
plan. The front-line business is responsible for identifying, assessing and managing sustainability risks within their spe-
cific operations and for incorporating the management of such risks in the various stages of their business processes 
including, amongst others, the credit process. Business functions should follow the internal procedures related to ESG/
CER in their day-to-day business operations. The Risk function is responsible for developing and tracking a dashboard 
of relevant CER/ESG risk indicators, stress test and limits within the existing risk reporting frameworks of the Group, 
with continuous enhancement over time. The Risk function has integrated CER and ESG risks (both financial and 
non-financial) in their risk identification and management process comprehensively analysing the ways in which CER 
and ESG risks may affect different areas of the Group. The Compliance Functions are responsible for preparing com-
pliance plans that consider CER/ESG risk. The Compliance Function operates independently from the business units, 
albeit advising and assisting the business units and other internal functions to ensure that operations are in line with 
policies, procedures and regulation. The IAF (third line of defence) is responsible for executing a multi-year audit plan 
across the Group and on a periodic basis, provides (global or targeted) assurance on the integration and proper imple-
mentation of CER/ESG risks across the governance, internal control, operational and business processes of the Group. 
The Regulatory Affairs function monitors all incoming regulatory and legislative changes, (including CER/ESG-specific 
legislation) and ensures that the Group is kept abreast of all such changes.

All the strategic objectives and commitments related to CER/ESG were incorporated in the ESG Strategy 2022-
2024/25 “On the path to sustainability for 2022-2024/25”. During the last two years the Group incorporated CER/ESG 
criteria in a number of policies and procedures including Risk Management Framework, Risk Appetite Statements, the
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Stress Testing Framework, Sustainability Risk, Planning and Budgeting, Impairment and Accounting, Procurement and 
Remuneration policies.

MeDirect Sustainability Policy outlines the Group’s approach on integrating and managing sustainability risks in the 
Group’s main processes including credit, wealth, procurement, remuneration and governance processes.	

During 2023, the Risk and appropriate Business functions have adopted (hard) risk appetite limits into its Risk Appetite 
Statements for all lending portfolios linked to physical and/or transition climate risks, such as high flood risk and high 
sea-level increase risk regions, poor EPC scoring (yearly energy efficiency) of the mortgaged properties, sectors highly 
contributing to climate change, and exclusion sectoral lists. The Group will monitor these limits, and applies escalation 
procedure, in line with the Risk Appetite Framework, in case of a breach in limits.

The Group also incorporated into its operational framework the risk of CER impacting its operational centres and repu-
tation. The Operational Risk Policy includes the extreme natural disaster scenario that damages the Malta operation (not 
accessible for 3D) and impacts capital. The Business Continuity Plan (“BCP”) includes scenarios related to natural haz-
ards (e.g. storm, earthquake, flooding) and power failure, among others. The Incident management procedure includes 
scenarios related to physical risk due to inability to operate from offices/branches (e.g. earthquake, and other natural 
disasters) with the escalation and scenarios related to counterparties reputation affected by ESG risk. The Operation-
al & Reputational Risk Appetite Statement includes CER impact of the Group counterparties and Reputational Risk 
Management Policy includes ESG risk affecting reputation. In addition, the Planning and Budgeting Policy and Impair-
ment and Accounting Policy were updated to include CER in budgeting process and impairment calculation whenever  
applicable.

The Risk function reviews and updates on an annual basis the Group CER Materiality Assessment that analyses the 
sensitivity of the Group’s businesses to physical and transition risks using a forward-looking approach. In 2023, the 
Group reviewed its initial assessment to analyse the main CER that may impact MeDirect strategy, business model, 
asset portfolios, funding sources, treasury and hedging, wealth management services, as well as the business operating 
centres in which it operates. The assessment was presented to the ESG Committee and was validated by the Board.

The assessment included all on-balance sheet elements and off-balance sheet elements, covering physical risks 
(floods/fluvial, sea level risk, drought/external heat, forest fire/wildfire, biodiversity loss, water stress) and transition risks 
(policy/regulations, stranding risk, market sentiment, technology change) including high-level impact horizons (short, 
medium and long-term). The Group used the European Climate Risk Typology, European Environment Agency maps 
and Moody’s Investor Services analysis including sectoral heatmaps while analysing individual physical risks. To ana-
lyse transition risk, the Group used Moody’s Analytics researches and Grantham Research Institute’s report on Climate 
Change and the Environment that are publicly available. The assessment was conducted on a proportional and risk-
based approach, utilising currently available sources and data. The materiality assessment was conducted by the Risk 
function with the support of the relevant business functions.

The materiality assessment concluded that the overall strategic Group’s exposure to CER is limited given the Group’s 
business profile and its strategy. The direct impact of MeDirect operation is not material as the Group mainly operates 
in digital channels and its greenhouse gas emissions and resources consumption are limited. The impact is mainly in-
direct through financing clients from the sectors highly contributing to the climate change or through green financing. 
The assessment indicated that the assets could be impacted by CER primarily through credit risk (deterioration of 
collateral valuation and deterioration of credit standing of the borrower), retail funding primarily through reputational 
risk (deposit outflows), wholesale funding primarily through counterparty/country risk and deterioration of securities 
collateral valuation, wealth management services through market sentiment (fund classes) and operational centres 
through operational risk (higher energy requirements, physical risk of destruction or failure).
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The Group assessment has shown a higher transition risk related to its residential mortgage portfolios in the Nether-
lands, Belgium and Malta driven by stranding assets risk and wealth management services driven by market sentiment 
The real estate portfolios of Belgium and Netherlands are the most exposed to these risks in the long-term due to their 
geographical location. The assessment was conducted in line with the approach adopted in the 2022 ECB Climate 
Stress Test, using a regional approach based on Eurostat’s nomenclature of territorial units for statistics (“NUTS”) for 
EU countries and European Climate Risk Typology (“ECRT”) using CER scenarios.  The Group’s exposure to these port-
folios represents almost €2.4 billion (48 % of the Group 2023 assets) as presented in the table below. 

Balance sheet exposure Group assets

€000 %

Dutch NHG mortgage portfolio exposure 2,019 41%

Dutch Buy-to-let mortgage portfolio exposure 86 2%

Belgian Mortgage portfolio exposure 255 5%

A relatively low proportion of the Group’s Dutch Mortgage portfolio is exposed to higher flood risk (3.5%) and none 
of the Belgian Mortgage portfolio, while 17.9% of the Group’s Dutch Mortgage portfolio and 22.9% of the Belgium  
Mortgage portfolio is exposed to higher sea hazard risk area. 

2023 2022

% %

% of Dutch NHG mortgage portfolio exposure in high flood risk areas 3.5% 3.5%

% of Dutch NHG mortgage portfolio exposure in high sea hazard risk areas 17.9% 17.7%

% of Dutch Buy-to-let mortgage portfolio exposure in high flood risk areas 4.4% N/A

% of Dutch Buy-to-let mortgage portfolio exposure in high sea hazard risk areas 3.1% N/A

% of Belgian Mortgage portfolio exposure in high flood risk areas - -

% of Belgian Mortgage portfolio exposure in high sea hazard risk areas 22.9% 24.8%

The physical risk in the Dutch Mortgage portfolio property is mitigated through property insurance or the Nation-
al Mortgage Guarantee (NHG) protection. In Belgium, the Group implemented a contractual obligation for clients to 
purchase property insurance that automatically covers flood risk. Most of the Group’s Belgian mortgages are already 
covered by property insurance.

Moreover, the Group implemented the portfolio limits related to high flood risk in the Dutch and Belgian Risk Appetite 
Statement.

The transition risk related to sea level increase hazard in the Dutch and Belgium Mortgage portfolios is a long-term risk. 
The Group monitors the exposure to this risk in the quarterly Risk Report and Dutch and Belgian Risk Appetite State-
ment the portfolio limits related to high coastal (sea-level) risk.

Notwithstanding these risks, the Group has assessed its residual risk as low, particularly in the short- to medium-term. 
The assessment indicates that based on its current CER/ESG risk profile, no additional capital or liquidity buffer is re-
quired to cover potential impact of CER risk.

Moreover, CER has been also assessed from both the normative and economic perspectives of the Internal Capital 
Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”), which assesses its impact on the profit or loss, capital requirements and 
solvency (PD, LGD). The Group has incorporated climate-related scenarios into its stress testing processes, which
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encompass both physical and transition risks over a three-year time horizon. The updated 2023 capital stress tests 
include scenarios linked to MeDirect operation (physical risk related to significant weather conditions impacting MT 
operation) and credit portfolios (NGFS Scenario Combined, Net Zero 2050 Scenario and transition risk related to new 
CER regulations impose on homeowners with energy-inefficient properties to renovate their houses) with the impact on 
capital ratios. The impact of the CER transition scenario on capital is €14.3 million, and on impairment is €28.5 million 
over and above the budgeted amount of impairments. The impact of the CER physical scenario on capital is €15.0 mil-
lion operational loss. The Group continues to evolve its stress testing processes and to enhance existing processes to 
be able to conduct adequate and plausible Climate Risk Stress Tests to make informed decisions.

During the last two years the Group participated in the ECB Climate Stress Tests and ECB Climate thematic review. In 
addition, the Group also participates in the ECB Climate Fit-for-55 one-off data collection process.

2.7 Capital management - regulatory capital
The Bank’s regulator, the ECB’s Joint Supervisory Team (“JST”) sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank 
based on the capital requirements prescribed within CRR II and Capital Requirements Directive (“CRD V”).

As a result, the Bank is required to maintain a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk-weighted assets. The Bank 
does not engage in trading and is exempt from having a trading book. Risk-weighted assets on the banking book are 
determined according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels of risk attached to assets includ-
ing balances with counterparties and other illiquid assets.

The Bank complies with the provisions of the CRR in respect of regulatory capital and it applies the standardised ap-
proach for credit risk. For regulatory purposes, the Bank’s capital base is divided in two main categories, namely Com-
mon Equity Tier 1 Capital and Tier 2 Capital.

•	 Common Equity Tier 1 Capital which includes ordinary share capital, share premium, shareholders’ contribu-
tions, retained earnings, fair value reserve and other regulatory adjustments relating to items that are included 
in equity but are treated differently for capital adequacy purposes including deductions relating to Reserve for 
Depositor Compensation Scheme (‘Other reserves’) and certain other regulatory items; and

•	 Tier 2 Capital consists of unrealised gains included within the fair value reserve and subordinated liabilities in 
issue, which rank after the claims of all depositors (including financial institutions) and all other creditors.

2023 2022

% %

CET 1 Ratio 22.1 22.3

Total Capital Ratio 22.1 22.3

The Bank’s policy is to maintain a good capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 
future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognised and the 
Bank recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing 
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

In this respect, the Bank has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the year.
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MDB Group Limited publishes full Pillar 3 disclosures as a separate document. The Group’s Pillar 3 Disclosures Annual 
Report provides information about the financial risk management of MeDirect.

The MeDirect Belgium Disclosures are prepared in accordance with the requirements in Article 433b of Part Eight of 
the EU Regulation 876/2019 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending regulation (EU) 
No 575/2013 (Capital Requirements Regulation 2 – “CRR 2”). Given that the Bank is a ‘small and non-complex institu-
tion’ it is required to publish the disclosures as per Article 433b CRR on an annual basis.

2.8 Fair value measurement
‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction be-
tween market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market 
to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active market for that in-
strument. A market is regarded as active if the transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency 
and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. The judgement as to whether a market is active may 
include, but is not restricted to, the consideration of factors such as the magnitude and frequency of trading activity, 
the availability of prices and the size of bid/offer spreads.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of rele-
vant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all 
of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price - i.e., 
the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Bank determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs 
from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by the quoted price in an active market for an identical 
asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the financial 
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition 
and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss only to the extent that it arises 
from a change in a factor (including time) that market participants would consider in setting a price.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Bank measures assets and long 
positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
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2.8.1 Fair value hierarchy
The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used 
in making the measurements:

•	 Level 1: inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments.
•	 Level 2: inputs other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e., 

as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted mar-
ket prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets 
that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or 
indirectly observable from market data. Financial instruments which are generally included in this category in-
clude certain loans and advances to customers and over-the-counter derivatives where the fair value is based 
on observable inputs.

•	 Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation technique 
includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the 
instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar 
instruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences 
between the instruments.

2.8.2 Use of valuation techniques
In the event that the market for a financial instrument is not active, a valuation technique is used. Valuation techniques 
may incorporate assumptions about factors that other market participants would use in their valuations, including:

•	 the likelihood and expected timing of future cash flows from the instrument;
•	 selecting an appropriate discount rate for the instrument; and
•	 judgement to determine what model to use to calculate fair value in areas where the choice of valuation model 

is particularly subjective.

A range of valuation techniques is employed, dependent on the instrument type and available market data. Most val-
uation techniques are based upon discounted cash flow analyses, in which expected future cash flows are calculated 
and discounted to present value using a discounting curve. Prior to considering credit risk, the expected future cash 
flows may be known, as would be the case for the fixed leg of an interest rate swap, or may be uncertain and require 
projection, as would be the case for the floating leg of an interest rate swap. Projection utilises market forward curves, 
if available.

Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads 
and other premiums used in estimating discount rates, bond and foreign currency exchange rates and expected price 
volatilities and correlations.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be 
received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.

The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and simple financial in-
struments, such as interest rate and currency swaps, that use only observable market data and require minimal man-
agement judgement and estimation.

Fair values of investment securities in inactive markets are based on:
•	 quoted prices of similar instruments, performing numerical procedures such as interpolation when input values 

do not directly correspond to the most active market trade parameters; or
•	 price quotations in respect of orderly transactions between market participants provided by reputable dealers.
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Observable prices and model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, exchange 
traded derivatives and simple over the counter derivatives such as interest rate swaps. Availability of observable market 
prices and model inputs reduces the need for management judgement and estimation and reduces the uncertainty as-
sociated with determining fair values. Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the prod-
ucts and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.

2.8.3 Financial instruments measured at fair value
The following table analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting year, in terms of 
the respective levels within the fair value hierarchy into which the respective fair value measurement is categorised. The 
fair value amounts are based on the carrying amounts reflected in the statement of financial position.

Level 2 assets principally comprise derivatives held for risk management that are fair valued based on valuation models 
with the key methodology utilised comprising the calculation of the net present value of a series of expected cash flows, 
considering the different terms of each specific contract/instrument (discounted cash flow approach). These models 
use as their basis independently sourced market parameters including, for example, interest rate yield curves. Market 
parameters are either directly observable or are implied from observable instrument prices. The model may perform 
numerical procedures in respect of pricing such as interpolation when input values do not directly correspond to the 
most active market trade parameters. 

Level 3 assets consist of the following:
•	 MeDirect had entered into back-to-back structured interest rate swaps that reinternalised interest rate risk of 

the securitised mortgage loan receivables. The valuation of these derivatives as at 31 December 2022 was per-
formed based on the expected cashflows on the swap transaction measured until the First Optional Redemp-
tion Date (FORD) of these related securitisations transactions. The valuation included both market observable 
inputs (interest rate curves) as well as mortgage loan prepayment estimates consistent with MeDirect IRRBB 
assumptions.

•	 As part of a derecognition of loans and advances to a European corporation as a result of restructuring pro-
cedures that occurred in 2021, the Bank obtained equity instruments as part of this restructuring procedure 
which it initially held at nil value due to the unlikely scenario of recovering any value on the equity at that time. 
During 2022, the Bank was notified of an agreement to sell the corporation against which the Bank would be 
receiving proceeds for the equity positions it held. Following the closing of this transaction in 2023, the Bank 
received €0.8 million.

As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Assets

Instruments mandatorily measured at fair 
value through profit or loss

  - Derivative financial instruments  -  207,438 -  207,438 -  275,276 80,061 355,337

  - Securities investment portfolio - Equity 
instruments -  -  -  -  -  -  819 819

Total financial assets -  207,438 - 207,438 -  275,276 80,880 356,156

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments   -  24,648 -  24,648 -  5,306 -  5,306
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The following table shows a reconciliation of the fair value measurements in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: 

Securitisation investment portfolio 
measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive  income

Securities investment  
measured at fair value 
through profit or loss

Derivative financial  
instruments measured at fair 
value through profit or loss

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Year ended 31 December

At beginning of year -  347,972 819 -  80,061 5,051

Amortisation of premium/discount -  3 -  - -  -

Changes in fair value -  96 -  819 (80,061) 75,010

Realised -  -  (819) -  -  -  

Transfer to amortised cost category -  (348,071) -  - -  -

At end of year -  -  -  819 -  80,061

As previously mentioned, the Bank’s main exposure to Level 3 assets consist of derivative assets as part of back-to-
back structured interest swaps. It has been determined that any changes to the unobservable inputs to the underlying 
models will result in changes to the value of the back-to-back structured interest swaps, but this will result in a corre-
sponding change in the valuation of the derivative liabilities off-set with the loans and advances to financial institutions, 
as discussed further in note 2.2.9.

Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis of the fair value measurement to changes in observable inputs is not deemed  
relevant.

2.8.3.1 Transfers between levels
The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting year during which 
the transfer has occurred.

There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the financial years ended 31 December 2023 
and 2022.
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As at 31 December 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair values Total carrying amount

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Assets

Loans and advances to customers -  25,351 2,114,039 2,139,390 2,384,733

 - International Corporate Lending portfolio -  25,351 -  25,351 25,228

 - Dutch Mortgage portfolio -  -  1,875,134 1,875,134 2,104,568*

 - Belgian Mortgage portfolio -  -  238,905 238,905 254,937*

Investments 409,007 -  438,753 847,760 868,848

 - Securities portfolio 409,007 -  -  409,007 422,916

 - Securitisation portfolio  -  -  438,753 438,753 445,932

Total financial assets 409,007 25,351 2,552,792 2,987,150 3,253,581

Liabilities

Debt securities in issue -  -  914,409 914,409 910,848

Total financial liabilities -  -  914,409 914,409 910,848

As at 31 December 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair values Total carrying amount

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Assets

Loans and advances to customers -  21,470 1,654,518 1,675,988 2,012,163

 - International Corporate Lending portfolio -  21,470 35,733 57,203 62,161

 - Dutch Mortgage portfolio -  -  1,486,918 1,486,918 1,818,002*

 - Belgian Mortgage portfolio -  -  131,867 131,867 132,000*

Investments 365,729 -  398,544 764,273 804,515

 - Securities portfolio 365,729 -  -  365,729 389,479

 - Securitisation portfolio  -  -  398,544 398,544 415,036

Total financial assets 365,729 21,470 2,053,062 2,440,261 2,816,678

Liabilities

Debt securities in issue -  -  971,209 971,209 969,569

Total financial liabilities -  -  971,209 971,209 969,569

2.8.4 Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and analyses them in 
terms of the respective level within the fair value hierarchy into which the respective fair value measurement is catego-
rised. This table includes only financial instruments in respect of which fair value is estimated to be materially different 
than the carrying amounts.

* The Bank’s Mortgage portfolios disclosed in the preceding tables are presented exclusive of the IFRS basis adjustment equivalent 
to €183.2 million (2022: €271.3 million).
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The Level 1 fair values reflected in the tables above consist of the closing bid price quoted in an active market in respect 
of debt securities classified under the Securities Investment portfolio.

The Level 2 and Level 3 fair value disclosures of the International Corporate Lending portfolio mainly comprise price 
quotations sourced from an online platform in respect of internationally traded loans and advances, consisting of the 
Bank’s international loan book with foreign corporates. Loans and advances to customers forming part of the Interna-
tional Corporate Lending portfolio of the Bank amounting to €140.9 million (2022: €130.1 million), net of expected credit 
losses, have not been reflected within the preceding table given that there were no observable market prices or any 
public information available but the contractual terms of these instruments, that mainly re-price within three months, 
and the nature of the borrowers, are similar to those of the instruments in the preceding table and thus their fair valua-
tion characteristics would not differ significantly from those of the instruments included in the preceding table.

The Level 3 assets also include the following:
•	 The Bank’s investments in tranches of securitisation structures amounting to €445.9 million (2022: €415.0 mil-

lion), which are mainly rated AAA, and for which a fair value is determined using third party valuation models to 
estimate the net present value of a series of expected cash flows, taking into consideration instrument-specific 
contractual terms (discounted cash flow approach). Amongst other things, these models take into considera-
tion the characteristics of the underlying portfolio of assets (including quality of underlying assets), historical 
portfolio performance, and the liability structure of the CLO transaction. These models also make use of inde-
pendently sourced market parameters including, for example, interest rate yield curves.

•	 Dutch mortgages amounting to €2,104.5 million (2022: €1,818.0 million) and Belgium mortgages amounting to 
€254.9 million (2022: €132.0 million) included in Loans and advances to customers. In order to derive their fair 
value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Bank bootstraps the average of the top three interest rate quotes 
offered by Dutch government-backed mortgage loan lenders in the Netherlands and Belgian mortgage loan 
lenders in Belgium respectively for every mortgage fixed rate tenor to create a zero coupon discount curve and 
applies this curve to discount the projected future cashflows. In addition, to estimate the future cashflows, the 
Bank considers both instrument-specific contractual terms and estimated conditional prepayment rates.

The Bank’s financial instruments not measured at fair value also comprise balances with central banks, loans and 
advances to financial institutions, and amounts owed to financial institutions and customers. The fair values of these 
financial assets and liabilities are not disclosed given that the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair 
value because these are either re-priced to current market rates frequently or are short-term in nature.

As at 31 December 2023, all the Bank’s exposures classified under loans and advances to financial institutions amount-
ing to €306.5 million (2022: €313.0 million), and balances with central banks amounting to €176.7 million (2022: €107.0 
million), reprice or mature in less than one year. Hence their fair value is not deemed to differ materially from their carry-
ing amount at the reporting date.

Fair values referred to above are estimated using discounted cash flows, applying market rates. These estimates are 
considered Level 3 fair value estimates. 

The majority of the ‘Amounts owed to financial institutions’ of the Bank as at 31 December 2023 amounting to €278.2 
million (2022: €265.0 million), and ‘Amounts owed to customers’ of the Bank amounting to €2.5 billion (2022: €2.1 bil-
lion), sourced from the Belgian market, re-price or mature in less than one year. Hence their fair value is not deemed 
to differ materially from their carrying amount at the reporting date. Fair values of these liabilities are estimated using 
discounted cash flows, applying current rates offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities. These are considered 
Level 3 fair value estimates. The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on demand, dis-
counted from the first date on which the amount payable is required to be paid.	
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3. Accounting estimates and judgements

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying the Bank’s accounting policies
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates are, by defini-
tion, seldom equal to the related actual results. These estimates and assumptions present a risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. The Bank’s management also 
makes judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies 
that may have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised pro-
spectively. 

Information about assumptions, estimations and uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material  
adjustment in the year ending 31 December 2024 is set out below in relation to estimated cash flows for the purposes 
of applying the effective interest method and the impairment of financial instruments.

3.2 Expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are evaluated for impairment on the basis described in Accounting Policy 
Note 1.5. Expected credit losses (“ECL”) on loans and advances represent management’s best estimate of expected 
credit losses on the loan portfolios subject to IFRS 9 impairment requirements at the end of the reporting period. In this 
respect, management is required to exercise judgement in defining what is considered to be a significant increase in 
credit risk or an unlikeliness-to-pay event, in determining the expected lifetime and point of initial recognition of financial 
instruments, and in making assumptions and estimates to incorporate relevant information about past events, current 
conditions and forecasts of economic conditions when calculating expected credit losses.

The measurement of credit loss allowances in respect of loans and advances to customers in line with IFRS 9 princi-
ples requires complex statistical analyses and modelling assumptions, with ECL models built and calibrated principally 
by reference to historical information in respect of default levels and loss severities. However, due to the inherent level 
of estimation uncertainty in modelling such aspects of the ECL calculation, a significant element of expert judgement 
is required to ensure that model parameters produce an ECL output which is reasonable and appropriate in light of 
existing conditions.

For loans within the Bank’s International Corporate Lending portfolio, judgement is firstly required in determining wheth-
er there is objective evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired. In performing this assessment, management applies 
a significant level of judgement in evaluating all relevant information on indicators of unlikeliness-to-pay, including 
the consideration of factors that immediately indicate deterioration in the financial condition of borrowers, but also in 
respect of factors that impact the outlook of borrowers affecting their ability to pay, as described in Note 1.5. A higher 
level of judgement is required for loans to borrowers showing continued signs of financial difficulty similar to those 
experienced during the preceding financial year, and for borrowers that are performing better compared to the prior 
year to understand whether the improvements are sustainable going forward. These judgements are reflected within 
forecasted cash flow forecasts under different scenarios for Stage 2 borrowers particularly when assessing their un-
likeliness to pay.

The measurement of credit loss allowances in respect of defaulted exposures is performed through an internally  
developed model based upon management’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows that are expected to
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be received under multiple forward looking scenarios. As described in note 2.2.1 the Bank utilises a DCF approach. In 
estimating cash flows for defaulted exposures within the International Corporate Lending portfolio, management makes 
judgements about a debtor’s financial situation and future repayment prospects, taking into consideration manage-
ment plans for growth within the current environment. In this regard, judgement is applied in estimating the expected 
future cash flows from each borrower under the different scenarios, assigning probabilities to those scenarios, and de-
termining appropriate discount rates reflecting borrower-specific characteristics. The determination of operating cash 
flows under multiple scenarios requires a significant level of judgement in order to adequately capture the current 
economic conditions. 

The estimates of recoverable cash flows for each defaulted borrower are independently reviewed and challenged by the 
Bank’s credit risk function, and approved by the Bank’s Management Credit Committee.

During 2023 and 2022, the Bank extended loan forbearance measures to borrowers experiencing financial difficulties 
by agreeing to modify the contractual payment terms of loans in order to improve collection opportunities or to avoid 
default. Where forbearance activities are present, higher levels of judgement and estimation uncertainty are involved 
in determining their effects on credit loss allowances. Significant judgement was required in determining whether sub-
stantial modifications were made to contractual terms, thereby requiring derecognition of the extinguished financial 
instrument(s) and the recognition of the new financial instrument(s). In addition, whether such restructuring lead to the 
recognition of new financial instruments or the continuing recognition of the pre-restructured debt, the determination 
of the relative staging of the post-restructured debt and the measurement of the associated credit loss allowances are 
also deemed to be highly judgemental.

For exposures classified as Stage 1 and Stage 2 within the International Corporate Lending portfolio, and all exposures 
within the Dutch and Belgian Mortgage portfolios, the Bank measures credit loss allowances on the basis of com-
plex models with a number of underlying assumptions. Particularly, in respect of the International Corporate Lending  
portfolio, the level of estimation uncertainty is exacerbated in respect of: 
(i) modelling PiT PDs and LGDs;   										        
(ii) forecasting macroeconomic scenarios for the purposes of estimating probability-weighted credit loss allowances;
(iii) the determination of expected maturities of facilities, particularly in the case of International Corporates classified 
as Stage 2; and
(iv) assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk, which comprise a combination of qualitative and 
quantitative criteria, as described in Note 1.5.

The PD, LGD and EAD models used for the measurement of credit loss allowances for the International Corporate Lend-
ing and Dutch Mortgage portfolios are developed by an external vendor, enabling the estimation of these three key risk 
parameters at a facility level using statistical models, mainly by benchmarking exposure-specific characteristics against 
an underlying dataset. Specifically, PDs and LGDs are developed on a name-by-name basis by reference to the default 
and loss history of comparable borrowers with similar characteristics in terms of size, industry and country of operations.

In this regard, the methodology together with the assumptions and parameterisation used in the calibration of the mod-
el are reviewed on a regular basis by management in order to ensure that the model output remains appropriate in view 
of the Bank’s observed default and credit loss history. A significant level of judgement is required in order to assess the 
continuing appropriateness and reasonableness of the PiT PDs and LGDs being determined by the statistical models. In 
this respect, it is noteworthy to mention that the Bank’s IFRS 9 model for determining PiT PDs is particularly sensitive to 
equity market data. As a result, given that equity prices are driven by factors unrelated to creditworthiness, a significant 
level of expert judgement is required to determine the reasonableness of ECL model outputs. As described in more detail 
in Note 2.2.7 of the financial statements, as at 31 December 2023 the Bank did not resort to the application of overlays.
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Similarly, significant judgement was also required in the modelling and selection of macroeconomic forecasts as well 
as in calibration of the severities and respective probability weights of macroeconomic scenarios used in the determi-
nation of ECLs. Judgement in this respect has been amplified by the heightened level of uncertainty triggered by the 
unprecedented economic and socio-political conditions being currently experienced across countries and industries. 
In this respect, a number of modelling assumptions are required, based on expert judgement, in order to form a view 
on the expected time horizon for the global economy to return to pre- COVID-19 levels and the impact of the conflict 
between Russia and Ukraine and between Israel and Hamas on macroeconomic variables in specific countries and 
industries.

Hence, as at 31 December 2023, the development of multiple forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios taking into 
consideration all these variables represents a key element of estimation uncertainty in the measurement of credit loss 
allowances. In addition, as described in Note 2.2.7 of the financial statements, the Bank ensures that the modelled mac-
roeconomic forecasts provided by the external vendor that supplies the Bank with the applicable modelled scenarios 
for the purposes of ECL modelling  are aligned with the ECB staff macroeconomic projections published in December 
2023.

In view of the high subjectivity involved in forecasting scenarios and the sensitivity of the ECL to the key changes in 
the number, selection and probability weightings applicable to the different scenarios, the Bank has recalculated the 
ECL under the different scenarios both by applying a 100% weight to each scenario, as well as by re-calibrating the 
probability weights to scenario severities determined by the external vendor as in the preceding year, i.e. prior to any 
post-model adjustments. The effect of this uncertainty on the ECL outcome is disclosed in the sensitivity analysis of the 
measured credit loss allowances as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 presented in Note 2.2.7 of the financial statements.

The determination of expected maturities, which is particularly relevant for Stage 2 exposures within the International 
Corporate Lending portfolio, is based on behavioural maturity, reflecting management expectations on the exercise of 
prepayment options, based on borrowers’ ability to refinance their debt in the open market. The level of subjectivity in 
determining expected maturities increases significantly when increased credit risk is experienced by such borrowers 
as it diminishes their refinancing abilities over the shorter term. In this context, management continues to monitor the 
expected maturities of borrowers in Stage 2 by reference to borrower specific information as well as by benchmarking 
the expected timing of future recoveries against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.

The identification of SICR events, particularly in respect of the International Corporate Lending portfolio, requires sig-
nificant judgement in order to assess the severity of the impact of significant events on the financial performance and 
financial condition of such borrowers.  In this respect, during 2023 and 2022, increased reliance has continued to be 
made by the Bank on its qualitative staging criteria, particularly through the introduction of caps on implied ratings and 
notch downgrades to ensure that borrower specific risks as at the end of the financial reporting period are captured in 
as timely a manner as possible.	

3.3 Valuation of derivatives and hedge accounting
The level of management judgment required in establishing fair value of derivative financial instruments is limited for 
those instruments valued using valuation models which are standard across the industry and where all parameter in-
puts are quoted in active markets.

The level of subjectivity and degree of management judgment required is more significant for those derivative financial 
instruments valued using specialised and sophisticated models and where some or all of the parameter inputs are less 
liquid or less observable. Management judgment is required in the selection and application of appropriate parameters, 
assumptions and modelling techniques. Where no market data are available for a particular instrument then pricing
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inputs are determined by assessing other relevant sources of information such as historical data and making appro-
priate adjustment to reflect the actual instrument being valued and current market conditions. Further, some valuation 
adjustments may require the exercise of management judgment to achieve fair value.

Moreover, the accounting treatment of the hedging relationship and the effectiveness test is based on a number of 
assumptions that include amongst others the expected future early redemptions and renegotiations of the Mortgage 
portfolios.

Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are required to be disclosed according to the inputs to the valuation 
method that are used to determine their fair value. Specifically, segmentation is required between those valued using 
valuation techniques based on observable parameters (level 2) and valuation techniques using significant unobserv-
able parameters (level 3). Management judgment is required in determining the category to which certain instruments 
should be allocated. This specifically arises when the valuation is determined by a number of parameters, some of which 
are observable and others are not.

4. Balances with central banks

As at 31 December 2023, balances held with central banks include reserve deposits amounting to €21.9 million (2022: 
€19.9 million) relating to the Minimum Reserve Requirement in terms of Regulation (EC) No 1745/2003 of the ECB bear-
ing interest at 0% per annum. Other balances with central banks held by the Bank with the National Bank of Belgium 
amounting to €154.7 million (2022: €104.3 million) are subject to a positive interest rate of 4% (2022: positive interest 
rate of 2%) per annum.

Balances with central banks in the preceding table are shown net of credit loss allowances amounting to €1 thousand 
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

2023 2022

€000 €000

At amortised cost:

Balances with Central Banks 176,654 107,483
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5. Derivative financial instruments

The Bank established derivative lines with counterparties to purchase foreign exchange swaps, interest rate swaps and 
other appropriate instruments approved for hedging risks.

The Bank uses over-the-counter foreign exchange swaps to hedge its exposure to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
All foreign exchange swaps mature within 1 month (2022: 2 months) from the reporting date. 

The Bank also uses over-the-counter interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk emanating from a 
portfolio of fixed-rate mortgages (see Note below – macro fair value hedging under the EU carve-out version of IAS 
39). The losses on the related hedging instruments during the year ended 31 December 2023 were €86.4 million (2022: 
gains of €238.2 million). The gains on the hedged items arising during the year attributable to the hedged risk were 
€85.1 million (2022: losses of €235.5 million).

Foreign exchange and interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another, resulting in 
an economic exchange of currencies or interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate). 

2023 2022

€000 €000

Derivative financial assets - fair value 207,438 355,337

Derivative financial liabilities - fair value (24,648) (5,306)

The Bank applies fair value hedge accounting on macro level whereby a portfolio of items is hedged with multiple 
hedging instruments. For macro hedges of interest rate risk, the Bank applies the EU ‘carve-out’ version of IAS 39. The 
EU ‘carve-out’ rules for macro hedging enable a group of derivatives (or proportions) to be viewed in combination and 
jointly designated as the hedging instrument and remove some of the limitations in fair value hedge accounting relating 
to hedging net positions of loans and core deposits and under-hedging strategies. Thus, natural interest rate hedges 
are used in the first place, that is the interest rate risk associated with liabilities (e.g. retail funding, wholesale funding), to 
determine the net exposure. The remaining exposure is hedged in a portfolio hedge, using the EU ‘carve-out’ version of 
IAS 39, in which a portion of the retail mortgage lending portfolio is designated as a hedged item for hedge accounting 
purposes.
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The Bank applies the following types of hedge accounting:

Fair value hedges

Hedging the interest rate risk in respect of loans and advances to customers (macro hedge)
The hedged portfolio comprises fixed-rate mortgages of MeDirect Belgium (refer to Note 7). These are mortgages that 
have a fixed-rate interest period of more than 240 months. The hedging instruments are interest rate swaps entered 
into as part of interest rate risk management in the Asset and Liability Management (‘ALM’) process. The risk being 
hedged is the risk of change in fair value of the portfolio attributable to movements in market interest rates. Effective-
ness assessments are performed on a retrospective and a prospective basis, using the dollar offset method.

Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:
•	 Differences in timing of cash flows of hedged items and hedging instruments;
•	 Different interest rate curves and the intra period movement of these curves applied to forecast and discount 

of the cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instruments; and
•	 Disparity between expected and actual prepayments (prepayment risk).	

The fair values of the held for trading derivatives and derivatives designated as hedging instruments in fair value hedg-
es together with the related notional amounts, distinguishing between micro hedges and macro hedges for the purpos-
es of hedge accounting, are as follows:
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Notional Fair value Notional Fair value

2023 2023 2022 2022

€000 €000 €000 €000

Derivatives held for trading – Assets

Instrument type:

- Foreign exchange swaps 18,412 198 37,196 757

- Interest rate swaps - - -  80,061

198 80,818

Derivatives held for trading – Liabilities

Instrument type:

- Foreign exchange swaps 5,782 (28) 47 -  

(28) -  

Net derivatives held for trading 170 80,818

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments in fair value hedges – Assets

Instrument type:

- Interest rate swaps maturing in more than one year and less than five years

- Macro hedges 1,080,923 29,060 304,233 28,546

More than five years

- Macro hedges 1,031,277 178,180 1,075,017 245,973

207,240 274,519

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments in fair value hedges – Liabilities

Instrument type:

- Interest rate swaps maturing in more than one year and less than five years

- Macro hedges 553,900 (4,519) 200,000 (5,306)

More than five years

- Macro hedges 432,850 (20,101) -  -  

(24,620) (5,306)

Net derivatives designated as hedging instruments in fair value hedges 182,620 269,213

MeDirect had entered into back-to-back structured interest rate swaps that reinternalised interest rate risk of the 
securitised mortgage loan receivables. As at 31 December 2022, the derivative asset side included above within the 
Bank’s derivative assets held for trading amounted to €80.1 million. As described in Note 2.2.9, the respective derivative 
financial liabilities as at 31 December 2022 were offset against loans and advances to financial institutions as a netting 
agreement was in place with the counterparty.

The carrying amounts and the accumulated basis adjustment for fixed-rate mortgages are included in the statement of 
financial position within Loans and advances to customers is disclosed in note 7.

The accumulated negative basis adjustment within loans and advances to customers amounting to €183.2 million 
(2022: negative basis adjustment amounting to €271.3 million) also includes the accumulated unamortised fair value 
hedge adjustments of €1.2 million (2022: €3.7 million) related to hedges that have been discontinued and are now 
amortised.
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6. Loans and advances to financial institutions

As at 31 December 2023, the Bank’s loans and advances to financial institutions includes balances that were pledged 
as collateral, most of which were in relation to the funding of the purchase of Dutch mortgages amounting to €182.9 
million (2022: €9.9 million) and in relation to the funding of the purchase of Belgium mortgages amounting to €22.2 
million (2022: €36.5 million).

Besides the above, the Bank has amounts of €40.1 million (2022: €161.6 million) that are held for the purposes of margin 
requirements on hedging instruments attributable to the Dutch Mortgage lending business, and are hence considered 
encumbered.

As at 31 December 2023, €46.0 million (2022: €72.9 million) were encumbered, most of which were pledged in favour of 
Eurex Clearing AG in relation to clearing of derivative financial instruments. In addition, €1.0 million (2022: €1.0 million) 
in the form of cash have also been contributed by the Bank to a derivatives clearing fund held by Eurex Clearing AG, 
of which the Bank is a member. The clearing fund protects members against losses until they leave the clearing fund. 

Loans and advances to financial institutions as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were neither past due nor credit-im-
paired and no forbearance measures were applied by the Bank in this respect. Furthermore, no expected credit losses 
are attributable to loans and advances to financial institutions.

2023 2022

€000 €000

At amortised cost:

Repayable on call and at short notice 262,643 149,735

Term loans and advances 43,899 163,416

306,542 313,151
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7. Loans and advances to customers
2023 2022

€000 €000

International Corporate Lending portfolio 

- Term loans and advances: corporate 168,240 195,125

Dutch Mortgage portfolio

- Term loans and advances: retail 2,104,853 1,818,186

Belgian Mortgage portfolio

- Term loans and advances: retail 255,290 132,130

IFRS basis adjustment - Mortgage portfolio (183,180) (271,273)

Gross loans and advances to customers 2,345,203 1,874,168

Less: Credit loss allowances (2,734) (3,260)

2,342,469 1,870,908

Allowance booked under

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Credit loss allowances:

 - International Corporate Lending portfolio (1,430) (2,180) (384) (766) (282) -  (2,096) (2,946)

 - Dutch Mortgage portfolio (136) (106) (145) (71) (4) (7) (285) (184)

 - Belgian Mortgage portfolio (249) (114) (46) (16) (58) -  (353) (130)

(1,815) (2,400) (575) (853) (344) (7) (2,734) (3,260)

The negative fair value/basis adjustment amounting to €183.2 million (2022: negative fair value/basis adjustment 
amounting to €271.3 million) is attributable to interest rate swaps entered into as part of the interest rate risk manage-
ment in the ALM process to hedge the risk of change in fair value of the portfolio attributable to movements in market 
interest rates (refer to Note 5). The movement led to gains on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk amounting 
to €85.1 million (2022: losses of €235.5 million) as disclosed in note 21 to these financial statements.

As disclosed in further detail in Note 17, as at 31 December 2023, Dutch retail mortgages amounting to €1,153.3 mil-
lion (2022: €1,219.7 million) have been securitised through three (2022: three) Residential Mortgage-Backed Security 
(“RMBS”) transactions. As risks and rewards were deemed to have been retained by the Bank, as at 31 December 2023 
and 2022, these were recognised on the Bank’s statement of financial position.

The Bank’s Dutch Mortgage portfolio in the preceding table mainly consist of Dutch retail residential mortgages with 
the exception of buy-to-let mortgages amounting to €85.3 million as at 31 December 2023 (2022: €15.9 million). This 
business was launched in October 2022.

No restructuring of the Bank’s International Corporate Lending portfolio have taken place during the years ended  
31 December 2023 and 2022.
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8. Securities and Securitisation Investment portfolios

Securities Investment portfolio

2023 2022

€000 €000

Investments measured at amortised cost including basis adjustment attributable to the 
hedged risk

- Debt and other fixed income securities 422,948 389,537

- Less: Credit loss allowances (32) (58)

Investments measured at fair value through profit or loss

- Equity instruments -  819

422,916 390,298

Credit loss allowances:

- On investments measured at amortised cost (32) (58)

Measured at amortised cost
Measured at fair value through  

profit or loss

2023 2022 2023 2022

€000 €000 €000 €000

Debt securities and other fixed income securities

Issued by public bodies

- foreign national and regional governments 102,813 74,066 -  -  

- supranational -  30,128 -  -  

Issued by other bodies

- foreign banks 320,103 285,285 -  -  

422,916 389,479 - -

Equity instruments

Issued by public issuers

- corporations - - -  819

- - -  819

Listing status

- listed on foreign recognised exchanges 422,916 389,479 -  -  

- not listed -  -  -  819

422,916 389,479 -  819
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Measured at  
amortised cost

Measured at fair value 
through other  

comprehensive income
Measured at fair value 
through profit or loss

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Year ended 31 December

At beginning of year 389,479 55,669 -  436,524 819 -  

Additions 136,600 147,219 -  -  -  -

Redemptions (101,200) (25,000) -  (220,653) (819) -  

Amortisation of premium/discount (1,989) 932 -  (6,156) -  -  

Changes in fair value -  -  -  895 -  819

Movement in credit loss  
allowances 26 49 -  -  -  -  

Reclassification to amortised cost 
category -  210,610 -  (210,610) -  -  

At end of year 422,916 389,479 -  -  -  819

Investment securities with a nominal value of €336.0 million are pledged as collateral with Eurex against the provision 
of borrowing facilities (2022: €277.3 million). These include investment securities that are held on balance sheet with a 
carrying amount of €335.5 million (2022: €277.5 million).

The cash value of unutilised borrowing facilities (headroom) as at 31 December 2023 which are secured by the invest-
ment securities referred to above amounted to €319.8 million (2022: €254.1 million).

Investment securities with a nominal value of €87.0 million (2022: €110.5 million) and a carrying amount of €87.0 million 
(2022: €112.0 million) are also pledged as part of the cooperation with the Blauwtrust Groep to access their multi-inves-
tor platform to purchase newly originated Dutch mortgages.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Bank had no commitment to purchase further investment securities.

As referred to in note 2.8.3, throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Bank recognised equity invest-
ments of €0.8 million, acquired as part of a restructure of a European corporation that occurred in 2021, which were 
previously held at nil value. These were redeemed in 2023.
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Securitisation Investment portfolio

2023 2022

€000 €000

Investments measured at amortised cost 

- Debt and other fixed income securities 445,977 415,078

- Less: Credit loss allowances (45) (42)

445,932 415,036

Measured at  
amortised cost

Measured at fair value through other  
comprehensive income

2023 2022 2023 2022

€000 €000 €000 €000

Year ended 31 December

At beginning of year 415,036 -  -  347,972

Additions 31,250 67,000 -  -  

Redemptions (169) -  -  -  

Amortisation of premium/discount (182) 7 -  3

Changes in fair value -  -  -  96

Movement in credit loss allowances (3) (42) -  -  

Reclassification to amortised cost category -  348,071 -  (348,071)

At end of year 445,932 415,036 -  -  

The Bank had pledged €115.0 million in total as at 31 December 2023 (2022: €81.9 million) of the Securitisation Invest-
ment portfolio in favour of third parties against the provision of borrowing facilities.

The Bank acquired portions in CLO transactions managed by third party entities corresponding to tranches with the 
highest credit rating in such CLO structures. These acquired portions in CLO transactions are listed on recognised ex-
changes but not centrally traded. The underlying assets for these CLO transactions are leveraged loans, predominantly 
senior secured leveraged loans, and high yield corporate bonds. As at 31 December 2023, positions with a nominal 
value of €445.9 million (2022: €415.0 million), are held in a ‘hold to collect’ business model and measured at amortised 
cost.

Reclassification of investments
In June 2022, the Bank changed the business model for managing those investments within the Securities and Securi-
tisation Investments portfolios that were originally deemed to be “Hold to collect and sell” and therefore were measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income.

This change in business model was attributable to the fact that the first half of 2022 represented the end of a journey to 
shape MeDirect for tomorrow as the Bank, through the commencement of the Belgium mortgages business, completed 
its plan to achieve sound diversification through various assets classes.	

The Bank’s diversification strategy that kicked off in 2019 was mainly based on the reduction of the International 
Lending portfolio and the launch of the Dutch mortgage business line. The successful launch of the Dutch mortgage 
business also allowed the Bank to successfully issue two RMBS from the Dutch mortgage business during the height 
of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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In December 2021, the Bank ceased the intraBank funding arrangements with MeDirect Malta through Grand  
Harbour I. This resulted in a significantly better management of the liquidity of the Bank.

The Bank has also increased and diversified the sources of funding as it increased the channels for repurchase agree-
ments and is financing its Mortgage portfolio through its Bastion mortgage securitisation programme. Thus through 
such sources of funding the Bank is able to satisfy its liquidity needs and will hold these investments till maturity.

The above developments resulted in a change in the business model of the Securities and Securitisation Investments 
portfolios. These investments are now categorised as hold to collect and as a result on 1 July 2022 these investments 
were reclassified out of the fair value through other comprehensive income measurement category and into the amor-
tised cost measurement category.

As at 31 December 2023, the Investments - Securities portfolio and the Investments - Securitisation portfolio included 
investments with a carrying amount of €146.5 million and €415.1 million respectively (2022: €213.1 million and €398.6 
million) that were part of this reclassification that took place on 1 July 2022. The fair value of these investments as at 31 
December 2023 in the Investments - Securities portfolio and the Investments - Securitisation portfolio was equivalent 
to €137.6 million and €407.6 million respectively (2022: €200.9 million and €348.0 million). If these investments had not 
been reclassified out of the fair value through other comprehensive income category so that they are measured at am-
ortised cost, between 1 July 2022 and 31 December 2023 fair value losses of €1.7 million would have been recognised 
on the Securities portfolio within the other comprehensive income (1 July 2022 to 31 December 2022: fair value losses 
of €4.3 million) whereas fair value gains of €9.8 million would have been recognised on the Securitisation portfolio with-
in other comprehensive income (1 July 2022 and 31 December 2022: fair value gains of €0.75 million).

Carrying amount prior to  
reclassification

Carrying amount subsequent 
to reclassification

€000 €000

Assets

Investments – Securities portfolio:

- measured at amortised cost 201,686 547,480

- measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 336,724 -  

Investments – Securitisation portfolio:

- measured at amortised cost -  415,029

- measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 397,751 -  

Deferred tax assets 14,174 7,328

Total assets 3,197,535 3,230,730

Equity

Other reserves (19,495) 224

Accumulated losses (40,188) (43,406)

Total equity 162,316 142,815
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9. Property and equipment
Improvements 

to premises
Computer 

equipment
Other  

equipment
Fixture and 

fittings
Motor  

vehicles
Right-of-

use assets Total

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

As at 1 January 2022

Cost 53 240 60 273 142 3,084 3,852

Accumulated depreciation (16) (142) (31) (138) (142) (1,078) (1,547)

Net book amount 37 98 29 135 -  2,006 2,305

Year ended 31 December 2022

At beginning of year 37 98 29 135 -  2,006 2,305

Additions -  6 8 -  -  73 87

Depreciation for the year (6) (45) (17) (24) -  (489) (581)

At end of year 31 59 20 111 -  1,590 1,811

As at 31 December 2022

Cost 53 246 68 273 142 3,157 3,939

Accumulated depreciation (22) (187) (48) (162) (142) (1,567) (2,128)

Net book amount 31 59 20 111 -  1,590 1,811

Year ended 31 December 2023

At beginning of year 31 59 20 111 -  1,590 1,811

Additions -  3 1 -  -  -  4

Modification of lease -  -  -  -  -  221 221

Depreciation for the year (6) (37) (8) (24) -  (514) (589)

At end of year 25 25 13 87 -  1,297 1,447

As at 31 December 2023

Cost 53 249 69 273 142 3,378 4,164

Accumulated depreciation (28) (224) (56) (186) (142) (2,081) (2,717)

Net book amount 25 25 13 87 -  1,297 1,447

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Bank operated from one immovable property which is held under a lease 
agreement.

The right-of-use assets disclosed in the preceding table reflect the following assets relating to leases:

2023 2022

€000 €000

Premises 926 877

Computer equipment 370 709

Other equipment 1 4

1,297 1,590
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The movement in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets is analysed in the following table:

The relevant lease liabilities are disclosed and analysed in Note 20 to these financial statements.

There were no capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of property and equipment during the year  
(2022: nil).

Premises Computer equipment Other equipment Total

€000 €000 €000 €000

As at 1 January 2022

Cost 1,465 1,600 19 3,084

Accumulated depreciation (421) (643) (14) (1,078)

Net book amount 1,044 957 5 2,006

Year ended 31 December 2022

At beginning of year 1,044 957 5 2,006

Additions -  73 -  73

Depreciation for the year (167) (321) (1) (489)

At end of the year 877 709 4 1,590

As at 31 December 2022

Cost 1,465 1,673 19 3,157

Accumulated depreciation (588) (964) (15) (1,567)

Net book amount 877 709 4 1,590

Year ended 31 December 2023

At beginning of year 877 709 4 1,590

Modification of lease 221 -  -  221

Depreciation for the year (172) (339) (3) (514)

At end of the year 926 370 1 1,297

As at 31 December 2023

Cost 1,686 1,673 19 3,378

Accumulated depreciation (760) (1,303) (18) (2,081)

Net book amount 926 370 1 1,297
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Computer software Right-of-use assets Total

€000 €000 €000

As at 1 January 2022

Cost 2,219 6,627 8,846

Accumulated amortisation (899) (3,481) (4,380)

Net book amount 1,320 3,146 4,466

Year ended 31 December 2022

At beginning of year 1,320 3,146 4,466

Additions 314 588 902

Amortisation and impairment charges for the year (439) (1,161) (1,600)

At end of year 1,195 2,573 3,768

As at 31 December 2022

Cost 2,533 7,215 9,748

Accumulated amortisation (1,338) (4,642) (5,980)

Net book amount 1,195 2,573 3,768

Year ended 31 December 2023

At beginning of year 1,195 2,573 3,768

Additions 115 247 362

Modification of lease -  (99) (99)

Amortisation and impairment charges for the year (465) (1,216) (1,681)

At end of year 845 1,505 2,350

As at 31 December 2023

Cost 2,648 7,363 10,011

Accumulated amortisation (1,803) (5,858) (7,661)

Net book amount 845 1,505 2,350

10. Intangible assets

The right-of-use assets reflected in the preceding table related to leased computer software. The relevant lease liabili-
ties are disclosed and analysed in Note 20 to these financial statements.

There were no capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of software during the year (2022: nil).
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11. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
2023 2022

€000 €000

Deferred tax assets 7,602 7,602

2023 2022

€000 €000

Unutilised tax losses 7,184 7,544

Credit loss allowances 729 882

Differences between IFRS and BEGAAP accounting standards:

 - Hedging (271) (1,893)

 - Interest rate swaps 4,655 4,799

 - Earnings attributable to securitisation entities (3,836) (2,601)

 - Other (859) (1,129)

7,602 7,602

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

As at 31 December 2023, deferred tax assets and liabilities amounting to €4.6 million (2022: €3.1 million) were offset 
as there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred income 
taxes relating to the same fiscal authority.

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method and are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The principal tax rates used are 25% 
(2022: 25%) in respect of the Belgian fiscal authority.
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Movements in deferred tax during the year:

As at 31 December 2023, the Bank had unutilised tax losses in respect of which the Bank has taken the decision of not 
recognising deferred tax assets amounting to €6.3 million (2022: €6.6 million). Although the Bank has taken a prudent 
approach of not recognising certain deferred tax assets on unutilised tax losses, such unutilised tax losses have no  
expiry date and can be carried forward indefinitely even beyond the assessment period used in determining the  
deferred tax assets.

At beginning of year Recognised in profit or loss At end of year

€000 €000 €000

Year ended 31 December 2023

Unutilised tax losses 7,544 (360) 7,184

Credit loss allowances 882 (153) 729

Differences between IFRS and BEGAAP:

 - Hedging (1,893) 1,622 (271)

 - Interest rate swaps 4,799 (144) 4,655

 - Earnings attributable to securitisation entities (2,601) (1,235) (3,836)

 - Other (1,129) 270 (859)

7,602 -  7,602

At beginning of year
Recognised in 

profit or loss
Recognised in other 

comprehensive income
At end of 

year

€000 €000 €000 €000

Year ended 31 December 2022

Investments measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 274 -  (274) -  

Unutilised tax losses 8,395 (851) -  7,544

Credit loss allowances 707 175 -  882

Differences between IFRS and BEGAAP:   

 - Hedging -  (1,893) -  (1,893)

 - Interest rate swaps -  4,799 -  4,799

 - Earnings attributable to securitisation entities (1,500) (1,101) - (2,601)

 - Other -  (1,129) -  (1,129)

7,876 -  (274) 7,602
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As at 31 December 2023, accrued income is shown net of credit loss allowances amounting to €22 thousand (2022: 
€18 thousand).	

13. Other assets

As at 31 December 2022, amounts receivable from immediate parent company included a revolving credit facility 
amounting to €22.7 million, as part of an RCF facility of €82.0 million. As at 31 December 2023, there was no drawn 
amount from the €22.0 million RCF facility.  This facility is subject to interest per annum equal to the aggregate of the 
three month Euribor and the margin of 2.80% and was secured by a pool of international corporate loans held by Me-
Direct Malta with a nominal value of €33.5 million (2022: €164.3 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the Bank’s ‘other assets’ comprises balances amounting to €19.5 million (2022: €16.2 million) 
held with a third-party mortgage originator in the Netherlands until the relevant NHG eligibility criteria for specific loan 
applications relating to the Dutch Mortgage portfolio are fulfilled in the future.

As at 31 December 2023, the Bank’s ‘other assets’ comprises balances amounting to €1.6 million (2022: €6.9 million) 
held with a third-party mortgage originator in Belgium until the relevant criteria for specific loan applications relating to 
the Belgian Mortgage portfolio are fulfilled in the future.	

None of these assets are deemed credit-impaired at 31 December 2023 and 2022 and expected credit losses in rela-
tion to such balances were deemed to be insignificant.

2023 2022

€000 €000

Prepayments 159 134

Accrued income 16,622 9,747

16,781 9,881

2023 2022

€000 €000

Amounts receivable from:

 - immediate parent company 6,722 30,765

 - other group companies 148 -  

Deferred customer contract costs 523 633

Other receivables 161 128

Other assets 25,952 24,022

33,506 55,548

12. Prepayments and accrued income
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14. Capital and reserves

16. Amounts owed to customers

Other reserves
As at 31 December 2023, other reserves of the Bank consists of a legal reserve amounting to €0.7 million (2022: €0.2 
million) that is required to be maintained by MeDirect Belgium in line with Article 7:211 of the Belgian Companies Code 
which requires MeDirect Belgium to assign at least 5% of MeDirect Belgium’s net profits to the legal reserve until such 
legal reserve amounts to 10% of MeDirect Belgium share capital.

All reserves at the reporting date, except for the Bank’s retained earnings are non-distributable.

Dividends
The directors of the Bank do not propose any final dividends for distribution.

15. Amounts owed to financial institutions

2023 2022

No. No.

Authorised:

Ordinary ‘A’ shares of €1 each 225,000 225,000

Issued and fully paid up:

Ordinary ‘A’ shares of €1 each 225,000 225,000

2023 2022

€000 €000

Repayable on call and at short notice 2,158,203 1,580,971

Term deposits 350,964 499,558

2,509,167 2,080,529

2023 2022

€000 €000

Term deposits 278,184 265,410
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By virtue of a base prospectus dated May 2020, MeDirect Belgium successfully securitised part of its Dutch retail 
mortgage portfolio raising €350.0 million through a RMBS transaction, listed on Luxembourg Stock Exchange. As part 
of the transaction the mortgage portfolio was sold to Bastion 2020-1, a special purpose securitisation vehicle estab-
lished in the Netherlands, which is controlled by MeDirect Belgium.

This RMBS is subject to interest of 0.60% per annum above 3-month Euribor (including floor at 0%) up to the first 
optional redemption date, and interest of 1.00% per annum above 3-month Euribor (including floor at 0%) from the 
first optional redemption date being April 2025, payable quarterly. All bonds are redeemable at par and shall become 
due for final redemption in April 2057, however, MeDirect Belgium reserves the right to redeem the bond in particular 
circumstances specified in the base prospectus.

An institutional investor acquired the Class A notes of the RMBS equivalent to €350.0 million, having a senior ranking 
vis-à-vis all the junior tranches retained by MeDirect Belgium. MeDirect retains substantially all risks and rewards of 
the underlying securitised Dutch government-backed mortgage portfolio and accordingly controls Bastion 2020-1. As 
a result, the mortgage portfolio, the senior notes of Bastion 2020-1 held by the institutional investor and related income 
and expenditure are reflected in the Bank’s financial statements.

On each of the Notes Payment Dates of Bastion 2020-1, falling on 23 January 2023, 24 April 2023, 24 July 2023 and 
23 October 2023, amounts of €6.4 million, €5.6 million, €5.1 million and €6.7 million of Class A notes, pertaining to the 
senior tranche were redeemed, whereas on each of the Notes Payment Dates on 24 January 2022, 25 April 2022,  25 
July 2022 and 24 October 2022, amounts of €7.3 million, €6.1 million, €7.8 million and €5.8 million of the said Class A 
notes were redeemed.

17. Debt securities in issue
2023 2022

€000 €000

Year ended 31 December

At beginning of year 969,569 658,293

Original face value of notes issued -  368,500

Issue costs incurred -  (2,063)

Amortisation of premium recognised in profit or loss (1,028) (1,303)

Amortisation of issue costs recognised in profit or loss 995 1,303

Redemptions (58,688) (55,161)

At end of year 910,848 969,569

As at 31 December

Original face value of notes issued 910,766 969,454

Unamortised note premium 2,316 3,311

Unamortised note issue costs (2,234) (3,196)

Net carrying amount 910,848 969,569

As at 31 December

Bastion 2020-1 NHG B.V. 271,555 295,053

Bastion 2021-1 NHG B.V. 297,822 307,416

Bastion 2022-1 NHG B.V. 341,471 367,100

Net carrying amount 910,848 969,569
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In January 2021, MeDirect Belgium securitised a further part of its Dutch retail mortgages portfolio through a RMBS
transaction, listed on Luxembourg Stock Exchange, whereby a principal amount of €414.0 million of the Dutch Mort-
gage portfolio was sold to a securitisation special purpose entity, Bastion 2021-1 NHG B.V., established in the Nether-
lands, which is controlled by MeDirect Belgium.

This RMBS is subject to interest of 0.70% per annum above 3-month Euribor (including floor at 0%) up to the first 
optional redemption date, and interest of 1.05% per annum above 3-month Euribor (including floor at 0%) from the first 
optional redemption date being August 2026, payable quarterly. All bonds are redeemable at par and shall become 
due for final redemption in August 2058, however, MeDirect Belgium reserves the right to redeem the bond in particular 
circumstances specified in the base prospectus.

An institutional investor acquired the Class A notes of the RMBS equivalent to €350.0 million, having a senior ranking 
vis-à-vis all the junior tranches retained by MeDirect Belgium. MeDirect retains substantially all risks and rewards of 
the underlying securitised Dutch government-backed mortgage portfolio and accordingly controls Bastion 2021-1. As 
a result, the mortgage portfolio, the senior notes of Bastion 2021-1 held by the institutional investor and related income 
and expenditure are reflected in the Bank’s financial statements.

On each of the Notes Payment Dates of Bastion 2021-1, falling on 20 February 2023, 22 May 2023, 21 August 2023 and 
20 November 2023, amounts of €8.0 million, €5.3 million, €10.6 million and €6.8 million of Class A notes, pertaining to 
the senior tranche were redeemed whereas on each of the Notes Payment Dates on 21 February 2022, 20 May 2022, 
22 August 2022 and 21 November 2022, amounts of €7.9 million, €9.2 million, €5.8 million and €7.3 million of the said 
Class A notes were redeemed.
	
By virtue of a base prospectus dated 25 November 2022, MeDirect Belgium successfully securitised part of its Dutch 
retail mortgage portfolio raising €368.5 million through placement with external investors of A1 notes of the RMBS 
transaction, listed on Luxembourg Stock Exchange. As part of the transaction the mortgage portfolio was sold to Bas-
tion 2022-1, a special purpose securitisation vehicle established in the Netherlands, which is controlled by MeDirect 
Belgium.
				  
This RMBS is subject to interest of 0.60% per annum above 3-month Euribor (including floor at 0%) up to the first 
optional redemption date, and interest of 1.20% per annum above 3-month Euribor (including floor at 0%) from the first 
optional redemption date being March 2028, payable quarterly. All bonds are redeemable at par and shall become 
due for final redemption in May 2060, however, MeDirect Belgium reserves the right to redeem the bond in particular 
circumstances specified in the base prospectus.

An institutional investor acquired Class A notes of this RMBS equivalent to €369.0 million, having a senior ranking vis-
à-vis all the junior tranches retained by MeDirect Belgium. MeDirect retains substantially all risks and rewards of the 
underlying securitised Dutch government-backed mortgage portfolio and accordingly controls Bastion 2022-1. As a 
result, the mortgage portfolio, the senior notes of Bastion 2022-1 held by the institutional investor and related income 
and expenditure are reflected in the Bank’s financial statements.

On each of the Notes Payment Dates of Bastion 2022-1, falling on  falling on 20 February 2023, 22 May 2023, 21 Au-
gust 2023 and 20 November 2023, amounts of €5.7 million, €5.9 million, €7.2 million and €7.2 million of Class A notes, 
pertaining to the senior tranche were redeemed.	
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18. Provisions for liabilities and other changes

19. Accruals and deferred income

20. Other liabilities

2023 2022

€000 €000

Credit loss allowances in respect of loan commitments

Year ended 31 December

At beginning of year 152 53

Change in expected credit losses (72) 99

At end of year 80 152

2023 2022

€000 €000

Accrued interest expense 31,357 9,206

Other accrued expenses 2,376 3,208

Deferred income 455 722

34,188 13,136

2023 2022

€000 €000

Amounts due to immediate parent company 1,050 522

Indirect taxes payable 480 650

Lease liabilities 1,425 2,372

Other liabilities 10,815 9,180

13,770 12,724

Amounts due to immediate parent company are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

Other liabilities mainly consist of settlement accounts.
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2023 2022

€000 €000

Non-current

Premises 787 814

Computer equipment 63 231

Other equipment 1 1

Computer software 143 581

994 1,627

Current

Premises 222 190

Computer equipment 45 125

Other equipment 1 1

Computer software 163 429

431 745

Total 1,425 2,372

The lease liabilities associated with the recognised right-of-use assets are analysed below.

The extension options in leases relating to premises, with the last extension covering till March 2028, have been includ-
ed in the lease liability as the lease term reflects the exercise of such options.

The Bank determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an 
option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate 
the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Bank has certain lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Bank applies judgement in 
evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That 
is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. 
After the commencement date, the Bank reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circum-
stances that is within its control that affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the total amount of lease liabilities for computer equipment, other equipment and 
computer software were attributable to arrangements with MeDirect Tech Limited, a related party.

The contractual undiscounted cash flows attributable to lease liabilities are analysed in Note 2.3.4.



151Annual Report and Financial Statements 2023

The movement in the carrying amount of these liabilities is analysed in the following table:

The income statement reflects the following amounts relating to leases:

2023 2022

€000 €000

At beginning of year 2,372 3,186

Additions 247 731

Modification of lease 122 -  

Payments (1,421) (1,687)

Interest charge 105 142

At end of year 1,425 2,372

2023 2022

€000 €000

Interest expense (Note 21) 105 142

21. Net Interest Income
2023 2022

€000 €000

Interest income

Loans and advances to financial institutions 44,966 1,532

Loans and advances to customers

- interest on loans and advances to customers 77,680 42,230

- net (losses)/gains representing ineffective portion of fair value hedges (1,300) 2,763

Investment securities

- interest on investment securities 5,870 4,645

- amortisation of net premiums on investment securities (2,171) (5,214)

Total interest income  125,045  45,956 

Interest expense

Amounts owed to financial institutions 43,249 5,701

Amounts owed to customers 31,918 8,214

Lease liabilities 105 142

Total interest expense 75,272 14,057

Net interest income 49,773 31,899

For the macro hedging relationships comprising interest rate swaps hedging interest rate risk on a portfolio of the 
Bank’s fixed rate mortgages, fair value losses of €86.4 million (2022: gains of €238.2 million) arising on derivatives 
designated in fair value hedge relationships and gains of €85.1 million (2022: losses of €235.5 million) representing net 
decrease (2022: decrease) in the fair value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risk are included within the 
Bank’s net interest income. The gains are reflected within interest arising from loans and advances to customers, where 
interest on the hedged items is presented.
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Within interest income, the Bank is netting-off amounts of €5.7 million (2022: €3.0 million) relating to interest expense 
on interest rate swaps used to hedge the Mortgage portfolios.

2023 2022

€000 €000

Macro hedging:

(Losses)/gains on hedging instruments (86,400)  238,224 

Gains/(losses) on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk – basis adjustment to Mortgage portfolio  
(see Note 7) 85,100 (235,461) 

Net (losses)/gains representing ineffective portion of fair value hedges (1,300) 2,763

2023 2022

€000 €000

Net income from foreign exchange activities 41 160

Net loss from held for trading financial instruments -  (746)

41 (586)

22. Net fee and commission income

23. Net trading income/(losses)

2023 2022

€000 €000

Fee and commission income

Corporate secured lending fee income 6 204

Banking transactions fee income 18 16

Investment services fee income 4,252 4,052

Other fee income 349 145

Total fee and commission income 4,625 4,417

Fee and commission expense

Banking transactions fee expense 235 266

Investment services transaction and custody fees 1,207 1,238

Other fee expense 73 65

Total fee and commission expense 1,515 1,569

Net fee and commission income 3,110 2,848



153Annual Report and Financial Statements 2023

2023 2022

€000 €000

Personnel expenses

- remuneration and direct company benefits 9,271 9,261

- employers contribution for social security 1,042 1,073

- other staff charges 313 330

- retirement and survivors’ pensions 195 215

 10,821  10,879 

2023 2022

No. No.

Executive and senior management 9 5

Other managerial, supervisory and clerical 54 63

63 68

24. Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses incurred are analysed as follows:	

The weekly average number of persons employed during the year, including Executive Directors, was as follows:

The number of persons employed by the Bank as at the reporting date, including Executive Directors, was 62 (2022: 
59).

25. Other administrative expenses

Other administrative expenses are analysed as follows:

2023 2022

€000 €000

IT support and telecommunication costs 6,199 5,977

Legal, professional and marketing expenses 10,367 9,946

Regulatory expenses 4,677 4,990

Indirect taxation 2,750 3,082

Other expenses 6,604 4,343

30,597 28,338
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Included in other administrative expenses are fees charged by the Bank’s independent auditors for the year as follows:

Other non-audit services are compatible with the independence rules of the auditors.

Share-based payments, not exceeding €0.1 million (2022: €0.1 million) included within Other expenses above, are grant-
ed to certain executive directors under a performance bonus plan. Under this plan, executive directors are entitled to 
share-linked instruments the value of which is based on changes in the fair value of the ordinary shares of MDB Group 
Limited but which are settled in cash and hence do not entitle the employees to shares or any interest in or right over 
such shares. Therefore, share-linked instruments comprise a number of notional ordinary shares of MDB Group Limited 
determined at award date by reference to the related bonus amounts taking cognisance of the fair value of the shares 
at that date.

The plan contemplates upfront share-linked awards and deferred share-linked awards that are subject to a deferral 
period of not less than twelve months but not greater than five years. Deferred share-linked awards attributable to per-
formance bonuses vest immediately, but are also subject to a deferral period. Settlement amounts are determined on 
the basis of the fair value of the ordinary shares at settlement date, which is the end of the deferral period.

An assessment of performance over the relevant period is used to determine the amount of the deferred performance 
bonus award to be granted. The share-based payment is classified as cash-settled since the share-based payment 
transactions with the directors are settled through a cash payment.

26. Change in expected credit losses and other credit impairment charges

2023 2022

€000 €000

Change in expected credit losses

Loans and advances to customers, including credit-related commitments

- International Corporate Lending portfolio (including accrued income) 897 (455)

- Dutch Mortgage portfolio (100) (37)

- Belgian Mortgage portfolio (204) (164)

Investments measured at amortised cost

- Securities portfolio 26 (49)

- Securitisation portfolio (3) -  

616 (705)

2023 2022

€000 €000

Audit services 377 222

Other assurance services 28 -  

Tax related services 104 29

Other non-audit services 25 18
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27. Tax expense

28. Cash and cash equivalents

Balances of cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statements of cash flows are analysed below:

2023 2022

€000 €000

Current tax expense

- current year tax charge 2,014 169

Income tax charge 2,014 169

2023 2022

€000 €000

Profit/(loss) before tax 9,822 (5,446)

Tax at the applicable rate of 25% 2,456 (1,362)

Tax effect of:

- Non-deductible expenses 634 34

- Unrecognised deferred tax movements (Note 11) (291) 2,000

- Income not subject to tax -  (532)

- Other (785) 29

Income tax charge 2,014 169

2023 2022

€000 €000

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents:

Call deposits 14,626 42,052

Target 2 overnight deposits 154,767 87,555

Amounts owed to financial institutions with original maturity of less than 3 months (278,184) (265,410)

Per Statement of cash flows (108,791) (135,803)

Adjustments to reflect: 

- Other balances with central banks 21,887 19,928

- Deposits with original maturity of over 3 months and encumbered deposits 291,916 271,099

Per Statement of financial position 205,012 155,224

The tax recognised in profit or loss on the Bank’s profit/(loss) before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would 
arise using the applicable tax rate in Belgium, which is the Bank’s country of incorporation, as follows:
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2023 2022

Notes €000 €000

Analysed as follows:  

Balances with central banks 4 176,654 107,483

Loans and advances to financial institutions 6 306,542 313,151

Amounts owed to financial institutions 15 (278,184) (265,410)

205,012 155,224

29. Commitments

Commitments to lend
Commitments to lend represent undrawn formal standby facilities, credit facilities and other similar commitments to 
lend. As at 31 December 2023, the Bank had undrawn commitments of €8.1 million (2022: €96.0 million) under inter-
national lending revolving credit facilities, and €22.0 million (2022: €59.3 million) undrawn commitments under revolv-
ing credit facilities with the Bank’s parent company. In addition, lending commitments in relation to the Bank’s Dutch 
Mortgage portfolio amounted to €94.5 million (2022: €98.4 million) and Belgian Mortgage portfolio amounted to €28.7 
million (2022: €63.8 million).

30. Related parties

Immediate and ultimate parent company
The ultimate controlling party of the Bank is AnaCap Financial Partners II L.P.

The ultimate parent company of the Bank is Medifin Investments Limited, a non-cellular company incorporated and 
registered in Guernsey.

The immediate parent company of the Bank is MeDirect Bank (Malta) plc, a public limited liability company incorporat-
ed and registered in Malta.

Related parties of the Bank include the ultimate controlling party, the ultimate parent company, the intermediate parent 
company, the immediate parent company, subsidiary, all entities controlled by the ultimate parent company, Key Man-
agement Personnel, close family members of Key Management Personnel and entities which are controlled or jointly 
controlled by Key Management Personnel or their close family members.

Transactions with Key Management Personnel
Key Management Personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Bank, being the directors of MDB Group Limited, MeDirect Malta and MeDirect 
Belgium.

Key Management Personnel compensation consisting of Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 24. The Bank also 
provides non-cash benefits to Key Management Personnel, including health and life insurance premiums and pensions.
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Related party balances and transactions
During the course of its activities, the Bank conducted business on commercial terms with related parties.

The following table provides the total amount of the Bank transactions which have been entered into, and Bank  
balances with, related parties of the Bank for the relevant financial year:

Year ended  
31 December 2023

As at  
31 December 2023

Related party
Income from 

related parties
Expenses charged 
by related parties

Amounts owed by 
related parties

Amounts owed to 
related parties

Transaction/ 
balance type

€000 €000 €000 €000

Immediate parent 
company  140  -    -    -   Interest income

 217 - - - Commitment fee 
income

 -    880  -    -   
IT Support and 
Security Service 
level agreement

 -    283  -    -   Commitment fee 
expense

 -    -    6,722  -   Other assets

 -    -    -    1,050 Other liabilities

Other group  
companies  -    2,179  -    -   IT and other 

support

Key management 
personnel  -    -    -    8 Amounts owed 

to customers

Year ended  
31 December 2022

As at  
31 December 2022

Related party
Income from 

related parties
Expenses charged 
by related parties

Amounts owed by 
related parties

Amounts owed to 
related parties

Transaction/ 
balance type

€000 €000 €000 €000

Immediate parent 
company  744  -    -    -   Interest income

 349  -    -    -   Commitment fee 
income

 -    952  -    -   
IT Support and 
Security Service 
level agreement

 -    284  -    -   Commitment fee 
expense

 -    -    30,765  -   Other assets

 -    -    -    522 Other liabilities

Other group  
companies  -    2,087  -    -   IT and other 

support

Key management 
personnel  -    -    -    6 Amounts owed 

to customers
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In 2023, there are also payments to other group companies relating to leases treated in accordance with IFRS 16 re-
quirements amounting to €1.4 million (2022: €1.7 million). In line with IFRS 16, the Bank recognised lease liabilities in 
respect of lease arrangements with related parties (refer to Note 20).

Throughout the financial year MeDirect Malta recharged employee compensation and benefits to MeDirect Belgium 
amounting to €5.0 million (2022: €4.5 million).

31. Segmental information

The Bank conducts business of lending from Belgium and consists of Dutch mortgage and Belgian mortgage lending, 
international corporate lending together with the investment in high credit quality collateralised instruments such as 
covered bonds, guaranteed senior bank debt, sovereign related debt and investment in AAA tranches of securitisation 
special purpose entities. Revenues secured through the above-mentioned assets are complemented by the revenues 
generated by the Bank on its wealth management business. Information about the products and services and geo-
graphical areas is set out in Notes 2, 7, 8, 21 and 22 to the financial statements which provide information about the 
financial risks, credit concentrations by sector and location, together with revenues from the single reportable segment.

In accordance with Article 89 of CRD IV, the Bank must disclose information about turnover, number of employees, 
profit before tax, tax and public subsidies received by country, taking into account all jurisdictions in which it operates. 
The Bank operates within Belgium and such information is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The Bank 
has not received any public subsidies that relate to the Bank’s activities as a credit institution.

32. Assets held on a nominee basis

As part of its Wealth Management proposition, the Bank acts as a nominee holder of financial instruments on behalf 
of customers. Assets held on a nominee basis are not assets of the Bank and are not recognised in the statements of 
financial position. Accordingly, the Bank is not exposed to any credit risk relating to such placements, as it does not 
guarantee these investments.

At 31 December 2023, the total assets held by the Bank on behalf of customers amounted to €920.9 million (2022: 
€814.8 million).

33. Events after the reporting date

There were no other events after the reporting date that would have a material effect on the financial statements.

34. Additional information

The Communication issued by the Banking, Finance and Insurance Committee to credit institutions governed by Bel-
gian law, dated 19 August 2004, implies that a consolidation obligation triggers the requirement to prepare consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. This reporting framework would determine the 
scope of consolidation and the rules with which the consolidation will be implemented, that is which entities should be 
included in those consolidated accounts and how they should be included.
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Under the Royal Decree dated 5 December 2004, unlisted banks and other credit institutions in Belgium have been 
required to use IFRS in their consolidated financial statements under the EU Accounting Regulation.

Therefore, the requirements applicable under International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU 
(“adopted IFRS”) is the reporting framework applied by MeDirect Belgium in these statutory IFRS financial statements.

This financial information has been prepared on the basis of the recognition and measurement requirements of IFRSs 
in issue that are endorsed by the EU and effective (or available for early adoption) at 31 December 2023.

The Company’s IFRS financial statements are published in French, English and Dutch in the following webpage https://
www.medirect.be/about-medirect/investor-relations/. The English and Dutch versions are a translation of the original 
French version and is published as a courtesy to stakeholders. In the event of any disparity between these versions, the 
French language version takes precedence. This Annual Report is available at the NBB’s Central Balance Sheet Office.

35. Statutory information

MeDirect Bank SA/NV is a public limited liability company and is incorporated in Belgium.

The ultimate controlling party of the Bank is AnaCap Financial Partners II L.P., a limited partnership registered in Guern-
sey with its registered address at 2nd Floor, Windsor House, Lower Pollet, St Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 1WF.

The ultimate parent company of the Bank is Medifin Investments Limited, a non-cellular company, which is incorpo-
rated and registered in Guernsey, with its registered address at 2nd Floor, Windsor House, Lower Pollet, St Peter Port, 
Guernsey, GY1 1WF.
				  
The immediate parent company of the Bank is MeDirect Bank (Malta) plc, a public limited liability company, incorporat-
ed and registered in Malta, with its registered address at The Centre, Tigné Point, Sliema, TPO 0001, Malta. MeDirect 
Bank (Malta) plc prepares consolidated financial statements of the group of which the Bank forms part. These con-
solidated financial statements will be filed and available for public inspection at the Registrar of Companies in Malta.

MeDirect Bank (Malta) plc is a wholly owned subsidiary of MDB Group Limited. MDB Group Limited prepares consol-
idated financial statements of the group of which MeDirect Bank (Malta) plc and the Bank, form part. These consoli-
dated financial statements will be filed and available for public inspection at the Registrar of Companies in Malta and 
on the Group’s website https://www.medirect.com.mt/about-us/investor relations. The registered office of MDB Group 
Limited is situated at The Centre, Tigné Point, Sliema, TPO 0001, Malta.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent auditor’s report to the general meeting of MeDirect Bank nv/sa 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 

 

In the context of the statutory audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of MeDirect Bank nv/sa 
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”), we report to you as statutory auditor. This 
report includes our opinion on statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, statement of 
profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash 
flows  for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the disclosures including material accounting policy 
information (all elements together the “Consolidated Financial Statements”) as well as our report on 
other legal and regulatory requirements. These two reports are considered one report and are 
inseparable. 

We have been appointed as statutory auditor by the shareholders’ meeting of 30 May 2022, in 
accordance with the proposition by the Board of Directors following recommendation of the Audit 
Committee. Our mandate expires at the shareholders’ meeting that will deliberate on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for the year ending 31 December 2024. We performed the audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group during 2 consecutive years. 

Report on the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Unqualified opinion 

We have audited the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of MeDirect Bank nv/sa, that 
comprise of statement of financial position on 
31 December 2023, statement of profit or loss, 
statement of comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity, statement of cash flows  of 
the year and the disclosures ,including material 
accounting policy information, which show a 
consolidated balance sheet total of 
€ 3.963.637 thousand and of which the 
consolidated income statement shows a profit for 
the year of € 7.808 thousand.  

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial 
Statements give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated  net equity and financial position as 
at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated 
results for the year then ended, prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union (“IFRS”) and with applicable legal and 
regulatory requirements in Belgium. 

Basis for the unqualified opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (“ISA’s”) 
applicable in Belgium. In addition, we have applied 
the ISA's approved by the International Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board (“IAASB”) that 
apply at the current year-end date and have not 
yet been approved at national level. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the “Our responsibilities for the audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section 
of our report. 

We have complied with all ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements in Belgium, including those 
with respect to independence.  

We have obtained from the Board of Directors and 
the officials of the Company the explanations and 
information necessary for the performance of our 
audit and we believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the current reporting period.  

These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements as a whole and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and consequently we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 

Credit risk with regard to the loan portfolio 

Description of the key audit matter 

As at 31 December 2023, the credit portfolio of 
the Bank amounts to € 2,345,203 thousand 
(gross, valued at amortized cost), which 
represents 59% of the balance sheet total, and the 
related impairments amount to € 2,734 thousand 
(negative). Impairments represent the Bank’s best 
estimate of the expected credit losses at the 
balance sheet date. They are calculated based on 
the default risk over different time horizons, 
depending on whether the borrower's credit risk 
has increased significantly since the credit has 
been granted: 

• The impairments of the exposures of which 
the credit risk has not increased significantly 
(‘stage 1’) are based on the expected credit 
losses over a period of 12 months; 

• The impairments of the exposures of which 
the credit risk has increased significantly or 
which are credit-impaired (‘stage 2’ and 
‘stage 3’) are based on the expected credit 
losses over the lifetime of the credit. 

Expected loss calculations are probability-
weighted estimates of the present value of the 
cash deficits, using models, applying scenarios, 
and taking into account the impact of historical 
losses on the one hand and forward-looking 
information on the other. The inputs for these 
models are based, among other things, on 
historical loss rates, credit terms and cash flow 
projections, assessed subjectively to determine 
the assumptions used to calculate the impairment 

losses. Important subjective evaluations in the 
process are: 

• The criteria to determine exposures with a 
significant increase in credit risk (and the 
corresponding ‘stage’); 

• the assumptions used in the expected credit 
loss model such as the borrower's financial 
condition (and its corresponding default risk), 
and the credit loss that would be incurred in 
the event of default (which depends on the 
expected recovery value of the collateral, if 
any); 

• the inclusion of forward-looking information 
(probability-weighted macro-economic 
scenarios); 

• manual adjustments applied where the model 
parameters or calculations were not deemed 
representative by management, based on the 
current risks and conditions of the portfolio. 

Considering that the loans and advances and 
related impairments are significant to the 
consolidated balance sheet and income 
statement, and given the degree of subjective 
judgment involved and the related uncertainty of 
impairment estimates, we consider this to be a 
key audit matter. 

Summary of procedures performed 

• We have assessed the design and 
effectiveness of the controls related to the 
credit issuance, the credit risk management 
(including periodic credit review, monitoring 
of the borrower's credit quality using 
indicators such as days in arrears and 
forbearance, and the determination of the 
rating), the flow of information between the 
source systems and the expected credit loss 
calculation tool, and the model development 
and monitoring (specifically the independent 
validation process). 

• We compared the inventory of credits for 
which expected credit losses were calculated 
with the amounts included in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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• In respect of the models for expected credit 
losses, we engaged our experts to assess the 
appropriateness of the model methodology 
(in accordance with IFRS requirements). 

• For the specific impairments determined at 
individual file level, we have discussed the 
Corporate loans in stage 2 and stage 3 with 
management and we performed a detailed 
inspection of the credit file, whereby we have 
assessed that: 

• The credit risk policy has been applied; 

• The credit quality and the ‘stage’ have 
been determined correctly; 

• The collateral (if any) has been properly 
valued; 

• The recoverability of the credit and the 
impairment have been determined 
correctly. 

• To assess the reasonableness of the forward-
looking information incorporated in the 
expected credit loss models, we reviewed the 
outlook and the probability weights applied to 
the different scenarios, and compared them 
with supporting information (external 
economic information), if applicable. In 
particular, we considered whether this 
forward-looking information is in line with 
expectations for GDP and unemployment 
rates as published by regulators and takes 
into account the effect of the economic crisis 
and energy prices. 

• To assess the appropriateness of the manual 
adjustments applied by management, we 
considered the possibility that impairment 
losses may have been impacted by events or 
trends not reflected in the Bank’s models, or 
by limitations in data. 

• Finally, we have evaluated that the notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements (note 

7) are complete, accurate and in accordance 
with IFRS requirements. 

Valuation of derivatives and hedge accounting 

Description of the key audit matter 

The Group has concluded interest rate swaps (IRS) 
to hedge its interest rate risk. These derivatives 
are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value 
through profit or loss. 

In order to limit the effect of these changes in fair 
value through the profit and loss accounts, the 
Group has allocated these derivatives to hedging 
relationships on the interest rate risk of portfolios 
of financial assets ("portfolio fair value hedging"), 
so that these portfolios of assets are also 
remeasured to the extent of the hedged risk.  

At 31 December 2023 the derivatives used for 
hedging had positive and negative fair values of € 
207,438 thousand and € 24,648 thousand, 
respectively. The revaluations of the financial 
portfolios of hedged assets amounted to € 
183,180 (negative). An ineffectiveness of € 
1,300 thousand (loss) was recognized in the 
income statement.  

The audit risk resides on the one hand in the 
valuation of the derivatives (via valuation 
techniques) and on the other hand in the correct 
accounting treatment of the hedging relationships 
(the documentation has to comply with IAS 39 
requirements and the effectiveness tests are 
based on a number of assumptions regarding 
expected future early redemptions and 
renegotiations of certain types of loans), 
therefore we consider this a key audit matter. 

Summary of procedures performed 

• We compared the fair values of the 
derivatives with the fair values as confirmed 
by the external counterparties, in the context 
of so-called “collateralization”. We 
recalculated the fair value for a sample of 
derivatives; 
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• We assessed the existing hedging 
documentation to determine whether it meets 
the criteria as described in the “carved-out” 
version of IAS 39 as adopted by the European 
Union, and we assessed the effectiveness 
tests performed by the Group to verify 
whether the hedging relationships were still 
effective and whether the ineffectiveness was 
calculated correctly. In particular, we 
compared the volume of hedging derivatives 
with the projected volume of hedged 
mortgage (and other) loans over future time 
buckets, taking into account the assumptions 
regarding expected early repayments and 
renegotiations, in order to identify any over-
hedging situations, that could partially 
jeopardize the application of hedge 
accounting; 

• We examined the model used by the Group to 
forecast future early repayments and 
renegotiations of mortgage loans, and 
assessed its correct functioning in recent 
financial years; 

• We tested the spreadsheets used by the 
Group to monitor the hedging models, in 
order to verify the correctness of the hedge 
accounting entries, and whether the 
derivatives, of which the fair value was not 
zero at the start of the hedging relationship, 
have been accounted for correctly. We have 
verified the reconciliation of these 
spreadsheets with the underlying source 
systems on the one hand and with the 
Consolidated Financial Statements on the 
other hand; 

• Finally, we have evaluated that the notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements (notes 
5 and 21) are complete, accurate and in 
accordance with IFRS requirements. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 
for the preparation of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
preparation of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with IFRS and with applicable legal 
and regulatory requirements in Belgium and for 
such internal controls relevant to the preparation 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

As part of the preparation of Consolidated 
Financial Statements, the Board of Directors is 
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, and provide, if 
applicable, information on matters impacting 
going concern, The Board of Directors should 
prepare the financial statements using the going 
concern basis of accounting, unless the Board of 
Directors either intends to liquidate the Company 
or to cease business operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Our responsibilities for the audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the Consolidated Financial Statements 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to express an opinion on 
these Consolidated Financial Statements based on 
our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the ISA’s will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

In performing our audit, we comply with the legal, 
regulatory and normative framework that applies 
to the audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements in Belgium. However, a statutory 
audit does not provide assurance about the future 
viability of the Company and the Group, nor about 
the efficiency or effectiveness with which the 
board of directors has taken or will undertake the 
Company's and the Group’s business operations. 
Our responsibilities with regards to the going 
concern assumption used by the board of 
directors are described below. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISA’s, we 
exercise professional judgment and we maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also perform the following tasks: 

• identification and assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, the planning and execution of audit 
procedures to respond to these risks and 
obtain audit evidence which is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting material 
misstatements resulting from fraud is higher 
than when such misstatements result from 
errors, since fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control; 

• obtaining insight in the system of internal 
controls that are relevant for the audit and 
with the objective to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control; 

• evaluating the selected and applied 
accounting policies, and evaluating the 
reasonability of the accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Board of 
Directors as well as the underlying 
information given by the Board of Directors; 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board 
of Directors’ use of the going-concern basis of 
accounting, and based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether or not a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Company’s or Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the Consolidated 

Financial Statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of the auditor’s 
report.  However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue 
as a going-concern; 

• evaluating the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, and evaluating whether the 
Consolidated Financial Statements reflect a 
true and fair view of the underlying 
transactions and events. 

We communicate with the Audit Committee within 
the Board of Directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  

Because we are ultimately responsible for the 
opinion, we are also responsible for directing, 
supervising and performing the audits of the 
subsidiaries. In this respect we have determined 
the nature and extent of the audit procedures to 
be carried out for group entities. 

We provide the Audit Committee within the Board 
of Directors with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Audit 
Committee within the Board of Directors, we 
determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters.  We describe 
these matters in our report, unless the law or 
regulations prohibit this. 
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors  

The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
preparation and the content of the Board of 
Directors’ report on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

Responsibilities of the auditor  

In the context of our mandate and in accordance 
with the additional standard to the ISA’s 
applicable in Belgium, it is our responsibility to 
verify, in all material respects, the Board of 
Directors’ report on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, the non-financial information 
attached to the Board of Directors’ report, as well 
as to report on these matters. 

Aspects relating to Board of Directors’ 
report  

In our opinion, after carrying out specific 
procedures on the Board of Directors’ report, the 
Board of Directors’ report is consistent with the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and has been 
prepared in accordance with article 3:32 of the 
Code of companies and associations.  

In the context of our audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, we are also responsible to 
consider whether, based on the information that 
we became aware of during the performance of 
our audit, the Board of Directors’ report contain 
any material inconsistencies or contains 
information that is inaccurate or otherwise 
misleading. In light of the work performed, there 
are no material inconsistencies to be reported. 

The non–financial information required by  
article 3:32, § 2, of the Code of companies and 
associations has been included in the Board of 
Directors’ report on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. The Group has not based itself on a 
European or international acknowledged 
reference model for the preparation of this non-
financial information. Moreover, we do not 
express any form of assurance on individual 
elements included in the non-financial 
information. 

 

Independence matters 

Our audit firm and our network have not 
performed any services that are not compatible 
with the audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and have remained independent of 
the Company during the course of our mandate.  

The fees related to additional services which are 
compatible with the audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements as referred to in article 3:65 
of the Code of companies and associations were 
duly itemized and valued in the notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Other communications  

• This report is consistent with our 
supplementary declaration to the Audit 
Committee as specified in article 11 of the 
regulation (EU) nr. 537/2014. 

 

Brussels, 22 May 2024  

 
EY Bedrijfsrevisoren BV 
Statutory auditor 
Represented by 

 

 

Jean-François Hubin * 
Partner  
*Acting on behalf of a BV/SRL 
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